
 
 
 

 
City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Cabinet 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Thursday 29th February, 2024 

   

Time: 
 

 6.15 pm 

   

Venue: 
 

 Rooms 18.01 & 18.02 - 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London, 
SW1E 6QP 

   

Members: 
 

 Councillors: 
 

 

  Adam Hug (Chair) 
Aicha Less 
Nafsika Butler-Thalassis 
Geoff Barraclough 
David Boothroyd 
 

Paul Dimoldenberg 
Liza Begum 
Matt Noble 
Cara Sanquest 
Ryan Jude 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 This will be an in-person meeting and members of the public 
and press are welcome to follow the meeting and listen to 
discussion to Part 1 of the Agenda. This meeting will be live 
streamed and recorded. To access the recording after the 
meeting please revisit the link. 
 

   

T  

 An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.  If you require 
any further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Amy Just, Cabinet Manager (Interim). 
 
Email: ajust@westminster.gov.uk 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the Director of Law in advance of the meeting please. 
 
AGENDA 
PART 1 (IN PUBLIC) 
 
If required, the Committee may resolve to exclude the press and public 
from any other part of the meeting should any specific item of business 
so require on the grounds that discussions may involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). Some reports on the 
agenda may include confidential information which is exempt from 
publication. The Committee may need to discuss this information in 
private session before any necessary decisions are taken afterwards, in 
public session. 

 

 
1.   WELCOME   
2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the 
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other 
significant interest in matters on this agenda. 
 

 

 
3.   MINUTES (Pages 3 - 10) 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 19 February 
2024. 
 

 

 
4.   CHURCH STREET SITE A – APPOINTMENT OF JOINT 

VENTURE DEVELOPMENT PARTNER 
(Pages 11 - 

218) 

 To appoint the successful partner and establish the Joint Venture 
Partnership for Church Street Site A. 
 

 

 
 
Stuart Love 
Chief Executive 
21 February 2024 
 



 
1 

 

 

 
CITY OF WESTMINSTER 

 
 

MINUTES 
 
 

Cabinet  
 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday 19th February, 2024, Rooms 
18.01 & 18.02 - 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP. 
 
Members Present: Councillors Adam Hug (Chair), Aicha Less, Nafsika Butler-
Thalassis, Geoff Barraclough, David Boothroyd, Paul Dimoldenberg, Liza Begum, 
Ryan Jude, Matt Noble and Cara Sanquest 
 
 
Also Present: Bernie Flaherty, Parveen Akhtar, Gerald Almeroth, Sarah Warman, 
Frances Martin, Debbie Jackson 
 
 
Apologies for Absence:  
 
 
1 WELCOME 
 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, noting that it would be livestreamed 
with a recording to be made available online. 
 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest received. 
 
3 MINUTES 
 
The Chair, with the consent of the Members present, agreed that the minutes of the 
meeting held on 29 January 2024 were a true and correct record of the proceedings. 
 
4 BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL PLANNING 2024/25 TO 2026/27 
 
The Chair introduced the item and invited Councillor Boothroyd to speak to the 
report, followed by Gerald Almeroth, Executive Director of Finance and Resources, 
and Councillor Fisher as Chair of the Budget Scrutiny Task Group. 
  
Councillor Boothroyd noted that this is the Council’s budget which provides funding 
to continue to develop the Fairer Westminster strategy, with investment in the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
2 

 

priorities of the people of Westminster, including CCTV, community hubs, boosting 
carer pay and cost of living. 
  
Councillor Boothroyd highlighted that the Council has been able to make savings 
without harming services, as well as increased income through more realistic fees 
and charges to reflect the cost in providing services, with a council tax increase set 
in line with that assumed under the government funding settlement. 
  
Councillor Boothroyd noted that this budget has had to approve additional spending 
to an unprecedented extent as a result of the temporary accommodation crisis and 
thanked the finance team who have managed this. 
  
Councillor Boothroyd noted that Westminster does have more capability than most, 
with the temporary acquisitions programme having some impact but more work 
needs to be done to alleviate the cost of nightly-booked accommodation. 
  
Gerald Almeroth highlighted the volatility of temporary accommodation costs and 
that officers have worked hard to come up with a plan to manage this, but that it still 
poses significant risk going forward. 
  
Gerald Almeroth noted that the budget process this year has been robust and can 
give assurances as reflected in his section 25 statement. 
  
Gerald Almeroth noted the medium-term position and that there is still a £48m gap 
which the Council will be working to close over the coming period. 
  
Councillor Fisher highlighted that temporary accommodation is the critical issue for 
the Council with councils facing unprecedented demand, and that the task group was 
encouraged to see the council taking action to increase cost-effective supply to 
protect residents. 
  
Councillor Fisher noted that the improvements to scrutiny recommended last year 
have been followed through, with Cabinet Members attending BTSG meetings and 
defending their decision making and portfolios, with more detail to be provided next 
year in presentations. 
  
Councillor Fisher noted his thanks to Councillor Boothroyd, Gerald Almeroth and 
Jake Bacchus. 
  
The Chair thanked officers in the finance team and across the council, noting that 
these are challenging times in which officers have worked to produce a balanced 
budget. 
  
The Chair noted the central challenge of temporary accommodation and in particular 
the challenges in Westminster with the private rented sector and ability to procure 
supply, but that there is a plan in place to address those. 
  
RESOLVED: Cabinet approved the following recommendations to Full Council 
for consideration at its meeting on 6 March 2024:  
  
Council Tax  

Page 4



 
3 

 

1. That the Council Tax for a Band D be agreed at £501.76 for 2024/25  
2. That subject to the consideration of the previous recommendation, the council 

tax for the City of Westminster, excluding the Montpelier Square area and 
Queen’s Park Community Council, for the year ending 31 March 2025, be as 
specified in the Council Tax Resolution in Appendix 1   

3. That the Precepts and Special Expenses be as also specified in Appendix 1 
for properties in Montpelier Square and the Queen’s Park Community Council  

4. That the formal resolution for 2024/25 attached at Appendix 1 including the 
council tax requirement of £68.889m be agreed  

5. Note the proposed Greater London Authority precept (Band D) of £471.40, an 
increase of £37.26 in the adjusted Band D precept  

6. That the Council continues the Westminster Community Contribution scheme 
to allow residents in the City to voluntarily contribute towards supporting 
discretionary services that support the three priorities of youth services, 
helping rough sleepers off the streets and supporting people who are lonely 
and isolated.  

Revenue Budget  
7. To note the views of the Scrutiny Budget Task Group set out in Appendix 2  
8. That the proposed General Fund net budget requirement of £205.545m 

summarised in Appendix 3 is approved  
9. That the savings, pressures and investments for 2024/25 to 2026/27 set out in 

Appendix 4, 5 and 6, are approved  
10. That the Equality Impact Assessments included in Appendix 7 are noted to 

inform the consideration of the budget  
11. Note the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2024/25 and 30 

Year Housing Investment Plan presented concurrently to Cabinet on 19 
February 2024 that recommends the HRA budget and rent levels for 2024/25  

Capital Programme  
12. Note the Capital Strategy 2024/25 to 2028/29, forecast position for 2023/24 

and future years’ forecasts summarised up to 2037/38 report also presented 
to Cabinet on 19 February 2024 that recommends the Council’s capital 
programme and financing  

Reserves, Balances and Budget Estimates  
13. Agree the reserves policy as set out in section 9  
14. Note the opinion of the Section 151 Officer with regards to the robustness of 

the budget process, the estimates underpinning the budget and the adequacy 
of the reserves as set out in Appendix 8 as required by S25 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 

Treasury Management and Investment Framework  
15. Note the Treasury Management Strategy for 2024/25 including the annual 

investment strategy, borrowing limits and prudential indicators summarised in 
this report and set out detail in a concurrent report on this agenda.  

16. Note the 2024/25 Integrated Investment Framework report also concurrently 
on this agenda, which sets out the policies and framework for future 
investment decisions for the Council.  

Fairer Westminster Delivery Plan  
17. Note the summary of the delivery actions for the Fairer Westminster Delivery 

Plan 2024/25 provided in Section 4. The full approved version of the 2024/25 
Delivery Plan will be published in mid-March.  

 

Page 5



 
4 

 

5 CAPITAL STRATEGY 2024/25 TO 2028/29, FORECAST POSITION FOR 
2023/24 AND FUTURE YEARS FORECAST TO 2037/38 

 
The Chair invited Councillor Boothroyd to introduce the report. 
  
Councillor Boothroyd noted that this is an overview report of the Capital Strategy and 
capital spending over the next 15 years, with the cost of borrowing built into the 
revenue implications of the capital strategy. 
  
Councillor Boothroyd highlighted that even though the programme is slightly lower in 
cash terms than the previous year, it remains an ambitious programme which looks 
to deliver genuinely affordable housing, the Oxford Street programme, local high 
streets, North Paddington, refurbishment of the Seymour Centre and net zero by 
2030. 
  
Gerald Almeroth noted that the council programme has two main themes – 
development and strategic investment and operational investment looking after 
assets, with significant ambition around delivering more affordable housing. 
  
Gerald Almeroth noted that given interest rates and inflation risks, the Council is still 
able to plan and put these schemes into effect within the revenue funding without 
funding from external sources. 
  
RESOLVED: Cabinet approved the following recommendations to Full Council 
for consideration at its meeting on 6 March 2024:  

·       Approve the capital strategy as set out in this report.  
·       Approve the capital expenditure for the General Fund for 2024/25 to 

2028/29 and future years to 2037/38.  
·       Approve that all development and investment projects, along with all 

significant projects follow the previously approved business case governance 
process as set out in section 8 of this report.  

·       Approve that no financing sources, unless stipulated in regulations or 
necessary agreements, are ring fenced.  

·       Approve the proposed financing of the capital programme and revenue 
implications as set out in section 12 of this report. 

·       Delegate to the Executive Director of Finance and Resources the decisions 
surrounding financing of the capital programme to provide sufficient flexibility 
to allow for the most effective use of the Council’s resources.  

 
6 INTEGRATED INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK 2024/25 
 
The Chair invited Councillor Boothroyd to introduce the item. 
  
Councillor Boothroyd noted that this is a framework which is decided upon annually 
with little change year to year, and that the Council has been managing its 
investments well. 
  
Gerald Almeroth noted that it has been updated for key issues such as interest rates 
and inflation risk, but shows overall that the Council has a good performance while 
prudent in managing risk. 
  

Page 6



 
5 

 

RESOLVED: Cabinet approved the following recommendations to Full Council 
for consideration at its meeting on 6 March 2024: 

·       Approve and implement the Integrated Investment Framework set out in 
this report;  

·       Approve that the target for the overall return on Council investments 
should aspire to at least meet forecasts for inflation over the medium 
term;  

·       Approve that the benefits of investing in the Pension Fund should be 
used as a benchmark when evaluating other investments;  

·       Approve adoption of the asset allocation percentage ranges set out in 
the framework and work towards achieving these;  

·       Agree that the overarching objective of this framework is to achieve an 
overall return on Council investments, matching CPI inflation over the 
medium term, and to reduce costs and liabilities, while maintaining 
adequate cash balances for operational purposes, and not exposing the 
capital value of investments to unnecessary risk;  

·       Agree that assets must only be acquired for strategic purposes. Such 
prospective acquisitions must be considered individually, with the reasons 
for investment limited to regeneration or development of the location, or 
other strategic purposes in which the asset is established. Out-of-borough 
acquisitions may also be considered by exception;  

·       Note that the Investment Executive to implement, monitor and report on 
the investment strategy.  

  
  
 
7 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT FOR 2024/25 TO 

2028/29 
 
The Chair invited Councillor David Boothroyd to introduce the report.   
  
Councillor David Boothroyd noted of most importance is that the capital programme 
is financed and all borrowing is prudent, and that the plans are ambitious but that 
borrowing remains within credential indicators and 
the Council is forecast to remain under borrowed position. 
  
Councillor David Boothroyd highlighted that problems have been encountered due to 
delays in national audit and it had been agreed that the Council should seek a public 
credit rating.   
  
Councillor Ryan Jude asked Gerald Almeroth about timings for the council to obtain 
the credit rating, and how others have sought this.   
  
Gerald Almeroth responded that other councils have sought a credit rating to issue a 
bond, though Westminster is doing this for a different reason and looking at a two to 
three-month process. 
  
RESOLVED: Cabinet approved the following recommendations to Full Council 
for consideration at its meeting on 6 March 2024: 

• Approve the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
• Approve the borrowing strategy and borrowing limits for 2024/25 to 2028/29 

Page 7



 
6 

 

• Approve the Prudential Indicators 
• Approve the Annual Investment Strategy and approved investments 
• Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy set out in Appendix 2;  
• Approve the delegation of authority to the Executive Director of Finance and 

Resources to proceed with:  
o the obtaining of a credit rating as set out in the report; and  
o to appoint Link Group, a Treasury consultant, for the purposes of 

obtaining that rating.  
  
 
8 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 30-YEAR BUSINESS PLAN AND 

HOUSING INVESTMENT PLAN 2024/25 
 
The Chair welcomed Councillor Begum to introduce the report. 
  
Councillor Begum noted that the report presents a revised 30-year business plan for 
the HRA, with a sustainable and long-term plan that keeps it on sound financial 
footing. 
  
Councillor Begum highlighted the recommended rent increase of 7.7% (CPI+1) and 
an extension to the Rent Support Fund for the next financial year which allows the 
HRA to absorb the impact of inflation, increase funding for frontline services and 
make additional capital funding available to increase the level of annual investment 
in housing stock. 
  
Councillor Begum noted that in regard to the PDHU allocation, the Council has yet to 
identify its preferred option for replacement, but it is prudent that the HRA has 
sufficient headroom to cover any investment ahead of an outline business case 
being presented later in the year. 
  
Sarah Warman noted that within the plan, the Council has built in several measures 
to ensure it remains resilient in the face of the challenging economic outlook, 
including a healthy reserve balance and contingency in the revenue budget. 
  
RESOLVED: Cabinet approved the following recommendations to Full Council 
for consideration at its meeting on 6 March 2024: 

·       Approve the HRA revenue budget for 2024/25 
·       Note the HRA 5-year revenue budgets for 2024/25 to 2028/29and HRA 

30-year revenue budgets for 2024/25 to 2053/ 
·       Approve the HRA 5-year Capital Pr%ogramme totalling £920.52m 
·       Note the 30-year Capital Programme for 2024/25 to 2053/54 totalling 

£2.493bn 
·       Approve the inclusion of all Fairer Westminster investments, including 

the extension of the HRA Rent Support Fund by £1.050m for 2024/25 (to 
be earmarked to support tenants experiencing financial difficulty during the 
cost-of-living crisis)  

·       Approve a rent increase of 7.7% from 1st April 2024 in line with the 
maximum increase for social rent set by the national rent policy, whilst 
noting that the Council continues to exercise its discretion under the rent 
restructuring policy to set rents for re-lets (both new tenants and transfers) 
up to formula target rent 

Page 8



 
7 

 

·       Approve an increase of 6.7% to the fees charged for garages, sheds and 
parking (in line with CPI at September 2023) from 1st April 2024  

·       Approve that tenant service charges be varied in line with estimated 
actual costs for 2024/25 from 1st April 2023  

·       Note the HRA reserves and balances for the 5-year Business Plan 
 
9 WCC PAY POLICY 2024-25 
 
The Chair introduced the item, with no further comments received. 
  
RESOLVED: Cabinet approved the following recommendations to Full Council 
for consideration at its meeting on 6 March 2024: 

·       Approve the Pay Policy Statement 2024/25 
  
 
 
  
 
The Meeting ended at 7.00 pm.  
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

Cabinet  
 

Decision Maker: Cabinet 

Date: 29 February 2024 

Classification: General Release with   
Not for publication - Part B section of this 
report is currently exempt from disclosure 
on the grounds that (i) it contains 
information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of a particular person 
(including the authority holding that 
information) under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, (ii) it contains information in respect 
of which a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal 
proceedings under paragraph  of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972; (iii) 
and in all the circumstances of the case, 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information 
 

Title: Church Street Site A – Appointment of 
Joint Venture Development Partner 

Wards Affected: Church Street 

Policy Context: Fairer Housing  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Matt Noble, Cabinet Member 
for Regeneration and Renters 

Key Decision: Yes  

Financial Summary: Budgets are held in both the HRA 
Business Plan (£144m gross, £29m net) 
and the General Fund (£96m gross, -£9m 
net) for the delivery of Church Street Site 
A.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

2 
 

The costs in this report are indicative and 
based on evidenced and supported inputs 
by the bidder to the Council’s procurement 
financial model. These will be fixed 
throughout preferred bidder and 
unconditional stages. 

Recommendation 2.3 delegates the 
approval of financial matters to the 
Executive Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Planning. 
Recommendations 2.4 and 2.5 delegate 
decisions relating to appropriation and 
disposal of land to the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Council Reform. 

Report of:  Debbie Jackson, Executive Director of 
Regeneration, Economy, and Planning, 
and 

Gerald Almeroth, Executive Director of 
Finance and Resources 

 
 

  

Page 12



 

3 
 

1. Executive Summary 
 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to formally appoint the preferred bidder from the 
Council’s procurement exercise for a joint venture partner for the development 
of Church Street Site A.  
 

1.2. Church Street is a Council regeneration priority, consisting of three 
development sites, A, B and C, identified in the Fairer Westminster Strategy as 
needing improvement and significant investment and is part of the Council's 
drive to address the shortage of affordable housing in the city.   
 

1.3. Central to the regeneration of Church Street is the engagement with and 
support from the local community. The appointment of the development partner 
follows on from ongoing, consistent and meaningful engagement in key 
decisions throughout the development of the scheme. In 2022, 73% of voting 
residents provided their support for regeneration proposals (with a 56% turnout) 
which detailed the plans for the delivery of the project and the intention to seek 
a joint venture partner. This unlocked £28m of additional funding from the 
Greater London Authority.  
 

1.4. Extensive resident involvement also took place throughout the thorough public 
sector procurement process which led to the selection of the preferred bidder. 
The community representatives involved in assessing submissions from 
bidders, received training and support which enabled them to form an important 
part of the evaluation team. Members of the Church Street Regeneration Group 
were also consulted and inputted into the social value brochure included within 
the bidder’s tender package. With a specific focus on Social Value, Resident 
Liaison and Communications the Church Street reps were able to provide a 
strong objective resident voice in scoring these areas. 
 

1.5. From the initial Church Street ‘Futures Plan’ through to endorsement of the 
masterplan and planning submission, the Council have worked with the local 
community throughout, with extensive formal and informal engagement, and it 
is clear from their feedback that the community is positively supportive of the 
scheme and the benefits it will bring. Regeneration of Site A will meet the 
priorities developed with the community including: more homes, particularly 
affordable homes; improved health and wellbeing for the community; a more 
vibrant Church Street Market; improved connections, both within Church Street 
Ward and with neighbouring areas. 
 

1.6. The Council has taken onboard feedback from the community notably on the 
library, which will be prominent within Site A. The library has evolved through 
resident feedback as the proposals developed, this including a change to 
increase the size of the library, which includes two adjacent retail units within 
its floorspace. The proposals were developed with local stakeholders such as 
the Friends of Church Street Library. 
 

1.7. The report seeks authority to enter into preferred bidder stage following which 
the Council will exchange on the legal documents required to set up the joint 
venture (JV) partnership and deliver the development of Church Street Site A 

Page 13



 

4 
 

which is the land comprised in the planning permission granted on 30th June 
2023 under planning reference number 21/08160/COOUT. The legal 
documents will include capacity for, at the Council’s full discretion, bringing 
future developments sites through the Joint Venture for example Church Street 
Site B and Site C.These legal documents will be conditional on achieving 
milestones and working within the Council’s minimum requirements but will 
empower the JV to deliver Site A. The Council will continue to secure vacant 
possession and will start demolition, with start on site programmed for Q1 2025. 
 

1.8. At exchange of contract, which is estimated to take place in summer 2024, the 
joint venture will have 18 months to satisfy a number of conditions for the 
development, and a further 6 months for viability. Once these conditions are 
satisfied the JV will be “unconditional”, at which point it will commence delivery 
of its business plan and the development of Church Street in line with the 
Council’s objectives and minimum requirements.  
 

1.9. To reach unconditional, the JV will commence RIBA stage 4 designs upon 
exchange of contracts, finalise the construction contract with Mount Anvil and 
secure funding all of which will inform its business plan. 
 

1.10. A joint venture partnership requires the Council to be agile in decision making. 
The legal agreements drafted in the procurement process set out how the joint 
venture and its members will make decisions, including Council reserved 
decisions and how the new joint venture Board will operate. This report seeks 
various approvals including delegating decisions to enable the Council to enter 
into legal agreements, set up the LLP and to enable the Council to perform its 
role as Member of the JV LLP including the ability to amend the terms of the 
Shareholder Committee if required. 
 

2. Recommendations 

That Cabinet, in appointing the successful partner and establishing the Joint Venture 
Partnership, agree the following: 

2.1.  Approve the appointment of Mount Anvil New Holdings Limited (Registered 
Company Number: 07209710) (“Mount Anvil”) as the Council’s joint 
development partner for the Church Street Site A development. 

2.2. Approve the incorporation of a Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) to be the 
corporate entity for the JV, with both the Council and Mount Anvil as the 
Members of the LLP (“JV”). 

2.3. Delegate to the Executive Director of Regeneration, Economy and Planning in 
consultation with the Executive Director of Democracy, Law and People, 
Executive Director of Finance and Resources and Executive Director for 
Environment, Climate and Public Protection in the Council’s capacity as 
landowner (as counterparty to the Development Agreement and other related 
agreements) and as a member of the LLP to finalise and enter into all the 
legal and financial documents required to set up the JV LLP and to proceed 
with the Church Street Site A development with Mount Anvil including the 

Page 14



 

5 
 

legal agreements set out at Appendix 3 and all other necessary and ancillary 
documents including approval of the initial Business Plan of the JV LLP and 
the appointment of the Council representatives of the JV. 

2.4. Delegates authority to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Council Reform in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing to take a future decision to 
appropriate the land, for planning purposes, prior to the lease disposal to the 
JV pursuant to Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
subsequent use of the powers under section 203 of the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016. 

2.5. Delegates authority to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Council Reform in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing to take a future decision to 
dispose of the land to the JV by way of lease as further detailed in paragraph 
8.17 of this report.  

2.6. Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Democracy, Law and People to 
amend the Terms of Reference of the Shareholder Committee (if required) as 
they consider necessary in order to best cater for the Council’s role as 
Member of the JV LLP. 

 
3. Reasons for Decision   

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering the redevelopment of Church Street 
Estate, starting with the delivery of Site A. Throughout the Council have 
undertaken ongoing, consistent and meaningful community engagement to 
ensure the supported by the local community, demonstrated by the 2022 ballot 
where 73% of voting residents provided their support for regeneration proposals 
(with a 56% turnout). 

3.2. The preferred delivery route for Church Street Site A is partnership delivery, as 
set out in the Outline Business Case (OBC) approved by Cabinet Member in 
August 2020, and the OBC Update approved by Cabinet Member in January 
2024.  

3.3. The proposed joint venture will be a 50/50 Limited Liability Partnership, where 
both the Council and its private sector partner (Mount Anvil) will equally bear 
the risk and reward of the development and have equal voting rights. This 
approach, supported by soft market testing, balances the need to provide 
sufficient incentive for the private sector to invest significant financial and non-
financial resources over many years against the Council’s objectives and 
interests.  

3.4. Soft market testing undertaken suggests that any deviation from a 50/50 
partnership would have dissuaded developers engaging in the procurement 
and reduce the range of bidders that Council had to choose from. 

3.5. If the Council had a casting vote (i.e. 51%/49%) the partner would likely seek 
mitigations against the Council taking, what it considers, an uncommercial 
decision to its detriment. This would increase the cost and complexity of the 

Page 15



 

6 
 

arrangement and detract from the Council’s aim of the partner bearing genuine 
market risk (e.g. cost, market value).  

3.6. The Council instead has set out its minimum requirement and landowner 
consents (carved out decisions that cannot be taken without the Council’s 
unilateral approval) and have influenced the initial business plan to ensure the 
partnership will deliver its objectives without the requirement for a casting vote. 

3.7. The are several drivers for the partnership delivery set out in further detail in 
the OBC Update January 2024, these include: 

• Bringing in a partner’s significant experience and skills in a complex area 
and benefiting from their expertise on private sales and constructing 
complex urban regenerations; 

• Aligning public and private sector incentives to achieve the Council’s 
objectives and deliver value for money 

• Leveraging private sector debt to reduce the Council’s capital investment 
• Sharing of development risk  

3.8. As demonstrated in this report, the Council has undertaken a compliant 
procurement exercise and following evaluation and moderation of the final 
tender submissions the Council now seeks approval from Cabinet to enter into 
a JV LLP with Mount Anvil for the delivery of Church Street Site A. 

3.9. It should be noted that the current Terms of Reference of the Shareholder 
Committee within the Council’s constitution includes exercising decisions 
relating to the Council's role as shareholder, member, owner, lender, or other 
position of significant control over Subsidiaries, where those decisions have 
been delegated to the Shareholder Committee;". A Subsidiary is defined to 
include any entity wholly or partly owned by the Council which would include 
the JV LLP. Cabinet is therefore being asked to recommend approving the 
delegation of the decision at recommendation 2.3 to approve such matters as 
the initial Business Plan of the JV and other all matters relating to the setting 
up of the LLP up and until exchange of contracts. The Shareholder Committee 
will be briefed before exchange of contracts but given the level of detail involved 
recommendation 2.3 enables the documentation to be finalised and entered 
into, and to take all necessary matters to give effect to the set up and 
commencement of the JV LLP and the development to be made within the 
delivery timescale.   

3.10. Cabinet is also being asked to delegate authority to amend the Terms of 
Reference of the Shareholder Committee. Currently, as set out in paragraph 
3.9 above the Shareholder Committee would currently be required to make all 
decisions which require Member approval under the terms of the Members 
Agreement between Mount Anvil and The Council. The delegation to give 
approval to amend the Terms of Reference of the Shareholder Committee if 
required , will enable the Council to determine whether any changes to the 
Terms of Reference are needed in order for the Council to best be able to 
achieve a collaborative and complementary partnership with Mount Anvil in the 
JV LLP, for example considering whether a committee is the best means of 
making some of the decisions that the Council needs to take as a Member of 
the JV to enable the JV to best meet its objectives. 

Page 16



 

7 
 

 
4. Background, including Policy Context  

 
4.1. The Church Street development programme is a regeneration priority for the 

Council and resident involvement and engagement is at the heart of what the 
Council does on Church Street. Throughout the regeneration programme the 
Council has undertaken wide-ranging and continuous stakeholder 
engagement, ensuring that local residents and businesses were well 
represented and engaged in the key decisions taken on the development. 
 

4.2. It is clear from their feedback that the community is positive about the scheme 
and the benefits it will bring. 
 

4.3. Further to this, following the outcome of the 2022 Local Election, the Council’s 
approach for estate regeneration changed and the Council undertook a resident 
ballot to ensure strong community support for Westminster’s plans. The 
outcome was a 73% “Yes” vote with a turnout of 56% of the residents.  
 

4.4. The current Church Street estate comprises one of the priority housing estates, 
identified in the Westminster Housing Renewal Strategy, as needing 
improvement and significant investment and is part of the Council's drive to 
address the shortage of affordable housing in the city.  
 

4.5. In accordance with the Council's Fairer Westminster objective, the overarching 
objective of regenerating the estate is to create a comprehensive renewal that 
brings about physical, economic, and sustainable change; and that creates 
additional affordable homes and improves the lives of residents, businesses, 
and visitors alike. 
 

4.6. The proposed redevelopment of Site A forms part of the wider Church Street 
Masterplan which was approved by Cabinet in December 2017. The Masterplan 
is the Council’s framework for informing the future regeneration of the Church 
Street area. 
 

4.7. Through extensive public consultation, part development and part 
refurbishment of Church Street was identified as the preferred way forward and 
approved by Cabinet Member in the initial Outline Business Case (OBC) in 
June 2019. This included establishing three defined sites, known as A, B and 
C. 
 

4.8. Developed further through the OBC part 2, approved in August 2020, the 
preferred delivery route for Site A was confirmed as a partnership (known as a 
joint venture (JV)). This approach was reaffirmed in the update to the OBC 
approved in January 2024.  
 

5. Current Project Status 
 

5.1.  The Council has made substantial progress towards enabling the realisation of 
the vision for Church Street, including: 
 

Page 17



 

8 
 

Planning 
 

5.2. A hybrid planning permission was granted on the 30th June 2023, comprising a 
detailed permission for Site A and outline permission for Sites B & C as well as 
the Church Street Market. 
 

5.3. The planning permission secured 428 residential units on Site A, including 213 
affordable homes (including reprovision of 98 social rent homes, 73 new social 
rent homes and 42 new intermediate rent homes) as well as a new library with 
the entrance fronting Church Street 
 
Vacant Possession  
 

5.4. Ongoing discussion and negotiation with occupants of Site A since 2019 with 
the aim of achieving vacant possession of the whole of Site A to enable the 
regeneration.  
 

5.5. The Council have acquired 142 residential properties through voluntary 
negotiations and continue to negotiate with the remaining 3 residential 
leaseholders and remaining 6 commercial tenants.  
 
Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO)  
 

5.6. Cabinet approval was granted on 10th of July 2023 to proceed to make a CPO 
and to assemble the remaining interests in the Order Land, which are not 
owned by the Council and secure the rights necessary to enable the CPO 
Scheme to be delivered.  
 

5.7. On the 31st of October 2023, the Council officially ratified making of the CPO. 
The CPO objection period has ended, and the Council is in the process of 
responding to the objections received. If required, a CPO inquiry is anticipated 
to be held by Summer 2024. 
 
Demolition 

5.8. Demolition of some of the existing buildings on Site A has commenced, with 
Phase 1 demolition completed in Summer 2023. The Council is currently 
preparing for further phases of demolition works to be carried out at Site A, with 
start on site due to commence in Q1 2025. 
 

6. Procurement Process and Outcome 
 

Overview 
 

6.1. The Council undertook a soft market testing exercise in 2020 which 
demonstrated clear appetite for the flagship scheme from large, well–respected 
London regeneration developers. 
 

6.2. The procurement documents contained a Social Value Vision for Church Street, 
which was created with existing Church Street residents. 
 

Page 18



 

9 
 

6.3. A Competitive Procedure with Negotiation started with the publication of a 
Contract notice in February 2023. Following a Selection Questionnaire, three 
rounds of negotiation were undertaken with final tender submissions received 
from two bidders in December 2023.  
 

6.4. Following evaluation and moderation in January 2024, the recommendation is 
to appoint a partner based on their successful bid to proceed with the 
development in partnership with the Council in accordance with the approved 
planning permission and agreed programme.  
 

6.5. As set out in this report, the partnership arrangement to deliver the Church 
Street development will be through a special purpose vehicle, an LLP, that will 
be jointly owned by the Council and its selected partner. This new LLP will be 
incorporated and managed by three Council representatives “A Executives 
Members” and three partner representatives “B Executives Members. 

On-going Community Engagement  

6.6. The procurement process undertaken is commercially sensitive and subject to 
procurement law. The Council did however work within these constraints to 
engage with the Church Street community and incorporated residents into the 
process wherever possible. 
 

6.7. The Council engaged and involved a Church Street Estate resident in the 
procurement process to represent the community and help the Council make 
this important decision for the future of Church Street. The joint venture partner 
will have significant social value contributions as part of their contract to support 
the local community though socio-economic initiatives, local training, and 
financial contributions for example, as well as being responsible, alongside the 
Council, for ongoing engagement with the community and securing their 
involvement in the delivery of the proposals. The resident has participated in 
the negotiation sessions and has evaluated the Social Value question of the 
successful bidder’s final tender submissions.   

Process 

6.8. The procurement process is a major workstream within the project and 
therefore a Procurement Working Group (PWG) was also established in March 
2021. This group comprised of the following Council and specialist consultant 
advisors: 

• Senior Development Lead; 
• Senior Procurement Lead; 
• Senior Major Projects Lawyer; 
• Senior Property Lawyer; 
• Senior Finance Lead; 
• Arcadis, Partner, Multi-disciplinary design Lead; and 
• Savills, Partner Property and professional advisors. 

 
6.9. Once the procurement activity was underway a JV Procurement Board was also 

established as an oversight and advisory group comprising of the following 
Council officers: 

Page 19



 

10 
 

• Executive Director of Finance & Resources; 
• Executive Director of Regeneration, Economy & Planning; 
• Director of Regeneration & Development; 
• Director of Commercial Partnerships; and 
• Head of Development. 

 
6.10. The procurement was conducted as set out in the Gate 3 report, following the 

Council’s normal procurement governance and approved by the Cabinet 
Member for Climate Action, Regeneration and Renters and the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Council Reform on 23 January 2023. The procurement 
was undertaken in accordance with the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation 
(CPN) as defined within the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended) 
(PCR’s) and The Council’s Procurement Code. 

6.11. The rationale for the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation was: 
• it permits the Council to negotiate on initial and all subsequent proposals 

submitted by bidders; 
• allows the Council to negotiate all stages except final tenders; 
• successive stages were permissible;  
• the Council could set out its minimum requirements which were non-

negotiable; and 
• it supports the JV Partnership approach. 

6.12. The internal team were advised and supported by external consultants. The 
role of external consultants was to review the assumptions made by officers in 
their initial assessment of the viability of the project and to guide the 
procurement process itself.  

6.13. The external teams comprised: 
• Savills – Professional team, property and commercial lead advisors; 
• Arcadis – Multi disciplinary lead advisors 
• Trowers and Hamlins – Legal advisors 
• 31Ten – Commercial & Financial advisors 

6.14. The role and objectives of the Procurement Working Group were to: 
• have a strong understanding of how to set up a successful Joint Venture 

partnership, both legally and commercially, and apply this to Church 
Street;  

• develop a detailed understanding of the Council’s priorities and 
constraints; 

• ensure Council priorities of increasing and maximising the supply of new 
genuinely affordable housing including creating genuine affordable 
housing; 

• provide expert and timely advice, support and leadership throughout the 
project life cycle; 

• deliver a CPN process in accordance with UK procurement law principles 
following the approach of the CPN process to procure a private sector 
development partner, who will deliver site A, with the potential for future 
sites and market infrastructure, in partnership with the Council; and 

Page 20



 

11 
 

• ensure the development opportunity is attractive to potential partners, 
commercially viable, and enables the Council to secure the right 
commercial deal, mitigating risk and financial exposure. 

6.15. While the bidders were able to propose adjustments to the scheme to optimise 
and balance outcomes and viability, the adjustments needed to be within the 
Council’s Minimum Requirements and Key Parameters, which ensure delivery 
of the Council’s objectives. 

6.16. The Key Parameters formed part of the CPN’s non-negotiable items, are set 
out in Appendix 5. 

6.17. The Council also set out its Minimum Requirements for the site which included: 
• a minimum of 428 Dwellings of which at least 213 are Affordable Housing  
• a minimum of 42 1-bed 2-person community supported housing 

Dwellings in Block A2 (A2-2); 
• a library of no less than 605 meters squared gross internal area with an 

entrance from and fronting Church Street and outdoor garden space of 
no less than 185 meters squared; 

• all commercial units to be delivered for retail use shall have active retail 
frontages to Church Street; 

• to provide space within the Development sufficient to provide for a 
minimum of 4 van parking bays or an equivalent area to provide additional 
storage containers with pedestrian access direct to Church Street and 
vehicular access to Broadley Street; 

• a minimum of 4 meters squared welfare facilities; and 
• a minimum of 22 parking bays of which all shall be for disabled access; 

6.18. The table on the following page shows the programme up to entering the Joint 
Venture: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



 

12 
 

Table 6.1 – Overview of procurement programme 

*Reduced number due to a participant withdrawing from the process. 

 

6.19. As part of the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, the Council and bidders 
were permitted to negotiate on the terms of the legal agreements during the 
negotiation stages. Following the approval and the Council’s contract award to 
the successful preferred bidder, the Council and Mount Anvil will finalise the 
contractual arrangements. It is anticipated that there will be minimal changes 
to the documentation, and neither party is permitted to negotiate terms further. 
The target programme for setting up the LLP and executing the necessary legal 
agreements is by July 2024. 

6.20. The Council intends to explore the possibility of pre-JV services to aid in 
mobilising Mount Anvil during finalizing the legal documents. This will be 
capped at £214,904 for the services. 

 

7.  Outcome of the Tender 

7.1. The final tenders were assessed on a 50% qualitative submission and 50% on 
the commercial submission.  

7.2. The qualitative submission assessed the bidder’s approach to partnering, how 
the scheme would be delivered (including risk management), logistics and 
community matters, scheme design and optimisation and responsible 
procurement.  

No. Stage Start End Participants 
1 Contract Notice Published 09/02/2023 20/03/2023 38 
2 Selection Questionnaire (SQ) 

Period  
09/02/2023 20/03/2023 6 

3 SQ Evaluation Period 20/03/2023 14/04/2023 *4 down to 3 
4 Invitation to Participate in 

Negotiation (ITPN) Stage 
09/06/2023 30/11/2023 *3 down to 2 

6 Invitation to Submit Final Tender 
(ISFT) Period 

30/11/2023 20/12/2023 2 

7 Final tender evaluation period 2/01/2024 12/01/2024 2 
8 Cabinet decision for selection of 

JV Partner (preferred bidder) 
29/2/2024 08/03/2024 1 

9 Issue of contract award 
notification and commencement 
of 10-day standstill period 

11/03/2024 22/03/2024 1 

9 Final agreement of legal 
documents 

28/03/2024 08/05/2024 1 

10 Enter into pre-JV/contract 
services 

28/03/2024 01/04/2024 1 

11 Enter into JV 24/06/2024 24/06/2024  

Page 22



 

13 
 

7.3. The Commercial submission evaluated the bidder’s draft business plan, their 
development management fee and the Council’s projected financial return. In 
addition, a significant proportion of the commercial score was attributed to 
evidencing and justifying the bidders' assumptions, to ensure a well-considered 
and supported bid. 

7.4. Finally, the legal section of the bid was scored on a pass/fail basis. All bidder 
amendments needed to pass otherwise their bid would be rejected in full. 

7.5. The full scoring criteria is detailed below: 

Table 7.1 – Procurement Scoring Criteria 

Criteria Sub Criteria & Submission 
Requirements 

Weighting 
50/50 

Quality/ 
Commercial 

Scoring 
Methodology 

JV Resourcing 5% Quality Criteria 1 – 
Partnering JV Operations & Stakeholder 

Management 
5% 

Delivery Team & Supply Chain 4% 
Delivery Programme 3% 

Quality Criteria 2 – 
Scheme Delivery 

Risk Management & Risk 
Register 

3% 

Quality Criteria 3 – 
Logistics & Community 
Matters 

Logistics & Community Matters 6% 

Design & Planning Strategy 5% 
Sales & Marketing Strategy 3% 
Cost Optimisation & 
Management 

3% 

Sustainability Strategy 1.5% 

Quality Criteria 4 – 
Scheme Design & 
Optimisation 

Market Infrastructure & Ancillary 
Facilities 

1.5% 

Social Value 5% Quality Criteria 5 – 
Responsible Procurement Diversity & Inclusion 5% 

0 -10 scale 
(Technical) 

Total Commercial Weighting 50%  
Draft JV Business Plan 5%  
Delivery Cost Forecast & 
Assumptions 

15% 0-5 scale 
(Financial) 

Revenues Cost Forecast and 
Assumptions 

15% 0-5 scale 
(Financial) 

Development Management Fee 5% Relative to best 
bid  
 

Commercial Criteria 1 

Projected Financial Return to 
WCC 

10% Relative to best 
bid on NPV 
basis  

Total Commercial Weighting 50%  
Commercial Criteria 2 Legal Agreements Pass/Fail  

Page 23



 

14 
 

7.6. The outcomes from the scoring exercise are as follows: 

Table 7.2 – Final Procurement Scores 

Bidder Total Score 

Mount Anvil 78.26% 

2nd Ranking Tenderer 56.46% 
 

7.7. Based on the above scores, the bidder with the highest score and who has 
demonstrated that they are best positioned to enter the JV LLP with the 
Council is Mount Anvil. 

7.8. The full scoring matrices and additional information regarding the process are 
included within the Commercial Gateway Review Board report at Appendix 6. 

7.9. Mount Anvil’s bid showed the strength and depth of their team with a clear 
resource plan to support Church Street. The bid was supported by a well-
considered programme, a strong logistics proposal with a clear engagement 
plan for residents. Mount Anvil secured value for money for the Council through 
a demonstrable sales and marketing approach. Their bid had a strong social 
value response with targeted audiences identified and their own funds 
allocated.  

7.10. As part of their tender offer, Mount Anvil have proposed a solution which will 
deliver: 

• a minimum of 50% of affordable homes; 
• an enhanced library facility; 
• a high quality and sustainable development; 
• a genuine Social Value offer deigned to create a legacy for Church Street 

residents, communities and businesses. 
 

8.  Joint Venture LLP Structure 

8.1. As set out in the OBC Update (January 2024) robust arrangements are in place 
for the delivery, monitoring and evaluation of the project.  
 

8.2. The Council will operate in two distinct roles in the partnership transaction.  

WCC as Landowner  
 
8.3. Here the Council acts as the freeholder of the land, of which it disposes of a 

leasehold interest to the JV alongside a Development Agreement which 
dictates what and how the JV will deliver Site A on the Council’s behalf.  To 
support the JV to deliver this the Council will provide a Gap Payment to the 
JV. The Council will acquire the completed affordable homes, library and 
commercial units, the “retained assets”.  

Page 24



 

15 
 

8.4. Through its role as landowner, the Council ensures the development is 
delivered in line with its minimum requirements, holds sole decision-making 
power on key strategic issues through its landowner consents and holds the JV 
to account through the development agreement. 

WCC as Member  
 

8.5. Here the Council will act as a 50/50 member in the JV LLP alongside Mount 
Anvil, appointing three representatives appointed by the Council on the JV’s 
Board alongside three partner appointees of Mount Anvil. Approval to delegate 
the decision for appointment of initial Council representatives of the JV’s 
executive committee is being sought at recommendation 2.3 above. 
 

8.6. The Council will steer the development and make decisions through the LLP 
board. It will take a share in the risk and reward and maintain control of the 
development. The Council will also hold Mount Anvil to account through its 
building contract and appointments, ensuring the Council gets value for money 
and a high-quality build. 
 

8.7. The diagram below sets out the roles of the Council and the principles of the 
partnership transaction.  

Diagram 8.1 – JV Structure 

 
 

 

 

Page 25



 

16 
 

8.8. Once set up, the LLP will commence delivery of its business plan which 
constitutes the development of Site A in line with the Council’s objectives and 
minimum requirements. 

Advanced Services  

8.9. To meet the Council’s objective of delivering Church Street Site A as soon as 
possible, the Council may seek to instruct the JV partner to undertake advanced 
services prior to signing the contract with the successful JV Partner. This is 
anticipated to be a Services Agreement from Spring 2024 (post Cabinet 
decision and observing a Standstill period) to execute a contract to be on or 
around July 2024 with a maximum value of £214,904 inclusive of VAT 
 

8.10. These advanced services would allow Mount Anvil to commence mobilising its 
resources and commence design to maximise the pace of delivery of the 
project. 
 

8.11. These advanced services to be delivered would form part of a separate Pre-
Construction Services Agreement (“PCSA”) which would not be linked to the 
Development Agreement to be signed with the preferred bidder.  The award of 
any such PCSA would be dealt with under existing delegated authority. 

Future Sites 
 
8.12. The Joint Venture has been procured specifically with Site A in mind, however 

the Council has built in flexibility, through a future sites agreement, to provide 
potential for inclusion of other development sites, for example Church Street 
Sites B and C and the external market infrastructure and public realm.  
 

8.13. The JV will undertake business cases on prospective sites which are presented 
to the Council, who then have the option to progress further.  
 

8.14. The stage 1 business case is intended to be at a high-level to enable the 
Council to identify the basis proposals of what a development for that site might 
entail. The Council has full discretion to ask the developer to proceed to draw 
up a more detailed business case (stage 2) which would take design up to a 
limited RIBA design stage and provide certainty about the potential viability of 
a site for development.  
 

8.15. Taking a future site forward after the approval of a stage 2 business case will 
be completely at the Council’s discretion and subject to all normal governance 
and decision-making 

 
Disposal of land 

 
8.16. The lease structure ensures the Council retains the freehold interest in Church 

Street throughout. 
 

8.17. Once the conditions are satisfied under the Development Agreement and the 
demolition works have completed and the site has been appropriated, the 

Page 26



 

17 
 

Council shall grant a lease of Site A to the JV in order for the JV to undertake 
the agreed development which is subject to further approval by Cabinet 
Member as set out in recommendation 2.5. 
 

8.18. Once the development has completed, the JV shall grant underleases of the 
private market units to private purchasers and underleases of the affordable 
housing and commercial units back to the Council. The library shall form part 
of the affordable housing underlease(s) granted to the Council.  
 

8.19. The proposed management solution for the site at practical completion will 
determine what happens to the private homes. Mount Anvil’s bid was based on 
the estate returning to the Council, for it to manage, through a surrender or 
assignment of the JV’s lease. The alternative is that the JV will assign their 
lease to a professional landlord who will manage the estate.  
 

8.20. The management strategy will be developed by the Joint Venture in 
collaboration with the Council to enable appropriate engagement with 
residents.  

 
9. Risks 
 
9.1. The Council undertakes continuous review of risks associated with delivery of 

Site A, which has been critical in assessing the joint venture partnership 
delivery proposals against the Council’s key parameters.  
 

9.2. The table below summarises key risks and contractual mitigations. Further 
information is provided in Appendix 2 Key Legal Risks and Mitigations. 

 
Table 9.1 – Key Risks and Mitigations 
 

Risk Mitigation 

 
Quality 

✓ Setting Key Design Parameters  
✓ Landowner (Council) unilateral approval of revised proposal 

prior to submission for planning  
✓ Development Management quality contractual obligations  

 
Programme 

✓ Development Management programme contractual 
obligations  

✓ Staged payments against key milestones  
✓ Longstop date  
✓ Deadlock process, with clear escalation and outcomes  

Value for 
money 

✓ Clear Value for Money requirements in JV procurement 
policy 

✓ Contract approvals 
✓ Independent Certifier holding Mount Anvil and other 

contractors to account   

 
Land 

✓ Long lease  
✓ Process for transfer of land into JV 
✓ Process for transfer of assets back to Council 
✓ Termination leads to Council recovering land  

Page 27



 

18 
 

 
Reputation 

✓ Robust procurement process to appoint partner  
✓ Council approvals as landowner  
✓ Joint decision making on JV board  
✓ Council retains land 

 

 
Financial  

✓ Council approval of the business plan and any variations 
✓ LLP accounting obligations 
✓ Financing drawdown obligations 
✓ Council approval of variations to cost in the business plan 
✓ Assessment of fair value in the case of default 
✓ Asset valuations of guarantor 
✓ Approval of additional costs beyond those in the business 

plan 
✓ Process for distribution of profits 

 
10. Financial Implications  
 
10.1. The Council are in the process of procuring a joint venture partner to deliver 

Church Street Site A in line with the recommendations of Outline Business 
Case part 2 from August 2020 and reaffirmed in January 2024. The main 
financial implications of which are as follows: 

• A Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) will be incorporated, which will be 
the corporate vehicle for the Joint Venture (JV) LLP, with the Council 
and Mount Anvil being equal members. 

• Following vacant possession and subsequent appropriation of the site, 
the Council will be obligated to provide a lease for Site A to the JV, 
retaining the freehold. The JV will then make long leases to private 
purchases and surrender the lease to the Council at practical 
completion, contingent on the preferred estate management strategy. 

• The JV will deliver the development in line with the Council’s minimum 
requirements.  

• The Council will pay the JV for the construction of the retained assets, 
i.e., the social and intermediate homes as well as the commercial 
units. 

• The Council will also provide a viability gap payment to the JV to 
bridge the viability gap of the project, this will be initially fixed at 
preferred bidder stage before contracts are exchanged which is due to 
occur Summer 2024, and only increased at the Council’s absolute 
discretion. 

• The Council has the first right of refusal to provide loan financing into 
the JV as long as commercial terms can be matched. 

 
10.2. The Council budget for Church Street Site A assumes a joint venture delivery 

through a limited liability partnership and the recommendation of this report 
matches that arrangement.  
 

10.3. Within the budget, the Council holds two separate roles. 
 

10.4. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) will act as the landowner, financing the 
scheme up to creation of the joint venture, including vacant possession, 

Page 28



 

19 
 

demolition. The site will, at a later date, be appropriated into the General Fund 
for Planning Purposes. The HRA will provide a viability gap payment to the JV 
and buy back completed affordable homes, library and commercial units.  

 
10.5. The General Fund (GF) will undertake the role of JV Member, providing equity 

and, if it chooses to, debt into the JV. The Council’s current budget assumes it 
does provide debt to the JV. A decision will be made at final business plan stage 
as to who the senior lender will be, and Council retains full rights to be the senior 
lender.  
 

10.6. This investment will be repaid from the proceeds of the private sale, with 
interest if the Council provides debt. The Council will also receive a profit from 
the JV. 
 

10.7. The budgeted position in the Council’s capital programme is set out below: 
 
Table 10.1 – Westminster’s Budget for Church Street Site A 
 

 Council Budget for Site A  
HRA as 

Landowner  
(£m) 

GF as 
JV Member  

(£m) 

Total for Site 
A  

(£m) 
 Costs up until vacant possession 67.6m - 67.6m 
 Council Financing of JV (equity and 
debt) - 96.0m 96.0m 

 Viability Gap Payment 61.8m - 61.8m 
 Buyback of social rent homes 14.7m - 14.7m 
 Total Spend 144.1m 96.0m 240.1m 
    
  Affordable Housing Fund, GLA 
grant and Community Infrastructure 
Levy funding 

(114.2m)  (114.2m) 

 Return on JV (equity, debt and 
interest income) 

 (105.0m) (105.0m) 

 Net Cost or (Net Income) 29.9m (9.0m) 20.9m 
  
 
10.8. Mount Anvil’s bid position requires a viability gap payment from the Council, 

detailed in Appendix 1, paragraph 1.3.7, and table 1.2, which is above the 
current approved HRA budget of £61.8m.  

 
10.9. This currently leads to a budget shortfall in the HRA, which will be mitigated as 

set out in Appendix 1, paragraphs 4.8 - 4.11, ensuring the HRA business plan 
remains balanced and the additional borrowing requirement is affordable The 
payments to the JV under the Viability Gap Payments  will not commence until 
unconditional, after the 2025/26 budget setting process, by which time the HRA 
business plan will be updated with the revised position. The procurement 
required bidders to submit detailed financial models that would become the 
basis of the JV’s business plan, including how the project will be funded.  

 

Page 29



 

20 
 

10.10. While the bids only fix the development management fees and profit share as 
a percentage of Gross Development Value. The initial business plan will 
become the benchmark for JV to be held account to, which was evidenced 
based on estimated cost plans, third party reports and the developers’ 
expertise. Each appointment will go through the JV’s procurement process and 
be required to evidence value for money. 

 
 

Financing Structure 
 
10.11. The first 35% of LLP cost will be funded by Member’s Loan from both parties. 

These loans will be at 0% interest and act like equity (without the restrictions of 
repayments). However, the Council will recognise £6m of historic costs incurred 
taking the scheme up to planning on day one through the issue of £6m of loan 
notes. This will require Mount Anvil to fund the first £6m of costs incurred by the 
JV until equality is reached. This will roughly coincide with going unconditional. 
 

10.12. Each Member’s Loan will be ranked equally for security and repayment.  
 

10.13. The next 65% will be funded by debt. The legal agreements do allow the Council 
first right of refusal to provide the debt itself, at market facing terms and rates. 
The Council’s current budget assumes it does exercise this right, although this 
decision will not be taken until after exchange. 
 

10.14. Initially the debt will be repaid followed by the equity, then the profit, which will 
be distributed equally amongst the partners, up to the level of profit in the initial 
business plan (20% of Gross Development Value). Any further surpluses will 
be distributed 75% to the Council and 25% to Mount Anvil, reflecting the level 
of gap payment the Council has provided. 
 

10.15. An LLP is transparent for tax purposes, meaning that Corporation tax will be 
paid at individual partner level. The Council, as a local authority, does not pay 
corporation tax and will therefore receive 100% of any profits generated. Mount 
Anvil will be required to account for their tax at a corporate level. 
 

10.16. Appendix 1 provides further detail on the structuring and financial arrangements 
for the Joint Venture. 
 

10.17. The actual returns and their timing for the Council and Mount Anvil will be 
dependent on a range of variables such as final scheme design, planning, land 
prices, sales prices, sales rates, and construction costs and these will fluctuate 
over the course of the development. These potential returns will be a mix of 
capital receipts and revenue income. The evaluation methodology included an 
assessment of the robustness of the assumptions made by bidders.  
 

10.18. The Council is providing a “Viability Gap Payment” into the JV. This represents 
the gap between the cost of delivering affordable housing and their financial 
value (based on capitalised rents). The Council is also taking external legal 
advice on the best way to provide these payments to the Joint Venture. 
 

Page 30



 

21 
 

10.19. A review of the financial model has taken place by an independent advisor who 
has confirmed that there are no material or obvious calculation issues. The 
independent advisor will be retained during the Preferred Bidder Stage to 
ensure that no issues arise during this period. 

 
11. Legal Implications  

 
11.1. The recommendations in this report pertain to the appointment of the Council’s 

Development Partner in respect of Church Street development (Site A) and to 
set up a Joint Venture partnership by way of a corporate Limited Liability 
Partnership.  
 

11.2. Section 1(1) of the Localism Act 2011 (the 2011 Act) introduced the general 
power of competence for local authorities, defined as ‘the power to do anything 
that individuals generally may do’, which expressly includes the power to do 
something for the benefit of the authority, its area or persons resident or present 
in its area, provided it is not limited by other legislation.  

 
11.3. Section 111(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 which states that a local 

authority has power to do anything (whether or not involving the expenditure, 
borrowing or lending of money or the acquisition or disposal of any property or 
rights) which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the 
discharge of any of their functions.  

 
11.4. The Council has the power to enter into contracts with third parties pursuant to 

its functions as provided for under Section 1 of the Local Government 
(Contracts) Act 1997. This would include entering into the necessary legal 
documents and agreements referred to in this report.  The Council would be 
exercising its relevant functions using its general power of competence under 
the 2011 Act together with its power to develop land under Section 2 of the 
Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963. It may also rely on Section 111 Local 
Government Act 1972 to the extent this facilitates or is conducive or is incidental 
to the exercise of its functions.  
 

11.5. In exercising its power under the Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963 the Council 
will have concluded that the development under the Development Agreement 
will benefit or improve the Council’s local area.   
 

11.6. The Council as a local housing authority has the power under Section 17 of the 
Housing Act 1985 to acquire social housing. To the extent the Council receives 
and/or was minded to exercise its right to acquire the social housing under the 
Development Agreement it would be exercising this power.  
 

11.7. The Equality Act 2010 requires that the Council must give “due regard” to the 
need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity. The 
Council must further take into account its wider public sector equality duty (the 
PSED) under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 when making any decisions 
about the delivery of the Church Street development overall.  It is noted in 
Section 8 of the report that the Council has completed an Equality Impact 

Page 31



 

22 
 

Assessment, but this should be reviewed and updated at interval periods for 
the Church Street development. 
 

11.8. The Council conducted a procurement process in accordance with the 
requirements of regulation 29 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as 
amended). This is the competitive procedure with negotiations. Mount Anvil is 
the most economically advantageous tenderer identified to be the Council’s 
selected Development Partner and enter into the legal documents summarised 
in this report. Under the competitive procedure with negotiations the Council is 
unable to negotiate the final tender submitted and therefore, it is important for 
the Council to be satisfied as to the terms upon which the selected 
Development Partner will contract and collaborate to work in partnership with 
the Council to set up a Limited Liability Partnership. 
 

11.9. The Council conducted a competitive procurement process to select its 
Development Partner to enter into the Development Agreement (and other 
associated legal documents). As stated in the Subsidy Control Act 2022 
statutory guidance, the use of a competitive public procurement process can 
lead to a legal assumption that no subsidy will have been granted as the 
Commercial Market Operator Principle will likely have been complied with. If so 
then there is no Subsidy. However, given the size of the Council financing to 
deliver the scheme, in particular the Council financing required for the Library 
and the affordable housing, the Council may consider it prudent to refer the 
matter to the Subsidy Advice Unit which is a department of the Competition and 
Markets Authority. Such referrals are required where Subsidy amounts to £10m 
or more. The Council retains the freehold interest in the Site. Once the 
conditions are satisfied under the Development Agreement and the demolition 
works at the Site have completed, the Council shall grant a lease of the Site to 
the JV LLP in order for the JV LLP to undertake the agreed development.  
 

11.10. Once the development has completed, the JV LLP shall grant underleases of 
the private market units to private purchasers and underleases of the affordable 
housing and commercial units back to the Council. The library shall form part 
of the affordable housing underlease(s) granted to the Council.  

 
11.11. Once the private units have been sold the JV LLP will either (i) serve notice on 

the Council requesting that they take a surrender or assignment of the JV LLP's 
lease or (ii) the JV LLP will assign their lease to a professional landlord. Under 
(i) the Council will become the landlord to the occupants under the private 
market units. 
 

11.12. The Council has a fiduciary duty to look after the funds entrusted to it and to 
ensure that its Council tax and rate payer’s money is spent appropriately. For 
that reason, the Council must carefully consider any project it embarks to 
ensure that it is making decisions based on a proper assessment of risk and 
rewards/outcomes.  

 
11.13. The Appendix 3 includes a summary of the key legal documents and Appendix 

2 a table of risks (and mitigations) which the Council will need to consider as 
part of its decision making. 

Page 32



 

23 
 

 
11.14. The PCSA referred to in paragraphs 8.9 to 8.11 above has a proposed contract 

value which is below the regulated threshold under Part 2 of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR).  As such, the PCSA with Mount Anvil in 
respect of the Church Street Site A development shall not be subject to the full 
requirements of the PCR. The Council can award such contract in compliance 
with its own governance process.  
 

11.15. The recommendation at paragraph 2.5 of this report seeks to delegate a future 
decision to Cabinet Member for Finance and Council Reform in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Housing to appropriate the land for planning 
purposes prior to the lease disposal to the JV pursuant to Section 122 Local 
Government Act 1972 and the subsequent use of the powers under section 203 
of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. There will also be a further decision to 
dispose of the land by way of lease to the JV. This disposal decision will be 
subject to the decision to appropriate the land. Once such appropriation has 
taken place it is likely that the land will be disposed to the JV by way of lease 
pursuant to Section 233(1) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or Section 
233(4) Town and Country Planning Act 1990. However, the details of the 
powers to be used will be set out in that future report with such disposal meeting 
the required statutory requirements for disposal of land. 
 

11.16. Section 105(1) of the Housing Act 1985 provides that the Council must consult 
with all secure tenants who are likely to be substantially affected by a matter of 
housing management and obliges the Council before making any decision on 
the matter to consider any representations made to it. The consultation must 
inform secure tenants of the proposals and provide them with an opportunity to 
make their views known to the Council within a specified period. Such 
consultation must therefore be up to date and relate to the development 
proposals in question.  Sections 105(2) and 105(3) of the Housing Act 1985 
specify that a matter of housing management would include matters which 
affect the provision of services or amenities provided to secure tenants or a 
new programme of maintenance, improvement or demolition. 
 

11.17. Delegation is also being sought from Cabinet for approval, that currently sits in 
the Shareholder Committee, to be given in this instance to officers as set out 
recommendation 2.3 for purpose of enabling all matters that need to be dealt 
with by the Council as Member of the JV LLP up and until the point of exchange 
of contracts.   Further approval is being sought to delegate approval to amend 
the Terms of Reference of the Shareholder Committee, if required, to enable 
the Council to best cater for the Council’s continuing role as Member of the JV 
LLP. 
 
 

12. Carbon Impact 
 

12.1. The Council has committed to achieve net zero carbon emissions from 
operations by 2030 and across the city by 2040, and the scheme aligns with 
Westminster’s City Plan – objective 7 which outlines WCC’s commitment to 
reduce carbon by minimising detrimental impacts from developments. Policy 36 

Page 33



 

24 
 

outlines the Council’s aim of promoting net zero developments and the means 
for doing so. 
 

12.2. The Council’s scheme at Church Street proposes an ambitious sustainability 
strategy and while construction will result in upfront carbon, the scheme has 
demonstrated a series of reductions in whole life carbon and measures to 
address fuel poverty and resilience.  
 

12.3. The development aims to divert 95% of all demolition, construction and 
evacuation waste from landfill to be reused or recycled.  The proposed 
development targets BREEAM Excellent. 
 

12.4. The scheme has been designed to extend the lifetime of building and to 
respond to the likely risks of climate change. It incorporates measures to 
mitigate overheating with self-shading and overhanging balconies and 
predominately dual aspect homes to maximise passive ventilation.  
 

12.5. The public realm has been designed to promote sustainable drainage and 
includes urban greening as a fundamental element of the site and building 
design. This includes large-scale rainwater recycling, biodiverse green and blue 
roofs and permeable pavements.  
 

12.6. Mount Anvil’s proposed scheme focuses on sustainability and provides a 
number of design changes to remove a significant amount of CO2 from the 
construction programme and to increase biodiversity net gain across the site. 
 

12.7. The assessed carbon footprint of Church Street Site A is 32tCO2e. This is a 
high-level assessment based on the level of detail currently available. As the 
design is progressed a new assessment will be carried out to provide greater 
accuracy and reflect any design changes. 
 

12.8. Westminster’s Carbon Impact Evaluation Tool was most recently completed for 
Church Street in January 2024. 
 

13. Equalities Impact  
 

13.1. The Equality Act 2010 requires public authorities to have due regard to the need 
to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity. The Council 
must take into account its wider public sector equality duty under section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010 when making decisions. The Council should have due 
regard to this duty. 
 

13.2. The Council conducted an Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) as part of the 
planning application. This EQIA was updated in September 2023 and is 
included at Appendix 4, and the Council needs to pay due regard to its findings 
when making subsequent decisions. The EQIA sets out that a developer will be 
procured to deliver the regeneration. There are no impacts of entering into a 
joint venture identified. As set out in the EQIA the next update to the EQIA is 
recommended following the appointment of a joint venture partner to discuss 
and agree responsibilities of delivering the mitigations. 

Page 34



 

25 
 

 
13.3. The EQIA covers Site A, B and C and identified a number of beneficial equality 

effects including: 
 

13.4. Net increase in 629 residential properties including social, family, wheelchair 
accessible and affordable housing. The net increase in housing should benefit 
people with priority for affordable housing, and those suffering from 
overcrowding. The Housing Needs Assessment shows that Church Street has 
high levels of people living in overcrowded conditions.  Improving housing 
quality is evident from the proposals where consultation has identified current 
homes on site not being ‘fit for purpose’ citing issues such as issues around 
access, heating and ventilation. The council is also committed to developing a 
local lettings plan for the new additional housing supply. 

 
13.5. Specific groups with high needs for access to housing and high representation 

amongst the local population include BAME groups and older people. These 
groups particularly stand to benefit from new housing as part of the scheme. 
 

13.6. Additional expenditure in the area through an increase in customers attracted 
by an improved market and better retail provision, accessibility and public 
realm. Feedback from the EQIA business survey and from public consultation 
found that there was strong support for improving the market facilities. The 
regeneration provides the opportunity to make comprehensive improvements 
to the market for existing and future traders. This includes changes to design, 
layout, appearance, storage, parking, provision of water, electricity and trader 
welfare facilities including toilets. This includes around 220 stalls, 150 van 
parking spaces, up to 4900m2 storage and facilities. The regeneration of the 
market provides an opportunity to create an inclusive environment to meet the 
need of market stall holders and their customers including those with protected 
characteristics. 
 

13.7. Employment creation in construction as well as retail and service jobs on the 
complete site. The area has high levels of unemployment and low levels of 
educational attainment and as such there is potential for those seeking work to 
benefit from such employment opportunities. 
 

13.8. A new location for the Church Street Library within Site A with an improved, 
flexible and more efficient use of space to deliver services for the local 
community. 
 

13.9. Increase in open public space, play space and community facilities. The Council 
aims to increase publicly accessible open space within Church Street ward by 
40%. This includes the provision of New Street Gardens between Church Street 
and Broadley Street as part of the Site A design update which will have 
allocated space for local play. The improved open space is likely to bring 
improvements in feelings of safety, actual safety and security, inclusive access 
and access to open space. 
 

13.10. The EQIA assessment showed a number of potential adverse effects on a 
range of protected characteristic groups (appendix 4 - table 9.2). For each the 

Page 35



 

26 
 

Council have set out their planned mitigation from June 2020 and provide an 
update on its status. These will continue to be monitored and reviewed 
throughout the development. 

 
14. Consultation  

 
14.1. The Council have worked with the local community to ensure that all key 

stakeholders are engaged and aware of the ongoing regeneration of the site. 
Extensive formal and informal engagement with the local community, including 
but not limited to local residents, businesses and market traders, has been 
undertaken, and the consultation feedback has been thoroughly reviewed by 
the team and key themes responded to. This is extensively detailed within the 
Statement of Community Involvement within the planning application. 
 

14.2. It is clear from the feedback that people who have taken part in consultation 
activities are positive about the scheme and its benefits from a number of formal 
consultations including Priorities (2018), Options (2019), Best Value (2020) and 
a two-stage planning consultation (2021). Many residents also responded that 
they felt optimistic and informed about the proposals, which were demonstrated 
during the planning consultation process, with over 2,700 comment 
contributions made on a publicly available Commonplace platform. From the 
extensive consultation feedback received, it is clear that the regeneration of 
Sites A, B and C will meet the priorities developed by the community since the 
Masterplan including: more homes, particularly affordable homes; improved 
health and wellbeing for the community; a more vibrant Church Street Market; 
improved connections, both within Church Street Ward and with neighbouring 
areas. The library, which will be prominent within Site A has evolved through 
resident feedback as the proposals developed. This included a change to 
increase the size of the library, which includes two adjacent retail units within 
its floorspace. The proposals were developed with local stakeholders such as 
the Friends of Church Street Library. 
 

14.3. Support for the scheme was most recently put to local people in the successful 
Church Street Ballot, where residents could ‘yes’ or no’ to the question’ do you 
support the proposals for the regeneration of Sites A,B and C’ .Over 13 weeks 
residents were invited to tenant and leaseholder workshops, drop-in sessions, 
and received a Landlord Offer informing residents of the proposals and what 
they would vote on. This was also supported with instructional videos about the 
ballot process and methods residents could use to cast their vote. All materials 
were translated into Arabic and Bengali, and interpreters were available at in 
person events. At each stage residents have been supported by an 
Independent Tenant and Leaseholder advisor, who provides support and 
advice to residents under the regeneration proposals. 
 

14.4. As the scheme progresses, the Council will continue to engage with residents 
on key milestones in the programme such as forthcoming demolition and any 
changes to approved planning permission before submitting amendments. 
Residents and businesses also have an opportunity to engage with the council 
through the Church Street Regeneration Group and a Business and Trader 

Page 36



 

27 
 

forum as part of the council’s commitment to consistent engagement for the 
project. 
 

14.5. By exploring each priority in detail, at every stage of the consultation process, 
the Council have created a scheme that builds on the foundation of the 
Masterplan and will help achieve our vision of transforming the quality of life for 
residents in the Church Street area.  
 

14.6. During the procurement of the joint venture partner appointment for Site A, the 
Council has engaged and involved a Church Street Estate resident in the 
procurement process to represent the community and help the Council make 
this important decision for the future of Church Street. The joint venture partner 
will have significant social value contributions as part of their contract to support 
the local community through socio-economic initiatives, local training, and 
financial contributions for example. The resident has participated in the 
negotiation sessions and has evaluated the Social Value question of the 
successful bidder’s final tender submissions.   

 
14.7. The Ward Councillors have been consulted, including a Ward Member briefing 

in February 2024. 
 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any 
of the Background Papers, please contact: 

James Green (jgreen@westminster.gov.uk) or Setareh Neshati 
(sneshati@westminster.gov.uk) 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix Exempt 
1 – Financial Implications Yes 
2 – Key Legal Risks and Mitigations Yes 
3 – Legal Summary Yes 
4 – Equality Impact Assessment - Sept 
2023 

No 

5 - Key Parameters Yes 
6 – Capital Group Review Board Gate 3 
Report Church Street Site A Joint 
Venture 

Yes 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background Paper Exempt 
1 - Church Street Site A Compulsory 
Purchase Order Resolution Cabinet 
Report - July 2023 

No 

Page 37

https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s53546/5.%20Church%20Street%20Regeneration%20Site%20A%20Compulsory%20Purchase%20Order%20Resolution.pdf
https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s53546/5.%20Church%20Street%20Regeneration%20Site%20A%20Compulsory%20Purchase%20Order%20Resolution.pdf
https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s53546/5.%20Church%20Street%20Regeneration%20Site%20A%20Compulsory%20Purchase%20Order%20Resolution.pdf


 

28 
 

2 - Church Street Site A Delivery Route 
and Consultant Appointment Cabinet 
Member Report - August 2020 

No 

3 - Church Street Outline Business 
Case Update Cabinet Member Report - 
February 2024 

No 

 

Page 38

https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s59011/CMR%20-%20Church%20Street%20Site%20A%20delivery%20route%20and%20consultant%20appointment.pdf
https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s59011/CMR%20-%20Church%20Street%20Site%20A%20delivery%20route%20and%20consultant%20appointment.pdf
https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s59011/CMR%20-%20Church%20Street%20Site%20A%20delivery%20route%20and%20consultant%20appointment.pdf
https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s58681/Church%20Street%20OBC%20Refresh%20CMR.pdf
https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s58681/Church%20Street%20OBC%20Refresh%20CMR.pdf
https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s58681/Church%20Street%20OBC%20Refresh%20CMR.pdf


Document is Restricted

Page 39

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 49

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 57

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Westminster City Council    

Church Street (Sites A, B and C)  

Equality Impact Assessment Addendum 

September 2023  

This Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) Addendum has been prepared by AECOM, on behalf of Westminster 

City Council (WCC), in order to provide further information to support planning condition 157 of the Church Street 

(Sites A, B and C) planning permission. 

Planning permission was granted on 30 June 2023 for the following development (also known as Church Street 

Sites A, B and C): 

Hybrid planning application consisting of: An application for full planning permission for SITE A, for the 

demolition of all buildings on Site A and erection of mixed-use buildings providing ground floor flexible 

commercial use floorspace (use class E), a library (use class F1), market storage (use class B8), 

residential units (Use Class C3), landscaped amenity space, disabled car parking, cycle parking, market 

infrastructure and associated works; and An application for outline permission for SITES B, C and 

Church Street Market (all matters reserved) for: 1. The demolition of buildings and structures; 2. The 

erection of buildings and works of alteration to existing buildings for the following uses: a) Flexible 

Commercial Floorspace (Use Class E); b) Community Floorspace (Use Class F1 and F2); c) Public 

houses, wine bars, or drinking establishments Floorspace (Use Class Sui Generis); d) Market Storage 

(Use Class B8), and e) Residential Floorspace (Use Class C3) and ancillary residential facilities. 

3.Associated infrastructure; 4. Streets, open spaces, landscaping and public realm; 5. Car, motorcycle 

and bicycle parking spaces and delivery/servicing spaces; 6. New pedestrian and vehicular access; 7. 

Market infrastructure and ancillary facilities; 8. Utilities including electricity substations; and 9. Other 

works incidental to the proposed development. 

WCC Ref: 21/08160/COOUT 

The planning permission is subject to Condition 157 which states that: 

157       You must submit an addendum to the Equalities Impact Assessment prior to commencement of 

any construction. The addendum will refresh the Equalities Impact Assessment submitted with the 

application and update the current position on how the identified impacts summarised in Table 9-2 have 

been assessed, monitored and/or resolved. 

The purpose of this September 2023 Addendum is to refresh the EqIA submitted with the planning application 

and provide an update on progress made on the Planned and Recommended Mitigations which are outlined in 

‘Table 9-2 – Summary of potential equality impacts of proposed Church Street regeneration’ to allow Condition 

157 to be successfully discharged.  

The update has been informed by two meetings and subsequent communications with the WCC project team. 

The update has also involved; revising the equalities baseline and socio-economic profile to reflect the most 

recently available data for the area, reviewing the policy and legislation section, and reviewing and updating the 

impact assessment section where relevant. 

In addition to the planning requirements, the purpose of the EqIA and its iterative updates has been to support 

and evidence how WCC has fulfilled its responsibility as a public authority in paying due regard to the 

requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



Westminster City Council    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SITES A, B AND C 
PLANNING APPLICATION  

EQUALITY IMPACT  
ASSESSMENT 

 
 

SEPTEMBER 2023  

Page 70



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, 
B &  C 

 Westminster City Council 
   

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
 

 

Quality information 

Prepared by  Checked by  Verified by  Approved by 

Laura Walker 
Associate Director - 
Equality and Social Impact 

 Mary Zsamboky Technical 
Director 

 Mary Zsamboky Technical 
Director 

 Steve Smith  

Technical Director 

Planning application 
update: 

Amani Bhobe: 

Assistant Consultant 

 Planning application 
update: 

Laura Walker 
Associate Director - 
Equality and Social Impact 

 Planning application 
update: 

Laura Walker 
Associate Director - 
Equality and Social Impact 

 Planning application 
update: 

Mary Kucharska 

Associate Director 

Planning condition 157 
update: 

William Keys 

Graduate Consultant 

 Planning condition 157 
update: 

Alan White 

Principal Social Impact 
Consultant 

 Planning condition 157 
update: 

Laura Walker 

Associate Director 

 Planning condition 157 
update: 

Laura Walker 

Associate Director 

 

 

Revision History 

Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position 

V1 5th July 2019 First draft for client 
review 

5th July 2019 Mary Zsamboky Technical Director 

V2 4th October 2019 Final draft for 
review 

7th October 2019 Mary Zsamboky Technical Director 

V3 15th November 
2019 

Final Version 15th November Mary Zsamboky Technical Director 

V4 24th April 2020 Site A design 
update Draft  

5th May 2020 Mary Zsamboky Technical Director 

V5 8th June 2020 Site A design 
update Final 

10th June 2020 Mary Zsamboky Technical Director 

V6 27th August 2021 Draft Planning 
Application EqIA 

27th August 2021 Mary Kucharska Associate Director 

V7 8th September 
2021 

Draft Planning 
Application EqIA 

8th September 

2021 

Mary Kucharska Associate Director 

V8 27th September  

2021 

Draft Planning 
Application EqIA 

27th September  

2021 

Mary Kucharska Associate Director 

V9 8th October 2021 Planning 
Application EqIA 

8th October 2021 Mary Kucharska Associate Director 

V10 4th January 2023 Planning 
Application EqIA - 
updated 

4th January 2023 Laura Walker Associate Director 

V11 26th September 
2023 

Planning condition 
157 – EqIA 
addendum 

26th September 
2023 

Alan White  Principal Social 
Impact Consultant 

 
 

Distribution List 

# Hard Copies  PDF Required Association / Company Name 

   

   

   

   

 
  

Page 71



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, 
B &  C 

 Westminster City Council 
   

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
 

 

 

Prepared for: 

Westminster City Council   

 

 

Prepared by: 

Laura Walker 

Associate Director - Equality and Social Impact 

E: laura.j.walker@aecom.com 

 

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited 

Aldgate Tower 

2 Leman Street 

London E1 8FA 

United Kingdom 

aecom.com 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

© 2021 AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited. All Rights Reserved.   

This document has been prepared by AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use 

of our client (the “Client”) in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and 

the terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any information provided by third parties and 

referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated in the 

document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written agreement of 

AECOM. 

  

Page 72



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, 
B &  C 

 Westminster City Council 
   

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

1.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 10 

1.2 Background .................................................................................................................................... 10 

1.3 Planning Application update to the EqIA (2021) .............................................................................. 12 

1.4 Report structure .............................................................................................................................. 13 

2. Methodology .............................................................................................................................................. 14 

2.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

2.2 Approach overview ......................................................................................................................... 14 

2.3 Desk-based review ......................................................................................................................... 14 

2.4 Primary research ............................................................................................................................ 14 

2.4.1 Church Street Housing Needs Assessment .................................................................................... 14 

2.4.2 Church Street business surveys ..................................................................................................... 15 

2.4.3 Survey Analysis .............................................................................................................................. 16 

2.5 Assessment of impacts ................................................................................................................... 16 

2.6 Recommendations and conclusions ............................................................................................... 17 

3. Policy and legislation context ..................................................................................................................... 18 

3.1 Legislation ...................................................................................................................................... 18 

3.1.1 Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty ................................................................... 18 

3.1.2 Compulsory Purchase Order .......................................................................................................... 18 

3.2 National Policy ................................................................................................................................ 19 

3.2.1 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) ........................................................................... 19 

3.3 Regional Policy ............................................................................................................................... 20 

3.3.1 London Plan (2021) ........................................................................................................................ 20 

3.3.2 Inclusive London: Mayor’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy (2018) ................................. 20 

3.3.3 London Housing strategy (2018) .................................................................................................... 21 

3.3.4 Better homes for local people - The Mayor’s Good Practice Guide to Estate Regeneration 

(February 2018) .............................................................................................................................. 22 

3.4 Local policy ..................................................................................................................................... 23 

3.4.1 Private Rented Sector Strategy 2021-2025 (January 2021) ........................................................... 23 

3.4.2 City Plan 2019 – 2040 Regulation 19 Publication Draft (April 2021) ............................................... 23 

3.4.3 Church Street Masterplan City of Westminster (December 2017) .................................................. 24 

3.4.4 Westminster Housing Renewal Strategy (2010) ............................................................................. 25 

3.4.5 Housing Strategy: Direction of Travel Statement (2015) ................................................................. 25 

3.4.6 Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas (August 2019) ......................................................... 25 

3.4.7 Policy for Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Areas (August 2019) ................................................ 26 

3.4.8 A strategy for Westminster City Council’s markets 2019-2022 ....................................................... 27 

3.4.9 Westminster Council’s City for all objectives (2018-2019) .............................................................. 27 

3.4.10 Westminster’s equality objectives 2016 – 2020 .............................................................................. 27 

4. Summary of planned regeneration ............................................................................................................. 28 

4.1 The current site ............................................................................................................................... 28 

4.2 Church Street Masterplan ............................................................................................................... 29 

4.3 Church Street Estate Regeneration - Sites A, B and C ................................................................... 29 

4.3.1 Preferred way forward .................................................................................................................... 29 

4.4 Hybrid planning application ............................................................................................................. 30 

4.5 Housing provision ........................................................................................................................... 30 

4.6 Retail and commercial provision ..................................................................................................... 32 

4.7 Community and landscape ............................................................................................................. 32 

5. Consultation ............................................................................................................................................... 33 

5.1 Public Consultation on Sites A, B & C options (2019) ..................................................................... 33 

5.2 Findings from the public consultation.............................................................................................. 33 

Page 73



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, 
B &  C 

 Westminster City Council 
   

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
 

 

5.2.1 Consultation with residents ............................................................................................................. 33 

5.2.2 Consultation with Ward Councillors ................................................................................................ 34 

5.3 Pre-Planning Consultation (2021) ................................................................................................... 34 

5.4 Findings from Public Consultation .................................................................................................. 35 

5.4.1 March 2021 ..................................................................................................................................... 35 

5.4.2 June-July 2021 ............................................................................................................................... 36 

6. Equalities Baseline..................................................................................................................................... 38 

6.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 38 

6.2 Protected characteristics ................................................................................................................ 38 

6.2.1 Population ....................................................................................................................................... 38 

6.2.2 Age ................................................................................................................................................. 39 

6.2.3 Disability ......................................................................................................................................... 39 

6.2.4 Gender reassignment ..................................................................................................................... 40 

6.2.5 Marriage and civil partnership ......................................................................................................... 40 

6.2.6 Pregnancy and maternity ................................................................................................................ 41 

6.2.7 Race ............................................................................................................................................... 41 

6.2.8 Religion or belief ............................................................................................................................. 43 

6.2.9 Sex ................................................................................................................................................. 44 

6.2.10 Sexual orientation ........................................................................................................................... 44 

6.3 Socio-economic profile ................................................................................................................... 44 

6.3.1 Deprivation ..................................................................................................................................... 44 

6.3.2 Employment .................................................................................................................................... 45 

6.3.3 Education ........................................................................................................................................ 46 

6.3.4 Health ............................................................................................................................................. 47 

6.3.5 Housing .......................................................................................................................................... 48 

6.3.6 Transport and connectivity .............................................................................................................. 48 

6.3.7 Public realm and open space ......................................................................................................... 49 

6.3.8 Safety and security ......................................................................................................................... 51 

6.3.9 Community cohesion ...................................................................................................................... 51 

6.3.10 Covid-19 Impacts ............................................................................................................................ 51 

7. Primary research - Church Street residents ............................................................................................... 54 

7.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 54 

7.2 Residents by tenure ........................................................................................................................ 57 

7.3 Resident leaseholders .................................................................................................................... 57 

7.4 Private renters ................................................................................................................................ 57 

7.5 Social housing tenants.................................................................................................................... 57 

7.5.1 Children .......................................................................................................................................... 57 

7.5.2 Older people ................................................................................................................................... 58 

7.5.3 Disability and medical issues .......................................................................................................... 58 

7.5.4 Preferences and needs regarding the Church Street Regeneration Programme ........................... 58 

8. Primary research - Church Street Market and Local Businesses ............................................................... 59 

8.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 59 

8.2 Nature of the businesses ................................................................................................................ 59 

8.3 Diversity of business owners/managers ......................................................................................... 60 

8.3.1 Employees ...................................................................................................................................... 62 

8.3.2 Customers ...................................................................................................................................... 62 

8.3.3 Businesses and the Church Street regeneration programme ......................................................... 62 

8.4 On-street surveys ........................................................................................................................... 64 

8.4.1 Frequency of visits to the Church Street area ................................................................................. 64 

8.4.2 Views on the Church Street regeneration programme .................................................................... 66 

8.4.3 Diversity of on-street survey respondents ....................................................................................... 66 

Page 74



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, 
B &  C 

 Westminster City Council 
   

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
 

 

8.4.4 Asylum Seeker status ..................................................................................................................... 67 

8.4.5 Disability ......................................................................................................................................... 68 

9. Assessment of potential equality effects .................................................................................................... 69 

9.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 69 

9.2 Homes ............................................................................................................................................ 70 

9.2.1 Construction phase – potential beneficial impacts .......................................................................... 70 

9.2.2 Permanent rehousing opportunity for tenants ................................................................................. 70 

9.2.3 Construction phase - potential adverse impacts ............................................................................. 70 

9.2.4 Potential for compulsory acquisition of leasehold properties .......................................................... 70 

9.2.5 Temporary relocation of social housing tenants .............................................................................. 71 

9.2.6 Relocation of private tenants .......................................................................................................... 73 

9.2.7 Operational phase - potential beneficial impacts ............................................................................ 73 

9.2.8 Net increase in housing provision ................................................................................................... 73 

9.2.9 Improved quality housing on the sites ............................................................................................ 74 

9.2.10 Operational phase - potential adverse impacts ............................................................................... 74 

9.2.11 Potential increase in rent for social housing tenants ....................................................................... 74 

9.2.12 Affordable housing options for resident leaseholders ..................................................................... 75 

9.2.13 Potential adverse effects with respect to loss of light ...................................................................... 76 

9.3 Market and economy ...................................................................................................................... 76 

9.3.1 Construction phase – potential beneficial impacts .......................................................................... 76 

9.3.2 Creation of new construction-related employment opportunities .................................................... 76 

9.3.3 Construction phase – potential adverse impacts ............................................................................ 77 

9.3.4 Temporary relocation of Church Street Market infrastructure ......................................................... 77 

9.3.5 Permanent or temporary relocation of businesses ......................................................................... 78 

9.3.6 Permanent or temporary loss of employment ................................................................................. 78 

9.3.7 Operational phase – potential beneficial impacts ........................................................................... 79 

9.3.8 Provision of new retail space and shopping facilities ...................................................................... 79 

9.3.9 Provision of new enterprise space in the area ................................................................................ 79 

9.3.10 Creation of new retail-related employment opportunities ................................................................ 80 

9.3.11 Regeneration of Church Street Market Infrastructure ..................................................................... 80 

9.3.12 Operational phase – potential adverse impacts .............................................................................. 81 

9.3.13 Loss of shops and businesses providing current mix of culturally specific services and goods ...... 81 

9.3.14 Loss of shops and businesses providing affordable and accessible goods and services for existing 

local community .............................................................................................................................. 82 

9.3.15 Potential for increasing rents or ‘gentrification’ of the area ............................................................. 82 

9.4 Making connections ........................................................................................................................ 83 

9.4.1 Construction phase – potential adverse impacts ............................................................................ 83 

9.4.2 Safety, security and accessibility during construction ..................................................................... 83 

9.4.3 Operational phase – potential beneficial impacts ........................................................................... 83 

9.4.4 Improvements for walking and cycling ............................................................................................ 83 

9.4.5 Increased parking/ better management of parking ......................................................................... 84 

9.5 Population & Community/Health & Wellbeing ................................................................................. 84 

9.5.1 Construction phase – potential beneficial impacts .......................................................................... 84 

9.5.2 Community engagement during regeneration ................................................................................. 84 

9.5.3 Construction phase – potential adverse impacts ............................................................................ 84 

9.5.4 Uncertainty and anxiety for existing residents ................................................................................ 84 

9.5.5 Environmental impacts of construction works on health and well-being of residents ...................... 85 

9.5.6 Loss of informal community hubs ................................................................................................... 86 

9.5.7 Operational phase – potential beneficial impacts ........................................................................... 86 

9.5.8 New Library on Church Street ........................................................................................................ 86 

9.5.9 New open/public spaces ................................................................................................................. 87 

9.6 Summary of potential impacts ........................................................................................................ 87 

Page 75



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, 
B &  C 

 Westminster City Council 
   

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
 

 

10. Recommendations and conclusions ........................................................................................................ 103 

10.1 Recommendations ........................................................................................................................ 103 

10.1.1 Priority groups .............................................................................................................................. 103 

10.1.2 Older residents ............................................................................................................................. 103 

Households with children ......................................................................................................................... 104 

10.1.3 Young people ................................................................................................................................ 104 

10.1.4 Church Street Market Stall holders and customers ...................................................................... 105 

10.1.5 BAME business owners and employees....................................................................................... 105 

10.1.6 Procurement of developer ............................................................................................................ 105 

10.2 Conclusions and next steps .......................................................................................................... 106 

 

Figures 

Figure 1-1 Church Street Masterplan – Proposed development sites ................................................................... 11 
Figure 1-2 Timescale of events in the development of the regeneration of Church Street .................................... 12 
Figure 6-1 Church Street Ward ............................................................................................................................. 38 
Figure 6-2 Percentage of people aged 16 to 64 years in employment within each ethnic group .......................... 46 
Figure 6-3 Map of open and green spaces ........................................................................................................... 50 
Figure 8-1 Type of existing businesses on-site ..................................................................................................... 60 
Figure 8-2 Age of business owners/managers ...................................................................................................... 61 
Figure 8-3 Shared protected characteristics of customers .................................................................................... 62 
Figure 8-4 Views on the existing site ..................................................................................................................... 63 
Figure 8-5 Rating of factors relating to Church Street area ................................................................................... 65 
Figure 8-6 Would you still be able to use the businesses or facilities you mentioned if they were relocated 

elsewhere? ............................................................................................................................................................ 66 
 

Tables 

Table 2-1 Survey details and response rates ........................................................................................................ 15 
Table 4-1 Breakdown of residential and other interests in the Preferred Way Forward. ........................................ 29 
Table 6-1 Population growth 2001 - 2021 .............................................................................................................. 38 
Table 6-2 Age breakdown (%) by different geographical areas ............................................................................. 39 
Table 6-3 Limiting long-term illness or disability (%) by different geographical areas ............................................ 39 
Table 6-4 Gender identity (%) in Westminster and London, 2021 ......................................................................... 40 
Table 6-5 Legal partnership status (%) by geographical area, 2021 ..................................................................... 40 
Table 6-6 Household composition and lone-parent households (%) by geographical area, 2021 ......................... 41 
Table 6-7 Ethnic groups (%) by different geographical areas ................................................................................ 42 
Table 6-8 Ethnic group projections - Westminster ................................................................................................. 43 
Table 6-9: Religion or belief (%) by geographical area .......................................................................................... 43 
Table 6-11 shows the proportion of adults by their identified sexual orientation for London and Westminster 

Borough. Westminster Borough has a higher proportion of adults identifying as Gay or Lesbian (3.5%) compared 

to London (2.2%). London has marginally higher proportion of adults identifying as Pansexual (0.4%) and Queer 

(0.1%), than Westminster Borough (0.3% and 0.0% respectively).Table 6-10 Sexual orientation (%) in 

Westminster and London, 2021 ............................................................................................................................ 44 
Table 6-11: Sexual orientation (%) in Westminster and London ............................................................................ 44 
Table 6-12 Employee jobs by broad sector group (%) across different geographical areas .................................. 45 
Table 6-13 Educational attainment (%) by different geographical areas ............................................................... 46 
Table 6-14 Tenure (%) by geographical area, 2021 ............................................................................................... 48 
Table 6-15 Household overcrowding and under-occupation ................................................................................. 48 
Table 7-1 Ethnicity of residents ............................................................................................................................. 54 
Table 7-2 Religious beliefs of residents ................................................................................................................. 56 
Table 7-3 Number of years lived in property .......................................................................................................... 56 
Table 8-1 Leasehold status of business ................................................................................................................ 59 
Table 8-2 Length of time in operation .................................................................................................................... 59 

Page 76



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, 
B &  C 

 Westminster City Council 
   

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
 

 

Table 8-3 Ethnic group of business owner/managers ............................................................................................ 61 
Table 8-4 Frequency of visits to the Church Street area ....................................................................................... 64 
Table 8-5 Main mode of travel to the Church Street area ...................................................................................... 64 
Table 8-6 Reason for visiting Church Street .......................................................................................................... 65 
Table 8-7 Alternatives to businesses in the Church Street area ............................................................................ 65 
Table 9-1 EqIA assessment framework ................................................................................................................. 69 
Table 9-2 Summary of potential equality impacts of proposed Church Street regeneration .................................. 88 

Page 77



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
10 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Introduction 

AECOM has been commissioned by Westminster City Council (‘the Council’) to provide an Equality Impact 

Assessment (EqIA) for the Church Street Estate Regeneration – Sites A, B & C.  

 

As a public sector organisation, the Council has a duty under the Equality Act 2010 and the associated Public 

Sector Equality Duty (PSED) to ensure that the regeneration of the area does not lead to unlawful discrimination 

(direct and indirect), and that it advances equality of opportunity and fosters good relations between those with a 

protected characteristic1 and all others. An EqIA is often used by public sector organisations to demonstrate how 

this duty has been discharged. It is the Council’s policy that EqIAs are undertaken, initially carried out at the 

earliest stages of project, and updated as the project develops.  

 

An EqIA is a systematic assessment of the potential or actual effects of plans, policies, or proposals on groups 

with protected characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010. The purpose of this EqIA is to consider how 

the regeneration of Church Street would contribute to the realisation of equality effects on businesses, residents 

and the community affected and will support the Council to fulfil its equality duties in relation to the PSED in 

relation to the regeneration proposal. This EqIA report is to be submitted as part of a Hybrid Planning Application 

by the council for the site at Church Street. The hybrid planning application will comprise a part detailed 

application covering Site A and a part outline application for the balance of the site which will comprise two further 

phases (Site B and Site C). 

 

The Council has been keen to produce an EqIA at the initial stages of the scheme development so as to ensure 

that plans going forward meet the project’s aim to build on the strong pre-existing neighbourhood of Church 

Street. This report therefore provides an update to three previous versions of the EqIA: 

 

• An initial EqIA which was produced for the regeneration proposals in November 2019;  

• An updated EqIA (June 2020) based on changes to the regeneration plans arising from the design update of 

Site A in March/April 2020; and 

• A further update based on additional amendments to the design of Site A between August and November 

2022. 

The EqIA provides a consideration of potential direct and indirect equality impacts (both adverse and beneficial) 

associated with the construction and operational phases of the regeneration proposals. The approach draws on 

evidence from secondary data sources, the Housing Needs Assessment for Church Street, primary research 

undertaken for the purpose of this EqIA in May 2019 and findings from the Environmental Impact Assessment 

(EIA) and Health Impact Assessment produced for the planning application.  

  

1.2 Background  

The draft Church Street Masterplan was launched in September 2017 and, following an intensive consultation, 

Westminster City Council Cabinet agreed the final draft in December 2017. The Masterplan vision for the area 

includes: 

• Around 1,750 new homes of all types, including more affordable homes for local people  

• A 40% increase in publicly accessible open space  

• An improved street market with van parking spaces and storage facilities  

• Affordable and flexible workspace and business support facilities  

• A new cultural quarter centred around the antiques market and Cockpit Theatre  

 
1 Protected characteristics are defined under the Equality Act 2010: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and marriage/civil partnership. 

Page 78



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
11 

 

 

• 7,000m² retail space provision  

• A health and well-being hub and a new community hub  

• Improved access throughout the area by balancing the relationship between pedestrians, cars and bicycles  

Figure 1-1 shows the location of the key sites within the Church Street Masterplan area.  

Figure 1-1 Church Street Masterplan – Proposed development sites 

 

In summer 2018, the Council’s Development Team engaged a consultant to develop a range of options for the 

three largest development sites within the Masterplan, Sites A, B & C and Church Street market infrastructure. 

Four options for these sites and the Market were developed ranging from maintenance to full regeneration. In 

addition, options were also developed for Gayhurst House and 6-12 Lilestone Street as part of the Lisson Grove 

Programme.  

After a period of public consultation on these options in spring 2019, a Preferred Way Forward (PWF) based on 

partial redevelopment was approved by the Cabinet Member in May 2019. The PWF was then developed into a 

partial Outline Business Case in November 2019 and was further developed into a full Outline Business Case for 

submission at the end of May 2020.  

A second period of consultation was undertaken in 2021, with the first phase occurring for 4 weeks from 3rd 

March-31st March 2021 and second, and the second from 30 June – 28 July 2021, with residents, businesses 

and market traders living and working in Sites A, B & C, the Church Street market infrastructure.  

The Council are to submit a hybrid planning application which will comprise a part detailed application covering 

Site A and a part outline application for the balance of the site which will comprise two further phases (Site B and 

Site C) in September 2021. 

Each phase of the development is expected to take between three to five years to complete, however there will 

be overlap between each phase. With this in mind the total length of the programme is currently estimated to be 

Page 79



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
12 

 

 

around thirteen years to deliver the development from commencement on site. Works are currently programmed 

to begin on site A in the second quarter of 2023. 

  

Figure 1-2 Timescale of events in the development of the regeneration of Church Street 

 

1.3 Planning Application update to the EqIA (2021) 

An initial EqIA report was produced in November 2019 with the assessment based on the partial redevelopment 

of sites A, B and C. As the financial viability work for the outline business case for Site A progressed, AECOM 

was commissioned to carry out further updates to reflect the Site A design amendments in June 2020 and 

November 2022. This considered the potential impacts associated changes to the initial design including an 

increase in the number of residential units, a reduction in retail floorspace, removal of proposed enterprise space 

allocation on the site, market trader facilities with access from Church Street, new allocation of space for the 

Church Street library and increased public open space including play space (New Street Gardens and Library 

Gardens). 

Since, the initial EqIA there were two further rounds of consultation undertaken in 2021, as well as changes in 

design and planning policy. Therefore, the Council considered it appropriate to review the initial EqIA to ensure it 

was updated and relevant prior to the planning application submission. The following updates have been made: 

• Updates to Policy Context where applicable; 

• Update to the summary of planned regeneration where applicable; 

• Details of consultation activities and feedback from March 2021 and June-July 2021; 

• Update of Equalities Baseline, where applicable including issues relating to the Covid-19 Pandemic; 

• Update of equality impacts and effects as well as the status of planned and recommended mitigation 

measures to mitigate against adverse impacts identified in the previous versions this report. 

1.4 Pre-demolition commencement update to the EqIA (August 2023) 

• Planning permission was granted on 30 June 2023 for the Church Street Sites A, B and C development. 

• The first stage of construction is the demolition of the existing buildings at the Site, starting with Site A. 

Construction will be split into two phases, one with residential and commercial development and one just 

residential. The aim of WCC is to commence work on-site before Christmas 2023. 

2012
• Future Plan is published setting out a renewal plan for Church Street

2014
• The Church Street area is designated as part of the Edgware Road Housing Zone by the Greater London Authority

Sep 
2017

• Draft Church Street Masterplan launched for Consultation

Sep 
2017

• Consultation on the draft Church Street Masterplan

Dec 
2017

• Church Street Masterplan adopted by the Council 

Summ
er 

2018

• Options developed for Sites A, B and C.

Apr 
2019

• Consultation on Church Street Site A, B and C options.

May 
2019

• Preferred Way Forward  recommendations report  prepared for Cabinet Member approval

Jun 
2019

• Preferred Way Forward Option 3 approved by Cabinet Member  

Nov 
2019

• Outline Business Case for Site A begins including viability, decanting and phasing work 

Oct 
2020

• Outline business case for planning application developed 

Spring 
2021

• Further public consultation activities

Sep

2021

• Hybrid Planning Application submitted

Jan 
2023

• Updated Planning Application documents submitted in relation to amendments to Site A design

Page 80



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
13 

 

 

• In line with the project advancement, the following updates to the EqIA have been made: 

─ Review of the legislation and policy to ensure that it is up-to-date. 

─ Update of the equalities baseline and socio-economic profile so that they present the most recently 

collected Census data. 

─ Review of the summary of impacts table with WCC to reflect the most recent updates in terms of the 

previously outlined mitigation measures and recommendations relating to each potential equality 

impact. 

1.5 Report structure  

Following on from this introduction section, the remainder of the report is structured as follows: 

• Section 2: Methodology – setting out our approach to collecting evidence and assessment of impacts; 

• Section 3: Policy and legislation review – providing context through relevant national, regional and local 

policy and legislation associated with equalities and housing and regeneration; 

• Section 4: Summary of planned regeneration – an overview of the planned regeneration as set in the 

Preferred Way Forward recommendations for Sites A, B and C and Site A design update against current on-

site provision;  

• Section 5: Consultation – a summary of consultation undertaken to date on the proposed regeneration; 

• Section 6: Equalities baseline – using secondary data sources such as Census 2011 data to form an 

understanding of the community residing and working within the area; 

• Section 7: Primary research: Church Street residents – analysis of the HNA data to understand potential 

impacts on residents; 

• Section 8: Primary research: Church Street businesses - findings of the business and on-street surveys 

undertaken for the purpose of the EqIA; 

• Section 9: Assessment of potential equality effects – an appraisal of impacts and equality effects of the 

PWF and Site A design update using the evidence gathered; and 

• Section 10: Recommendations and conclusions – high level recommendations and conclusions for 

enhancing positive equality impacts and minimising potential negative impacts based on available evidence 

to date. 

 

  

Page 81



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
14 

 

 

2. Methodology  

2.1 Introduction  

This section sets out the approach to assessment of equality effects of the Church Street Estate Regeneration – 

Sites A, B & C. The assessment considers how the regeneration could directly impact (both positively and 

negatively) commercial and residential leaseholders, tenants and occupiers who share protected characteristics 

within the footprint of the proposed Church Street Estate Regeneration.  

It also considers the potential equality effects of the proposals for those employees and customers of affected 

businesses as well as for local residents sharing protected characteristics, including direct impacts of loss of use 

of services available and indirect impacts associated with changes to the public realm immediately surrounding 

the site. 

In considering the direct effects of the regeneration proposals, this EqIA takes a 'worst case scenario'. 

2.2 Approach overview  

The approach for undertaking this EqIA and compiling this report follows a four-stage process: 

1. Desk-based review - including relevant national, regional and local policies and legislation, the proposed 

regeneration plan and secondary datasets relating to groups with protected characteristics; 

2. Primary research - including the Housing Needs Assessment, business survey and an on-street survey;  

3. Appraisal of potential impacts - informed by a consideration of the policy context, consultation responses, 

equalities baseline data, primary research survey findings; and 

4. Recommendations and conclusions. 

The approach is based on our understanding of the Equality Act 2010, particularly section 149 regarding the 

PSED, and supporting technical guidance produced by the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) as 

well as AECOM's in-house approach to conducting EqIAs. 

2.3 Desk-based review 

In addition to a review of recent relevant national, London-wide and local policies and legislation, the desk-based 

review included the following: 

• Review of all relevant and recent documentation regarding the proposed regeneration under key equality 

themes of housing, business and employment, public realm, transport and accessibility, crime and safety 

and relevant Covid-19 impacts; 

• Review of national and local datasets to develop an equalities baseline profile of groups with protected 

characteristics within and surrounding the regeneration area;  

• Review of recent impact assessments produced, notably the socioeconomic analysis of Church Street 

Masterplan (2017) and Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) (2021); and 

• Review of the consultation activities undertaken to date in relation to the proposals undertaken by the 

Council to identify any issues of relevance to this EqIA.  

2.4 Primary research  

2.4.1 Church Street Housing Needs Assessment 

A Housing Needs Assessment survey was undertaken by the Council with households in Sites A, B, C in Autumn 

2018. The survey took place with: 

• Council tenants 

• Registered provider tenants 

• Homeless households living in temporary accommodation provided by the council  

Page 82



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
15 

 

 

• Private tenants i.e. of non-resident leaseholders   

• Resident leaseholders 

• Non-resident leaseholders 

The survey consisted of interviews undertaken directly with households and collected information on all 

occupants of the household including age, disability, employment status, ethnicity and other demographics. It 

also collated data on the type of property and property facilities as well as requirements and preferences for 

moving out of Church Street. This data has been used to summarise the key issues for residents with regards to 

those with protected characteristics. The result of this analysis can be found in Section 6 of this report. 

2.4.2 Church Street business surveys  

Two separate surveys were designed in order to gather the views of those affected by the proposed regeneration 

of Church Street. Surveys were prepared for businesses and market stall-holders within the proposed 

regeneration area and an on-street survey was prepared for customers of the businesses and the market.  

The surveys were developed to capture a combination of quantitative and qualitative information to ensure that 

relevant factual information was collected, whilst also allowing respondents to share their wider views on the 

proposal and how they are likely to be affected. Questions were relevant to the needs and circumstances of this 

particular project. Diversity monitoring questions that were drawn from data in the 2011 Census were also 

included. 

The surveys adhered to best practice principles of survey design following Market Research Society guidelines. 

This included an attempt to avoid the use of leading questions and to take care in the choice of wording (e.g. 

clear, language) and type of questions (e.g. closed, open), the application of logical sequencing and simple 

layout, and consideration of questionnaire length.  

Both surveys were designed to follow the Market Research Society’s Code of Conduct2 to ensure the highest 

level of data integrity and compliance with the General Data Protection Regulations and Data Protection Act 

20183. 

The surveys were conducted by a team of trained market research interviewers with prior experience on similar 

projects associated with the equality impacts of regeneration and regeneration schemes. Interviewers were each 

provided with a briefing pack and tablet loaded with the survey forms prior to the start of the survey period. 

All members of the survey team were requested to wear AECOM ID and were provided with a letter of authority, 

which was pre-agreed with the Council. This helped to legitimise their activities and to instil confidence in 

respondents with regards to the purpose and independence of the survey.  

The survey team were managed by a supervisor who was fully briefed by the project manager on-site. The 

supervisor was responsible for ensuring that team members were on-site at the times required and to record and 

update on progress with the interviews to AECOM.  

The surveys were conducted with businesses and organisations occupying units in Sites A, B and C as well as 

market stall-holders located on Church Street. On-street surveys with customers took place on Church Street.  

The survey team visited the area between 14th May 2019 and 21st May 2019 during different time periods and 

days of the week in order to maximise availability of respondents and therefore the response rate.  

Table 2-1 summarises the approach for each of the different survey types and the response rate achieved.  

Table 2-1 Survey details and response rates 

Type of Survey Description of survey activities Response rates 

 
2 Market Research Society (September 2014) MRS Code of Conduct available at 
https://www.mrs.org.uk/standards/code_of_conduct (Last checked August 2021) 
 
3 Data Protection Act 2018 available at https://www.gov.uk/data-protection  (last checked August 2021)  

Page 83

https://www.mrs.org.uk/standards/code_of_conduct
https://www.gov.uk/data-protection


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
16 

 

 

Businesses  A list of commercial property interests in the area was collected 

by AECOM and agreed with Westminster City Council in April 

2019. The list consisted of tenants and occupiers within the site 

of the proposed regeneration. In total, the survey team 

attempted to make contact with up to 150 businesses and 

market stall holders who were deemed to be occupiers. 

Each business was visited up to three times between the 14th 

May and 21st May. The survey was either completed or an 

appointment to conduct the survey at a later date was made to 

maximise participation in the survey.  

In total 128 business interviews 

were conducted with occupiers.  

 

On-street surveys  Respondents were stopped and asked to participate in the 

survey on-street. This included a mix of customers exiting the 

businesses in the project area and passers-by. Screening 

criteria was applied to include only those that visited the project 

area at least once per week. Anyone responding that they lived 

in the area bounded by the development was asked to 

complete the resident survey also. Interviewing took place on 

Church Street.  

In total 100 members of the 

general public were interviewed 

on Church Street.   

2.4.3 Survey Analysis 

Once the surveys were completed all datasets were checked, cleaned and coded in the case of open-ended 

responses. Analysis was undertaken producing frequencies of responses as well as identifying any significant 

differences in responses by different groups with protected characteristics. Results of the surveys are provided in 

Section 6 of this report. 

2.5 Assessment of impacts 

An assessment of equality impacts has been undertaken and takes into account the information gathered through 

the above activities. A judgement has then been made as to how the regeneration process would contribute to 

the realisation of the equality effects of the planned development for affected people with protected 

characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010 as: 

• Age: this refers to persons defined by either a particular age or a range of ages. This can include children 

(aged under 16), young people (aged 16-25), older people or pensioners (i.e. those aged 65+), the elderly 

(i.e. those aged 80+);  

• Disability: a disabled person is defined as someone who has a physical or mental impairment that has a 

substantial and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. It can also 

include people who have progressive conditions such as HIV, cancer, or multiple sclerosis (MS) - even 

where someone is able to carry out day to day activities;  

• Gender reassignment: this refers to people who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 

undergone a process for the purpose of reassigning their gender identity; 

• Marriage and civil partnership: marriage and civil partnerships can be between a man and a woman or 

between two people of the same sex. Civil partners must not be treated less favourably than married 

couples;  

• Pregnancy and maternity: pregnancy is the condition of being pregnant or expecting a baby. Maternity 

refers to the period after the birth. In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 

26 weeks after giving birth;  

• Race: the Equality Act 2010 defines race as encompassing colour, nationality (including citizenship) and 

ethnic or national origins; 

• Religion or belief: religion means any religion a person follows. Belief means any religious or philosophical 

belief, and includes those people who have no formal religion or belief;  

Page 84



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
17 

 

 

• Sex: this refers to a man or to a woman or a group of people of the same sex, while gender refers to the 

wider social roles and relationships that structure men’s and women’s, boys' and girls' lives;  

• Sexual orientation: a person's sexual orientation relates to their emotional, physical and/or sexual 

attraction and the expression of that attraction. 

The assessment considers both disproportionate and differential impact. A disproportionate equality effect arises 

when an impact has a proportionately greater effect on protected characteristic groups than on other members of 

the general population at a particular location. For the purposes of this EqIA, disproportionality can arise in two 

main ways, either: 

• where an impact is predicted for the area, where protected characteristic groups are known to make up a 

greater proportion of the affected resident population than their representation in the wider local authority 

district and/or county/region; or 

• where an impact is predicted on a community resource predominantly or heavily used by protected 

characteristic groups (e.g. primary schools attended by children; care homes catering for very elderly 

people).  

A differential equality effect is one which affects members of a protected characteristic group differently from the 

rest of the general population because of specific needs, or a recognised sensitivity or vulnerability associated 

with their protected characteristic, irrespective of the number of people affected. 

In some cases, protected characteristic groups could be subject to both disproportionate and differential equality 

effects. The EqIA will consider impacts on groups of people rather than on individuals.  

Criteria used to determine differential or disproportionate impacts of the regeneration with respect to equality 

protected characteristics include: 

• People who share a protected characteristic form a disproportionately large number of those adversely 

affected by the regeneration; 

• Amongst the population affected by the regeneration, people who share protected characteristics are 

particularly vulnerable or sensitive to a possible impact in relation to their possessing a specific protected 

characteristic; 

• The regeneration may either make worsen or improve existing disadvantage (e.g. housing deprivation or 

economic disadvantage) affecting people who share a protected characteristic; 

• People with shared protected characteristics amongst the affected population may not have an equal share 

in the benefits realised as a result of the regeneration. This can be either due to direct or indirect 

discrimination or where the groups experience particular barriers to realising such benefits, unless suitable 

mitigations are proposed to overcome those barriers; and 

• The regeneration may worsen existing community cohesion amongst the affected local population or 

exacerbate conflicts with community cohesion policy objectives. 

Although income is not classed as a protected characteristic under the Equality Act 2010, the assessment also 

considers the additional impact of disproportionate and differential effects on those groups with protected 

characteristics from low-income households. 

2.6 Recommendations and conclusions 

The final section of this report sets out conclusions on the equality impacts of the proposed regeneration as well 

as setting out recommendations for mitigating against adverse impacts and opportunities enhancing equality of 

opportunity. It also sets out some indicative milestones for refresh of the EqIA. 

  

Page 85



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
18 

 

 

3. Policy and legislation context  

3.1 Legislation 

3.1.1 Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Equality Act 2010 is a major piece of UK legislation which provides the framework to protect the rights of 

individuals against unlawful discrimination and to advance equal opportunities for all. Section 149 of the Equality 

Act sets out the PSED to which Westminster Council, as a public body, is subject in carrying out all its functions, 

including in the exercise of its CPO powers.  

Those subject to the PSED must, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act; 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not; 

and 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 

These are sometimes referred to as the three aims or arms of the PSED. The Act explains that having due regard 

for advancing equality involves: 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics; 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are different from the needs of 

other people; and  

• Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities where their 

participation is disproportionately low. 

The Act states that meeting different needs involves taking steps to take account of disabled people's disabilities. 

It describes fostering good relations as tackling prejudice and promoting understanding between people from 

different groups. It states that compliance with the duty may involve treating some people more favourably than 

others.  

The duty covers the following eight protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy 

and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation as described Section 2.5 of this report. 

Public authorities also need to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination against someone 

because of their marriage or civil partnership status. This means that the first arm of the duty applies to this 

characteristic, but that the other arms (advancing equality and fostering good relations) do not apply. 

3.1.2 Compulsory Purchase Order 

Compulsory purchase powers are provided to enable acquiring authorities to compulsorily purchase land to carry 

out a function which Parliament has decided is in the public interest. Anyone who has land acquired is generally 

entitled to compensation. Local authorities have CPO powers under the Acquisition of Land Act 1981, the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 and other specific Acts of Parliament in order to promote development and 

regeneration. The CPO process comprises a number of stages, including Resolution, Inquiry, Decision and 

Compensation stages. The acquiring authority does not have the powers to compulsorily acquire land until the 

CPO is confirmed by the relevant Government minister. However, they can acquire by agreement at any time and 

the general presumption is that they should endeavour to do so before acquiring by compulsion. 

The Government guidance on CPO process4 includes an explanation of how the PSED should be considered. 

The guidance confirms that in exercising compulsory purchase powers public sector acquiring authorities must 

have regard to the effect of any differential impacts on groups with protected characteristics. 

The guidance acknowledges that an important use of compulsory purchase powers is to help regenerate run-

down areas. Although low income is not a protected characteristic in itself, it is not uncommon for people from 

 
4 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2018) Guidance on Compulsory purchase process and the Crichel 
Down Rules available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/compulsory-purchase-process-and-the-crichel-down-
rules-guidance 
 

Page 86

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/compulsory-purchase-process-and-the-crichel-down-rules-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/compulsory-purchase-process-and-the-crichel-down-rules-guidance


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
19 

 

 

ethnic minorities, the elderly, or people with a disability to be over-represented in low-income groups. As part of 

the PSED, acquiring authorities must have due regard to the need to promote equality of opportunity between 

persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. This means that the 

acquiring authority may need to develop a process which promotes equality of opportunity by addressing 

particular problems that people with certain protected characteristics might have (e.g., making sure that 

documents are accessible for people with sight problems or learning difficulties and that people have access to 

advocates or advice).  

3.2 National Policy 

3.2.1 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 5 was adopted in July 2018 and updated with minor revisions in 

February 2019 and most recently, July 2021. It consolidates the Government’s economic, environmental and 

social planning policies for England into a single document and describes how it expects these to be applied. The 

NPPF supersedes the majority of National Planning Policy Guidance and Planning Policy Statements and 

provides overarching guidance on the Government’s development aims. 

While the NPPF does not contain specific guidance on equalities, it does emphasise the importance of 

sustainable development and the need to support a healthy and just society. This is reflected in the key 

dimensions of sustainable development which relate to the economic, social and environmental roles of the 

planning system:  

• The economic role contributes to building “a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that 

sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and 

innovation; and by identifying and coordinating development requirements, including the provision of 

infrastructure”; 

• The social role supports strong, vibrant and healthy communities by “providing the supply of housing 

required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by creating a high-quality built 

environment, with accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social 

and cultural well-being”; and 

• The environmental role contributes to protecting and enhancing the “natural, built and historic environment; 

and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and 

pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy”. 

The NPPF identifies key principles that local planning authorities should ensure that they consider, including: 

• Local strategies to improve health, social and cultural wellbeing for all; 

• The delivery of sufficient community and cultural facilities and services to meet local needs;  

• The requirement to plan for the needs of different groups within communities. 

In Chapter 8, the NPPF outlines how planning policy should help promote healthy communities by taking a 

positive and collaborative approach to enable development to be brought forward. The NPPF emphasises that 

planning policies and decisions should aim to create places which offer: opportunities for social interaction and 

meetings between members of the community through the delivery of mixed-use developments, strong 

neighbourhood centres and active street frontages; safe and accessible environments which include social, 

recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs; a sufficient choice of school places to meet 

the needs of existing and new communities; and access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport 

and recreation.  

 
5 Department for Communities and Local Government, (2021); National Planning Policy Framework available at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.p
df  

Page 87

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
20 

 

 

3.3 Regional Policy 

3.3.1 London Plan (2021) 

The London Plan6 was adopted with amendments in March 2021. The Plan includes strategic and planning 

policies to encourage equal life chances for all, in recognition of social inequalities existing within the city. A 

number of policies outlined in the Plan are relevant to the proposed regeneration, including tackling deprivation, 

promoting equality and enabling different groups to share in the benefits of development, specifically:  

• Policy GG1: Building Strong and Inclusive Communities which builds on the idea that “good growth is 

inclusive growth” and requires that planning and development involves community and stakeholder 

engagement, provides access to good quality community spaces, and supports the creation of a London for 

all Londoners, where all people including protected characteristic groups (PCGs) are able to move around 

and enjoy the city’s opportunities with ease, creating a welcoming environment that everyone can use 

confidently, independently, and with choice and dignity, avoiding separation or segregation; 

• Policy SD 10: Strategic and Local Regeneration which requires development and regeneration 

opportunities address inequality and deprivation across London, by allocating Strategic Areas of 

Regeneration and Local Areas of Regeneration. The policy also highlights the need to work collaboratively 

with local stakeholders and understand local community’s needs so that regeneration can address the local 

area’s most urgent issues; 

• Policies HC1 and HC3, which highlight heritage conservation and the importance of strategic and local 

views; 

• Policies S1 to S7 concerning the provision of social infrastructure, including health and social care, 

education, sports and recreation facilities, are all relevant to equal opportunities;  

• Housing policies H1 – H16 concerning housing provision, affordable housing provision, mixed and balanced 

communities, housing choice and provision of associated play facilities, are all relevant to equal 

opportunities;  

• Design policies D6, D7 and D7, which relate to accessible design and tall buildings, which are especially 

relevant here; 

• Employment policy E11: Skills and Opportunities for all requires that strategic development proposals 

should support local employment, skills development, apprenticeships, and other education and training 

opportunities in both the construction and end-use phases, including through Section 106 obligations where 

appropriate. The Plan notes continuing large inequalities in access to jobs and levels of worklessness, and 

that low pay and gender and ethnicity pay gaps are critical issues; and  

• Employment policy E9: Retail, Markets and Hot Food Takeaways, which highlight the importance of a 

diverse and competitive retail sector, stating specifically the crucial role played by street markets in creating 

and sustaining London’s vibrant character, while also serving the shopping and leisure needs of specific 

ethnic groups.  

3.3.2 Inclusive London: Mayor’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy (2018) 

The Mayor’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy7 (EDIS) was published in May 2018. The strategy sets out 

how inequalities, barriers and discrimination experienced by groups protected by the Equality Act will be 

addressed by tackling issues such as poverty and socio-economic inequality, as well as the challenges and 

disadvantage facing London can be a fairer, more equal, integrated city where all people feel welcome and able 

to fulfil their potential.  

The strategy sets out 33 equality, diversity and inclusion objectives which include working with councils and other 

partners to: 

• Increase the supply of homes that are genuinely affordable to buy or rent. 

 
6 Greater London Authority (2016) London Plan https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-
plan  
7 GLA (2018); Mayor’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/communities/mayors-
strategy-equality-diversity-inclusion  

Page 88

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/communities/mayors-strategy-equality-diversity-inclusion
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/communities/mayors-strategy-equality-diversity-inclusion


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
21 

 

 

• Improve property conditions, management standards, security and affordability for private renters. Including 

supporting the growing numbers of households with children in private rented homes, as well as groups who 

are more likely to live in the sector.  

• Better protect Londoners living in social housing, including those affected by estate regeneration projects, to 

ensure that their views are properly heard and acted upon. 

• Improve the supply of homes available to meet Londoners’ diverse housing needs, including for accessible 

and adapted housing, specialist and supported accommodation, and Gypsy and Traveller sites.  

• Regenerate the most deprived parts of London in a way that supports good growth and opens up 

opportunities for the most disadvantaged groups.  

• Protect and provide the social infrastructure needed by London’s diverse communities.  

• Promote the use of inclusive design through planning, procurement and commissioning of projects and 

programmes.  

• Support effective ways to involve communities in the development of their neighbourhoods and the wider 

city.  

Objectives also include working with employers, education and skills providers, and voluntary and community 

organisations so that as many Londoners as possible can participate in, and benefit from, employment 

opportunities in London. This includes providing employability and skills support for those who are disadvantaged 

in London’s skills, enterprise and jobs market and increasing the diversity of the workforces in vital sectors in 

London. These include digital, construction, creative and the built environment.  

The strategy aims to encourage inclusive growth in London through better planning and provision of business 

support, including access to finance for BAME, women and disabled-led businesses, and to help save and 

sustain diverse cultural places and spaces by promoting good growth. 

3.3.3 London Housing strategy (2018)  

The London Housing Strategy was formally adopted in May 20188. The Strategy identifies its emphasis to deliver 

significant new housing across all tenures to address demand and support London’s continued economic growth. 

Its long-term ambition is to increase supply of homes, while also addressing issues such as affordable housing 

needs, quality of housing and types of tenures offered. The Strategy has a particular focus on low- and middle-

income working households, whilst also addressing the needs of vulnerable and older households. 

Key messages from the Strategy include: 

• Policy 3.1: Increasing the Supply of Land for New Homes which sets of how land supply for new 

homes should be boosted. Policy 3.1 increased supply can be achieved through increasing 

intensification, higher densities, and co-location of various purposes – as well as through “proactive 

involvement in London's land market to unlock and accelerate the pace of development.” 

• Policy 4.1: Genuinely Affordable Homes which sets out the ways in which homes should be 

“genuinely affordable” to Londoners, on the basis of affordability tests 

• Policy 5.1: Well-Designed, Safe and Good Quality Homes which states new and existing 

developments in London should have homes that are safe, accessible, good quality and environmentally 

sustainable. 

• Policy 5.1: Meeting London’s Diverse Housing Needs, which states all homes in London should be 

able to meet the needs of a range of groups, including disabled and older people. The policy also 

mentions that housing provision for Syrian refuges to be a key part of housing provision, as social 

integration should be an essential part of housing provision in London. 

 
8 LHS (2018) https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2018_lhs_london_housing_strategy.pdf  

Page 89

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2018_lhs_london_housing_strategy.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
22 

 

 

3.3.4 Better homes for local people - The Mayor’s Good Practice Guide to Estate 
Regeneration (February 2018) 

The Mayor’s Good Practice Guide to Estate Regeneration sets out the expectations for how local authorities and 

housing associations should engage with residents as part of all estate regeneration schemes, whether or not 

they include the demolition of homes. The guide outlines the Mayor's three Better Homes for Local People 

principles, specifically: 

1. An increase in affordable housing   - Local authorities should consider alternative options for demolition. 

Should demolition be pursued then like-for-like provision of floorspace for affordable housing on estate 

regeneration projects should be provided. Gap funding is available through GLA housing grant funding to 

ensure financial viability of affordable housing provision if required. Where possible, local authorities should 

also be trying to increase the density of estates to maximise potential for an increase in affordable homes. 

Landlords should adopt local lettings policies for new affordable homes for rent to help ensure that local 

people benefit from the additional homes being built.  

2. Full rights to return or remain for social tenants - Where estate regeneration plans involve the 

demolition of existing homes Councils and housing associations should seek to phase projects wherever 

possible, with the aim of ensuring that households can remain on the estate by moving no more than once. 

Social tenants who have to move as a result of estate regeneration plans, either through a single move or a 

temporary move off the estate, should be: 

▪ provided with a full right to a property on the regenerated estate of a suitable size, at the same or 

a similar level of rent, and with the same security of tenure. Households who are currently 

overcrowded should be offered homes large enough for their needs. Households who under-

occupy their current homes should not automatically qualify for a new home with the same 

number of bedrooms. For example, landlords may choose to limit the number of bedrooms 

offered to under-occupiers to a maximum of one greater than their need. 

▪ awarded high priority in the local allocations policy should they need to move into a new home 

temporarily as a result of estate regeneration. Any offer of alternative accommodation should be 

reasonable, in that it meets the needs of the household in terms of the number of bedrooms and 

any special requirements (such as wheelchair accessibility or adaptations). 

▪ offered the maximum home loss compensation permitted by legislation by landlords if they meet 

the statutory criteria and are displaced from their homes due to estate regeneration. 

▪ awarded ‘disturbance costs’ of moving home by the landlord. This means paying the reasonable 

costs of moving, such as removal costs, telephone and utility connection and installation costs, 

and the provision of new carpets and curtains. Tenants who must move more than once should 

receive home loss payments for each move. 

Furthermore, Councils and landlords should work together to make sure that private tenants on estates 

being considered for regeneration are aware of their options and rights, including signposting them towards 

alternative housing options. Councils may also have duties towards private tenants under homelessness 

legislation. Additional support and assistance should be offered to more vulnerable households living on 

estates, regardless of their tenure. In some cases, this may mean that they want to move out of the area or 

into specialist accommodation.  

Where councils or housing associations propose to let homes on short-term tenancies, they should ensure 

that new tenants are fully informed about any plans to regenerate the estate and are aware of their rights, 

including how they differ from those on secure tenancies. Short-term tenants should be reminded of these 

differences to avoid confusion at a later stage. They should also be given as much advance notice as 

possible of planned regeneration, so that alternative accommodation can be found if necessary. 

3. A fair deal for leaseholders and freeholders - Leaseholders and freeholders affected by estate 

regeneration should be treated fairly and fully compensated if their homes are to be demolished. Where it is 

necessary to acquire homes owned by leaseholders and freeholders, landlords should: 

▪ always seek to do so by negotiation in the first instance to help avoid a compulsory purchase 

process, which creates uncertainty for the household and can lead to significant delays.  

▪ offer market value (plus home loss payments where appropriate) in the first instance. Where 

compulsory purchase is required, the rights of resident and non-resident leaseholders and 

Page 90



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
23 

 

 

freeholders are set out in legislation. The purchase should be based on a value of the home 

undertaken by an independent valuer, paid for by the landlord if requested by the leaseholder or 

freeholder. The valuation must reflect the value of the property before the impact of any 

regeneration or proposed regeneration is taken into account.  

▪ consider enabling resident leaseholders and freeholders to combine market value and home loss 

payments towards the purchase price for a new home.  

▪ consider paying for other costs that might be borne by resident leaseholders and freeholders, 

such as the cost of moving home or setting up new utility connections. 

Councils and housing associations are also encouraged to consider other ways to support resident 

leaseholders and freeholders including: 

▪ support to use their equity to buy a home on the open market in the local area, with the Council 

or housing association owning the difference between the value of this equity and the market 

price of the home (either on a shared equity or shared ownership basis).  

▪ offer the right to a new home on the regenerated estate through shared equity or shared 

ownership basis. 

▪ Enable home swaps, or early buy-back arrangements.  

▪ Provide assistance throughout any process of buying a new home. 

3.4 Local policy  

3.4.1 Private Rented Sector Strategy 2021-2025 (January 2021)9 

On 6th January 2021, Westminster Council published a five-year private rented sector strategy detailing its plans 

to improve housing market conditions for tenants and to ensure the sector is well managed. The strategy 

identifies the need to ensure properties are good quality, and that all stakeholders including tenants, landlords 

and lettings agents are informed of their rights and responsibilities. This includes that support can be provided 

where needed, including taking action when the law is broken. The strategy includes the four interconnected 

aims: 

• Aim one: Improve conditions in the private rented sector and ensure lawful practices 

• Aim two: Support and engage with tenants, landlords and lettings agents 

• Aim three: Improve knowledge and intelligence about the sector and work with other organisations that 

give advice and support to tenants, landlords and lettings agents 

• Aim four: Help to improve the energy efficiency of the private rented sector 

3.4.2 City Plan 2019 – 2040 Regulation 19 Publication Draft (April 2021) 

Westminster’s City Plan10 is the key policy document for determining planning applications in Westminster and 

contains the most up-to-date policies. This document was formally adopted in April 2021, following the publication 

of the Inspector’s report on 19th March 2021. 

The City Plan 2019 – 2040 contains a number of policies which are relevant to promoting equality and tackling 

existing disadvantage, and to the renewal of Church Street specifically, including: 

• Objective 2 of the City Plan is to “Enable job growth across a range of sectors vital to the UK economy and 

ensure those from disadvantaged backgrounds benefit from the opportunities this presents”. 

• Policy 1 Westminster’s spatial strategy sets out the ambition to deliver growth via, among others, the 

renewal of Church Street / Edgware Road Housing Renewal Area. This policy also contains the requirement 

for 35% of new homes to be affordable.  

 
9 Private Rented Sector Strategy (2021) 
file:///C:/Users/amani.bhobe/Downloads/Private%20Rented%20Sector%20Strategy%202021-2025.pdf  
10 Westminster Council (2019) City Plan 2019 – 2040 Regulation 19 Publication Draft 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/cityplan2040 

Page 91

file:///C:/Users/amani.bhobe/Downloads/Private%20Rented%20Sector%20Strategy%202021-2025.pdf
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/cityplan2040


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
24 

 

 

• Policy 6 Spatial Development Priorities - Church Street / Edgware Road and Ebury Bridge Estate 

Housing Renewal Areas outlines the priorities in the regeneration of the Church Street /Edgware Road 

Housing Renewal Area. It indicates that the Church Street Masterplan constitutes the framework for 

development and is a material consideration for any planning application. This will include at 2,000 high 

quality new homes in accordance with the Church Street Masterplan, improved facilities for Church Street 

Market Infrastructure and the renewal of the Ebury Bridge Estate. The policy also states there will be at 

least 350 new jobs, and new community facilities, including new health and wellbeing facilities. 

• Policy 9 Affordable housing requires that the affordable housing provision will be between ‘intermediate’ 

affordable housing for rent and sale (60%) and social or affordable London rent (40%). The Council will 

maximise the provision of additional affordable housing in designated housing renewal areas. 

• Policy 10 Housing for specific needs sets outs that residential development will provide a housing mix to 

secure mixed and inclusive communities and contribute towards meeting Westminster’s housing needs for 

different groups. This policy includes provisions for family sized homes, specialist housing, older people’s 

housing, purpose-built student accommodation, and provisions for gypsies and travellers.  

• Policy 14 Town centres, high streets and the CAZ sets out that the intensification of town centres, high 

streets and the CAZ will be supported in principle. This policy provides a section on markets, which states 

that “suitably located, well designed and managed markets” are key aspects of the culture and diversity of 

the city, and specifically mentions Church Street as a key council-run market within Westminster. The policy 

also states that existing markets will be enhanced through partnerships with traders, residents and 

businesses, in line with the council’s Market strategy. 

• Policy 43 Public realm sets out that development should create “a well-designed, clutter free public realm” 

and high-quality soft landscaping should be integrated as part of the streetscape design. Furthermore, 

pressures on space in Westminster mean the council has emphasised that inclusivity and accessibility are 

priorities for public realm development and maintenance, with an emphasis placed on disabled people, 

children and those with dementia and mobility requirements.  

• Policy 17 Community infrastructure and facilities states that community facilities and floorspace will be 

protected and that major development will contribute to employment, education and skills initiatives. 

3.4.3 Church Street Masterplan City of Westminster (December 2017) 

The Church Street masterplan, which was adopted by the Council in December 2017, builds on the themes in the 

Futures Plan. The Futures Plan is a renewal plan for the Paddington Green, Church Street and Lisson Grove 

area, prepared during 2011 and published in 2012.  

The masterplan seeks to deliver real change for the community by creating great places, opportunities for a 

healthy and prosperous lifestyle, new homes and more jobs. The masterplan addresses four interconnected 

themes and drivers of change:  

• Homes – Developing new and better homes;  

• Health & Wellbeing – Provide new community, health and wellbeing facilities and increase accessible open 

space;  

• Market & Economy – Improve the market, provide affordable workspace and employment opportunities; 

and 

• Making Connections – Create a new pedestrian priority street and improve the public realm offering.  

The masterplan is divided into a number of broad geographical study areas which are Lilestone Street, Church 

Street Sites (A, B and C), Lisson Grove, Gateforth and Cockpit Theatre, Little Church Street, A number of sites 

have previously been identified for regeneration by the Futures Plan and are currently being developed or will be 

developed before the first main masterplan sites come forward. 

Page 92



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
25 

 

 

3.4.4 Westminster Housing Renewal Strategy (2010) 

In 2010 the Council published a Housing Renewal Strategy11 that set out plans for housing renewal over a 

number of years and a number of programmes are underway. The key objectives of the strategy are to: 

• Increase the supply and quality of affordable homes to meet a variety of local needs, including housing for 

families; 

• Improve the quality of the local environment with outstanding green and open spaces and housing that 

promotes low energy consumption and environmental sustainability; 

• Promote a high quality of life for people of all ages and backgrounds, in safe, cohesive and healthy 

neighbourhoods, supported by a range of high-quality housing and excellent community facilities; 

• Enable people to maximise economic opportunity in Westminster with support for training, employment and 

enterprise, and housing tenures which help those in work to remain in the city; and 

• Create a more distinct sense of neighbourhood, ending the physical divide between Westminster’s estates 

and surrounding local streets. 

3.4.5 Housing Strategy: Direction of Travel Statement (2015) 

In 2015, a Housing Strategy Direction of Travel Statement was published, which set out the Council’s intentions 

to deliver existing housing renewal programmes and to work towards housing renewal becoming business as 

usual including at Church Street. The strategy built up on the draft Housing strategy that was consulted on in 

June and July 2015. It sets out the direction that the Council intends to take with regards to new affordable 

housing, intermediate housing, disposal of affordable properties, reviewing CityWest home, the private rented 

sector and energy efficient homes. 

It also provides a direction for residents’ health, housing and support for vulnerable people, older peoples’ 

housing, flexibility in allocating social housing and homelessness. 

3.4.6 Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas (August 2019) 

The Council’s Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas12 sets out the rehousing options, headline financial 

compensation and the general processes that will be followed when homes occupied by council tenants need to 

be acquired. It also sets out the general approach to be taken when homes occupied by other tenants (including 

private and temporary accommodation) need to be acquired. 

The policy states that all tenants will be supported by a named officer and have access to an independent 

advisor. Additional assistance will be provided to vulnerable tenants and the Council may work with third parties, 

including family members, social services and health practitioners to identify and address any special needs. 

Tenants will be entitled to claim two sorts of financial payment:  

• A home loss payment – a statutory payment amount set by the Government to compensate them for 

having to move at a time which is not of their choosing; and 

• A disturbance payment – to cover all the reasonable costs of moving. If a tenant has opted to return to the 

Housing Renewal Area but needs to move away temporarily while the new homes are built, they will be 

entitled to two disturbance payments. 

Council tenants, including introductory, secure or flexible or those in community supportive housing, has the right 

to a new social home in the Housing Renewal Area. They have the following options: 

• Option 1: Move straight into one of the new social homes, if this is possible; or 

• Option 2: Move into another social home in Westminster for a temporary period, but then move into one of 

the new social homes in the Housing Renewal Area when they are ready. 

 
11 Westminster Council (2010) Westminster Housing Renewal Strategy 
http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/wcc_housing_renewal_report2010_lowres.pdf 
 
12 Westminster Council (2019) Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/policy_for_tenants_in_housing_renewal_areas_2019_final.pdf 

Page 93

http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/wcc_housing_renewal_report2010_lowres.pdf
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/policy_for_tenants_in_housing_renewal_areas_2019_final.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
26 

 

 

Tenants that do not want to move into one of the new homes can also take the following option: 

• Option 3: Move into another social home in Westminster, this might be in the same general area, or in 

another part of Westminster. It could also be into Community Supportive Housing (sheltered housing) for 

those that are eligible and 60 or over. 

For tenants that want to become home owners: 

• Option 4: Tenants will have high priority for any new intermediate homes built in the housing renewal area 

and which are for sale, so they can get on the housing ladder. To qualify for this option, tenants will need to 

be eligible for “intermediate housing13” and be able to afford to buy the new intermediate homes. 

The policy sets out the rehousing process for tenants as follows: 

• Stage 1: The Housing Needs Survey – at this stage the tenant considers their options and the Council finds 

out about who is in the household, the type of new home needed and any particular needs the tenant has. 

• Stage 2: The Assessment – at this stage a detailed assessment is undertaken of the size and type of new 

home needed. 

• Stage 3: Rehousing begins – at this stage the option chosen is confirmed in writing and generally cannot be 

changed. Rehousing will then start. 

All homeless households that have been placed in temporary accommodation by the Council will be visited and 

advised of the relevant timescales, such as when they will need to move and the processes that will be followed. 

They will generally be offered alternative temporary accommodation but households in temporary housing do not 

have a right to remain in or return to the Housing Renewal Area and the above options do not apply to them. 

Temporary accommodation can be in different locations and some is outside London. All households in temporary 

accommodation in housing renewal areas will be prioritised for alternative temporary accommodation in London. 

Households with the highest needs will always be prioritised for temporary accommodation in Westminster and 

adjoining boroughs. In order to avoid households moving twice, where a household in temporary accommodation 

is estimated to be within twelve months of being able to successfully bid or be made offers for social housing, 

they will be awarded additional priority to bring this forward. 

The policy states that every effort to communicate will be made by the Council with private tenants as early as 

possible to explain what is happening and when. All private tenants will be visited at least once and informed 

where they can get further advice, particularly if they are at risk of being homeless as a result of housing renewal. 

Those at risk of homelessness will be referred to the Council’s Early Intervention Trailblazer Service. Additional 

support will be offered to vulnerable households where it is needed. 

The policy was consulted on in January and February 2019 and the responses helped to shape them. The policy 

was also subject to an EqIA. An easy-to-read summary leaflet version of the policy will also be produced. 

3.4.7 Policy for Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Areas (August 2019) 

The Council’s Policy for Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Areas14 sets out headline financial compensation and 

assistance leaseholders will receive from the Council where their properties are identified for acquisition, as well 

as the Council’s overall approach to acquiring properties. 

Resident leaseholders have five options if they wish to remain in the housing renewal area (Options 1-5) and one 

option if they want to move away (Option 6): 

• Option 1 - Buy one of the new homes with an equity loan or on a shared equity basis; 

• Option 2 - Buy one of the new homes on a shared ownership basis; 

• Option 3 - Buy one of the new homes outright; 

• Option 4 - Buy another leasehold property in the housing renewal area; 

• Option 5 - Become a social or an intermediate tenant in the housing renewal area; and 

 
13 Intermediate housing refers to housing for working people that aren’t eligible for social housing but can’t afford market 
housing. This is let through the Council’s intermediate housing service called Homeownership Westminster. 
14 Westminster Council (2018) Policy for Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Areas 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/leaseholder_policy_for_housing_renewal_areasfinal21.9.2018.pdf 

Page 94

https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/leaseholder_policy_for_housing_renewal_areasfinal21.9.2018.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
27 

 

 

• Option 6 - Receive help and support to move away from the housing renewal area. 

The policy also covers arrangements for buying with Options 1, 2 and 3 including temporary housing where 

required, process for buying, and new homes. 

There is only one option for non-resident leaseholders, which is to sell their property to the Council and receive 

the statutory financial compensation. This includes receipt of market value of the property being acquired plus a 

basic loss payment, which is 7.5% of the market value of the property (this is capped by the Government at 

£75,000). Non-resident leaseholders are also entitled to a disturbance payment in relation to costs incurred in 

acquiring a replacement property, within one year. 

The policy went through public consultation in 2018 and replaces the previous version published in 2014. The 

policy was also subject to an EqIA. An easy-to-read summary leaflet of the policy has also been produced15. 

3.4.8 A strategy for Westminster City Council’s markets 2019-2022 

Within the City of Westminster there are nine regular street markets with approximately 300 pitches including 

Church Street. In 2018, Westminster City Council ran a public consultation on the markets over 12 weeks. The 

results of the consultation were used to inform the market strategy16, which is a three-year framework to take 

forward the priorities identified during the consultation.  

3.4.9 Westminster Council’s City for all objectives (2018-2019) 

Westminster City Council’s ambition set out under the ‘City for All’ vision is to be a place where all people are 

born into a supportive and safe environment, grow and learn throughout their lives, build fantastic careers in 

world-leading industries, have access to high quality, affordable homes and retire into the community with dignity 

and pride. The ambition is to be realised under the following areas. 

• City of opportunity; 

• City that offers excellent local services; 

• Caring and fairer city; 

• Healthier and greener city; and 

• City that celebrates its communities. 

3.4.10 Westminster’s equality objectives  

Under the Equality Act 2010, local authorities must prepare and publish one or more objectives they think they 

should achieve to do any of the things mentioned in the aims of the PSED. The aim of the equality objectives is to 

help focus attention on the priority equality issues within an organisation in order to deliver improvements in 

policy making, service delivery and employment. Objectives should be updated at least every four years, be 

specific and measurable and published in a way that is accessible to the public. Westminster City Council’s 

corporate equality objectives17 are: 

• Staff will represent the demographic of our communities at all levels of the organisation.  

• Understand our diverse communities and embed that understanding in how we shape all that we do across 

the Council.  

• Support Westminster’s communities to be sustainable, socially inclusive and empowered to act, when they 

are best placed to do so.   

• Demonstrate inclusive leadership, strategic partnership and a clear organisational commitment to be a 

leader in equality, diversity and inclusion in the city.   

 
15 Westminster Council (2018) Leaseholders: Policy for Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Areas 2018  
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/housing-policy-and-strategy/leaseholder-policy-housing-renewal-areas 
16 Westminster Council (2018) A strategy for Westminster City Council’s markets 2019-2022 
https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s31725/4.1.%20Market%20Strategy%20Final%20Doc.pdf  
17 Westminster City Council [2022] Equality objectives [online] available at: https://www.westminster.gov.uk/equality-and-
diversity#our-equality-objectives  
 

Page 95

https://www.westminster.gov.uk/equality-and-diversity#our-equality-objectives
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/equality-and-diversity#our-equality-objectives


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
28 

 

 

4. Summary of planned regeneration 

4.1 The current site 

The Church Street area is approximately 44 hectares and is located west of Regent’s Park, close to major public 

transport hubs (Marylebone, Edgware Road and Paddington stations) and to many city centre amenities such as 

London’s West End. The area covered by the masterplan is closely aligned with the Church Street ward and is 

bound by Regent’s Canal, to the north, Edgware Road to the West, the National Railway line serving Marylebone 

station to the east, and Marylebone and Rossmore Roads to the south. 

Figure 4-1: Site Location Plan 

 

Source: WCC, 2021 

 

Sites A, B and C are identified as the following: 

 

• Site A - land bounded by Edgware Road, Church Street, Penfold Street and Broadley Street (Site A); 

• Site B - land bounded by Penfold Street, Church Street, Salisbury Street, and Broadley Street (Site B); 

• Site C - land bounded by Edgware Road, Boscobel Street, Penfold Street and Church Street (Site C); and 

• Church Street Market infrastructure 

The Church Street area contains a diverse mix of land uses, with a good range of services and amenities 

catering for the neighbourhood. This street is characterised predominantly by retail, restaurants and cafes, and 

accommodates the Church Street Market infrastructure, one of the older street markets in London. The area is 

also home to a significant concentration of social and entrepreneurial organisations. Office space is relatively 

limited in the area although a small concentration of office buildings can be found on or in close proximity to 

Marylebone Road. The area currently possesses three primary schools, and a secondary school, along with a 

number of community and youth facilities.  

Page 96



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
29 

 

 

The area also contains a number of residential and commercial leaseholders and sub-leaseholders. The majority 

of the properties are non-residential and currently occupied.  

4.2 Church Street Masterplan  

The Church Street Masterplan for the area was approved by Cabinet Committee in December 2017 and identified 

the following potential regeneration sites: 

• Church Street sites A, B & C; 

• Lisson Grove (part of which includes the current Council offices land, referred to as the Orchardson Street 

site); 

• Lilestone Street (includes Penn House and 4 Lilestone to the front, Gayhurst House & 6-12 Lilestone Street 

to the middle and Greenside Community Centre to the rear); 

• Gateforth and Cockpit Theatre; and 

• Little Church Street. 

4.3 Church Street Estate Regeneration - Sites A, B and C 

4.3.1 Preferred way forward 

In summer 2018, the Council’s Development Team engaged a multidisciplinary consultant to work up a full range 

of options for the three largest development sites within the Church Street Masterplan; Sites A, B & C and Church 

Street market infrastructure. The Council and its Consultants developed four options for these sites and the 

Market. These are as follows: 

• Option 1 Maintenance: ‘Business as usual’, with maintenance continuing at current levels, and no change 

for leaseholders or tenants.   

• Option 2 Refurbishment: All homes refurbished.   

• Option 3 Part refurbishment, part regeneration: Many buildings in sites A, B and C replaced, with the 

remainder undergoing refurbishment as in Option 2.  

• Option 4 Full regeneration: All of the homes and shops in sites A, B and C would be replaced. 

Following public consultation on the above options, Council officers developed a Preferred Way Forward (PWF) 

based on Option 3 (part refurbishment and part regeneration) to progress Sites A, B & C and Church Street 

market infrastructure. Although not included in Option 3, properties on Edgware Road in Site C were also 

included in the scope of regeneration for the PWF. In addition, Kennet House which was originally included in 

Option 3 was to be retained due to public demand. 

Table 4-1 provides details of the residential commercial and other property interest that will be affected by the 

regeneration proposals for Sites A, B and C. 

Table 4-1 Breakdown of residential and other interests in the Preferred Way Forward. 

Site  Approx. no of 

residential properties 

Westminster City Council 

Residential Freeholds 

Other Residential 

Freeholders 

Commercial and other 

interests 

A 176 Blackwater House, Cray 

House, Ingrebourne House, 

Lambourne House, Pool 

House 

 

n/a Retail units, market storage and 

basement parking and market 

pitches in front of these 

buildings on Church Street 

B 177 Eden House, Lea House, 

Medway House, 

Ravensbourne House, Roding 

House, Wandle House 

n/a Retail units, basement parking 

and the Church Street Library 

and market pitches in front of 

these buildings on Church 

Street 

Page 97



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
30 

 

 

 

 

The Cabinet Member for Finance, Property and Regeneration approved the proposals in connection with 

progressing Option 3, to: 

• Authorise Officers to consider the inclusion of the properties on Edgware Road on Site C in the scope of 

regeneration of Option 3;  

• Authorise Officers to enter into voluntary negotiations with leaseholders in any or all blocks within Sites A, B 

& C (with the exception of Kennet House) to apply the acquisition budget to acquire all leasehold interests 

by agreement at open market value and offer compensation in line with the Council’s Policy on 

Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Areas; and 

• Authorise the implementation by Officers of the Council’s Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas (as 

updated from time to time) to include all blocks in Sites A, B & C (with the exception of Kennet House). 

4.4 Hybrid planning application (2021) 

The Hybrid Planning Application seeks part-detail/part-outline planning permission for the following: 
  

• Detailed planning application for Site A, for the demolition of all buildings on Site A and erection of mixed-

use buildings providing ground floor flexible commercial use floorspace (use class E), a library (use class 

F1), market storage (use class B8), residential units (use class C3), landscaped amenity space, car parking, 

motorcycle parking, cycle parking, market infrastructure and associated works. 

 

• A Phased Outline planning application (Sites B, C and the Church Street Market infrastructure) (all matters 

reserved) for the balance of the site for: 

  

1. The proposed demolition of buildings and structures; 

2.  The erection of buildings and works of alteration to existing buildings for the following uses: 

a) Flexible Commercial Floorspace (Use Class E); 

b) Community Floorspace (Use Class F1);  

c) Sui Generis Floorspace (Use Class Sui Generis); and 

d) Residential Floorspace (Use Class C3) and ancillary residential facilities. 

3. Associated infrastructure; 

4. Streets, open spaces, landscaping and public realm; 

5. Car, motorcycle and bicycle parking spaces and delivery/servicing spaces; 

6. New pedestrian and vehicular access; 

7. Market infrastructure and ancillary facilities; 

8. Utilities including electricity substations; and 

9. Other works incidental to the proposed development. 

4.5 Housing provision 

The existing residential units, comprising predominantly a mixture of social housing and private rented 

accommodation will be part redeveloped and part refurbished.  

The existing unit mix for each Site is set out in Table 4-2 (a, b and c) below.  

 
  

Site  Approx. no of 

residential properties 

Westminster City Council 

Residential Freeholds 

Other Residential 

Freeholders 

Commercial and other 

interests 

 

C 139 Colne House, Darent House, 

Derry House, Isis House, 

Windrush House, Mole House 

 

Nos 288 to 240 

Edgware Road 

Retail units, market storage and 

basement parking and market 

pitches in front of these 

buildings on Church Street 

Page 98



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
31 

 

 

Table 4-2a: Site A Unit Mix 

 

 

Site A 

Bedroom  Social rented  Market Total  

1 58 6 64 

2 0 22 22 

3 40 18 58 

4 0 1 1 

Total N/A 98 47 145 

 

Table 4-2b: Site B Unit Mix 

 

 

Site B 

Bedroom  Social rented  Market Total  

1 62 38 100 

2 3 36 39 

3 19 15 34 

4 1 2 3 

Total N/A 85 91 176 

 

Table 4-2c: Site C Unit Mix       

 

 

Site C 

Bedroom  Social rented  Market Total  

1 27 11 38 

2 8 10 28 

3 8 7 15 

4 2 6 8 

Total N/A 45 34 79 

 
The scheme proposes a total of 1121 residential dwellings with a diversity of tenure mix equating to a net increase 

of approximately 629 homes.  

 

New homes will be designed in accordance with the Nationally Prescribed Space Standards. Furthermore, 10% of 

the proposed new homes will be designed to be adaptable for wheelchair users.  Subject to viability, the 

development will target a 50% Affordable Housing provision with an overall increase in 129 social housing units. 

The proposed headline split is currently set at 60:40 between intermediate and social housing, respectively. Table 

4-3 sets out the proposed tenure mix for the planning application. 

 

Table 4-3: Tenure Mix 

 Site A  Indicative Unit Mix (Whole Site) 

Market Sale 215 units 567 units 

Social Reprovision 98 units 228 units 

New Social 73 units 156 units 

New Intermediate 43 units 170 units 

Total Units* 429 1121 

Family (3+bedrooms 82 units 176 units 

Wheelchair accessible housing 53 units 122 units 

*(including family and wheelchair accessible housing) 

The overall floorspaces for the whole application, across Sites A, B and C are set out in Table 4-4 below. 

 

Table 4-4: Tenure Mix 

Use Class (id)  Area (sqm) GIA  

Residential floorspace (C3)  103,000  
Storage and distribution floorspace (B8)  4,900  
Flexible commercial floorspace (E)  3,187  
Community floorspace (F1)  1,000  
Parking and delivery hubs  8,500  
Plant and service spaces  5,500  
Sui generis  174  

 

Page 99



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
32 

 

 

It is worth noting that Site A is split into two urban blocks, separated by a new pedestrianised street referred to as 

‘New Street Gardens’ and will consists of 429 residential units. The heights on Site A will be generally 9-11 

storeys. On Church Street the height is 10 and 11 storeys reducing to 8 storeys on the Edgware Road frontage. 

The 10-storey elements have two-storey Road frontage is effectively 7 storeys. There is a localised point of 

height of 14 storeys on the corner of Broadley Street and Penfold Street adjacent to Broadley Gardens. 

4.6 Retail and commercial provision  

Church Street Market infrastructure will be provided for in the regeneration with capacity for 220 stalls. The 

market will also experience improvements in terms of design, layout, appearance, storage, parking (4 market van 

spaces), provision of utilities and welfare facilities including toilets. 

Along Church Street will be new fit for purpose retail units for new and existing businesses including a new 

supermarket. However, there will be a net reduction in the number of retail units available across the regeneration 

area. 

Site A will deliver 398sqm GIA of Class E floorspace, 922sqm of delivery and storage facility for market traders 

(Class B8) and 1,511 sqm GIA of parking.    

As described above, Sites B and C are proposed in outline form so will comprise maximum parameters for 

development.  However, Site B comprises a single courtyard block with a mix of uses. Commercial and/or 

Community use on Church street and corners of Salisbury and Penfold. Community and/or commercial space on 

corner of Broadley and Salisbury. 

 

Site C comprises a single courtyard block with a wing extending along Venables Street to Church Street. The 

building will have a mix of use space. The proposed building will introduce an active frontage of commercial / 

community use to Venables Street enhancing the quality of the pedestrian connection between Boscobel Street 

and Church Street. 
 

4.7 Community and landscape 

A new library will be provided replacing the existing library located in Site B. This will be located in a prominent 

and highly visible location on Church Street contributing to the mix of uses and activity on the street in site A. The 

library will also provide flexible space accommodating existing services provided at the current site. In total Site A 

will include 605sqm GIA of community floorspace (Class F1). 

At the time of planning application, the Masterplan is set to deliver 2,478 m2 of public open space (15.4% of total 

proposed open space) at Site A and 16,043 m2 of public accessible open space (41.8% of the total site area) along 

with 6,808 m2 of communal amenity space (17.7% of the total site area) overall. Furthermore, the proposed 

development scheme itself will deliver 5,664m2 (+8,570m2 offsite) of child play space. 

Public open space will be provided at New Street Gardens running between Church Street and Broadley Street in 

Site A. This will also include inclusive and local play space for 5–11-year-olds as well as open space for local 

residents and visitors. Private outdoor space will be provided through ground floor courtyards and podium 

gardens. 

Site B and C will deliver a minimum 3% accessible car parking per dwelling will be provided within any Site, with 

additional accessible car parking spaces provided through conversion of other space where demand necessitates 

in the future.   

 

Commercial car parking is to be retained at approximately 4 spaces in Site A.  50% of residential spaces will have 

active electric vehicle charging, the remaining 50% to have passive electric vehicle charging.  It is proposed that 

100% active provision for electric charging will be provided for market van spaces. 

  

Page 100



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
33 

 

 

5. Consultation 

This section presents an overview of consultation undertaken to date by the Council in relation to the proposed 

development.   

5.1 Public Consultation on Sites A, B & C options (2019) 

Preceding the 2021 Pre-Planning Consultation, an Options Consultation was undertaken over an 8-week period 

from 7 March – 30 April 2019 with residents, businesses and market traders living and working in Sites A, B & C, 

the Church Street market infrastructure and the wider Church Street community.   

The consultation process was widely publicised with over 6,000 invitation flyers distributed, 160 posters 

displayed, invitation letters sent to all resident – tenants and leaseholders in Sites A, B & C and invitation e-mails 

sent to resident’s associations, the Neighbourhood Forum, schools, Councillors, the local MP, business forum, 

Church Street library, community organisations, Central Area Panel and various youth clubs.  

During this time, the Council used 35-37 Church Street as a consultation base from which it hosted an exhibition 

with models and visualisations of the options. It was open every weekday from 10am to 4pm, with some weekend 

and evening openings. Workshops and themed drop-in events for engaged resident groups, business forum, 

market traders and youth groups were also held. A website with consultation information was also set up. 

The consultation team also visited local schools and community organisations. Meetings were held with 

stakeholders including the committee of the Church Street Ward Neighbourhood Forum, ward Councillors, 

Church Street library etc.   

All residents on the three sites were door-knocked to inform and encourage participation. Targeted door-knocking 

exercise was also undertaken to engage with the underrepresented sections of the community.  

A total of 236 people attended the exhibition and 75 people attended the themed drop-ins and workshops. A total 

of 165 people provided written feedback including 100 respondents living on Sites A, B & C.  

5.2 Findings from the public consultation  

This section summarises the key findings of the consultation on Sites, A, B and C and Lilestone as reported in the 

Consultation report (May 2019) including issues associated with groups with protected characteristics.  

Overall, consultation responses indicated strong support for regeneration of Church Street Sites A, B & C. When 

taking in to account the responses to both the general and detailed views on the options, alongside written 

support from stakeholders, and the poster campaign, the community displays a slightly higher preference for 

Option 3. The majority of respondents 63% of respondents thought Option 3 met or exceeded the needs of the 

community and this was the highest scoring of all of the options, the response rate amongst social housing 

tenants was even higher at 73%. 

5.2.1 Consultation with residents 

Many residents expressed support for change while also communicating concern about the level of disruption 

and the impact this would have on them individually and on the community.  

 

A key theme from discussions with residents was frustration at the perceived slow pace of change, linked with the 

fact that the uncertainty that this created was unsettling.   

 

Within the individual buildings in Church Street Sites A, B and C, a majority of the residents who took part in the 

consultation acknowledged that these buildings were no ‘longer fit for purpose’.  They specifically cited issues 

with: 

 

• access;  

• heating and ventilation; and 

• anti-social behaviour. 

 

Page 101



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
34 

 

 

However, there was a strong view from residents living in Kennet House that this building had merit, that those 

living there wanted to stay and that it should be retained. 

 

Where residents were social tenants, concerns were primarily focused on when they might have to move and 

exactly what alternative accommodation they would be offered.   

 

A number of social tenants were very specific in their questioning, seeking specific information about the blocks 

that they might move to and the precise sizes of any new homes.  

   

In addition to concerns about moving, some older residents were specific in saying their existing homes were not 

suitable for the following reasons: 

 

• the lack of lift access; 

• unable to bathe; 

• difficulties using their toilets; and 

• the heating system. 

5.2.2 Consultation with Ward Councillors  

The three Church Street Ward Councillors submitted a detailed written response to the consultation. The key 

points raised were:     

• The library should retain its own discrete site on Church Street itself.  Church Street should not just be for 

retail/hospitality”.  

• Concerns about the future location of Westminster Adult Education Services, stating that this must remain in 

Church Street Ward.  

• They requested current Church Street residents must be given priority over the social and intermediate 

homes that are built. Leaseholders who wish to remain must also be supported to do so.  

• They favour a modified version of Option 3. However, they raised concerns about the increased density and 

note that it is ‘disappointing that the Council is not being more ambitious in its allocation of social and 

genuinely affordable housing’.  

• They questioned the calculations put forward in the consultation in relation to social housing. They state that 

the ‘figures should represent how many affordable homes are delivered on the uplift in numbers.  

5.3 Pre-Planning Consultation (2021) 

A pre-planning consultation was undertaken in two stages, first over 4 weeks from 3rd March-31st March 2021 

and second, over a 4-week period from 30 June – 28 July 2021, with residents, businesses and market traders 

living and working in Sites A, B and C, the Church Street market infrastructure and the wider Church Street 

community. The second round of Pre-Planning Consultations have concluded. 

The consultation process was widely publicised with invitation flyers distributed, posters displayed, and invitation 

letters sent to all residents (tenants and leaseholders both) in Sites A, B and C, along with invitation e-mails sent 

to resident’s associations, the Neighbourhood Forum, schools, Councillors, the local MP, business forum, Church 

Street library, community organisations, Central Area Panel and various youth clubs. The Council also organised 

webinars and set up a pop-up stand on Church Street Triangle following the easing of Covid-19 restrictions, in 

order to offer local community members an opportunity to interact with Council representatives in person. A 

website providing consultation information and an opportunity to provide feedback was also available. 

At present, findings from the online consultation are available and these are presented below. 

Page 102



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
35 

 

 

5.4 Findings from Public Consultation 

This section summarises the key findings of the consultation on Sites, A, B and C in March and June-July 2021. 

The consultation findings are presented online at churchstreetdesign.commonplace.is, where all comments from 

respondents are displayed under the various sections.18 

5.4.1 March 2021 

In March 2021, the online consultation process involved gathering feedback using five main themes, presented 

as individual webpages online. These are: 

• Tell us how you feel about the renewal proposals 

• SITES A, B & C – New homes  

• SITES A, B & C – Shops and markets 

• SITES A, B & C – Health and Wellbeing 

• SITES A, B & C – Getting around 

Each webpage roughly received between 260-300 comments. Overall, initial consultation responses indicated 

strong support for regeneration of Church Street Sites A, B and C. 

The main issues highlighted through feedback are summarised in Table 5-1 below. 

Table 5-1: Online Consultation Feedback (March 2021) 

Consultation 

Theme 

Number of 

Responses 

Question Asked Main Issues 

Tell us how you feel 

about the renewal 

proposals 

265 How informed do you feel about 

the renewal plans for Church 

Street Sites A, B & C? Please 

mark on a scale from 1 to 5 (5 

feeling most informed) 

Most respondents answered 5, however, there 

was still a small percentage of individuals that 

marked 3 and lower. 

SITES A, B & C – 

NEW HOMES  

296 Which elements from the list are 

most important to you about the 

design? 

Most respondents stated ‘generous outdoor 

spaces including balconies’ was very important 

aspect of development along with dual aspect 

windows to maximise light and air. Several 

comments also highlighted concerns about 

buildings being too tall and close together, which 

they felt might lead to a huge density of 

construction and affect Church Street’s character.  

SITES A, B & C – 

SHOPS & MARKETS  

274 What aspects of the shops and 

markets proposals do you think 

are most important? 

 

Most respondents answered improved pitches 

and facilities for traders, increased market 

spaces, new retail space and wi-fi to be the most 

important aspects of the proposals. Some 

respondents commented that shopkeepers may 

not be able to afford new rents in the 

development’s units, while others highlighted that 

too much change might change the character of 

Church Street altogether.  

SITES A, B & C – 

HEALTH AND 

WELLBEING 

277 What features would you most 

like to see in new proposed 

green spaces?  

Most respondents answered play spaces, outdoor 

fitness spaces and seating areas were key 

features they would like to see. However, the 

height of buildings remained a prominent concern 

even for those commenting on the health and 

 
18 Church Street Consultation Feedback (2021) https://churchstreetdesign.commonplace.is/  

Page 103

https://churchstreetdesign.commonplace.is/


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
36 

 

 

Consultation 

Theme 

Number of 

Responses 

Question Asked Main Issues 

 wellbeing proposals, as some respondents felt a 

lack of natural light could create a “dark, gloomy” 

atmosphere.  

SITES A, B & C – 

GETTING AROUND 

265 Which features do you feel are 

the most important for ensuring 

residents and visitors can move 

around the area easily and 

safely?  

Respondents largely felt safety, comfort and 

security both in terms of making routes brighter 

and through better parking and cycling routes to 

be important issues. However, a few respondents 

commented on the perceived ‘overdevelopment’ 

of Church Street and on the need for a clean, 

safer market selling good quality products.  

 

5.4.2 June-July 2021 

Online consultation in June 2021 followed the same structure as the consultation conducted in March, and 

involved five main webpages, presented as follows: 

 

• How do you feel about the regeneration plans? 

• Getting Around 

• Health and Wellbeing  

• Shops and Markets  

• New Homes 

Each section received between 250-270 comments. Overall, initial consultation responses indicated strong 

support for regeneration of Church Street Sites A, B and C.  

The main issues are summarised in Table 5-2 below. 

Table 5-2: Online Consultation Feedback (June-July 2021) 

Consultation Theme Number of 

Responses 

Question Asked Main Issues 

How do you feel about the 

regeneration plans? 

256 How informed do you feel 

about the renewal plans for 

Church Street Sites A, B & C? 

Please mark on a scale from 1 

to 5 (5 feeling most informed) 

While most respondents answered either 4 

or 5, however, there was still a small 

percentage of individuals that marked 3 

and lower. 

Getting Around 255 How do you feel about our 

proposals to make cycling 

safer and easier? 

Respondents largely answered ‘positive’ to 

the question posed. There were some 

neutral and negative comments, including 

safety concerns with increased cycling, 

and concerns around parking.  

Health and Wellbeing  267 How do you feel about our 

proposals to care for the 

environment? 

Most respondents answered positive to the 

question asked, with few commenting 

neutral or somewhat positive. There were 

few additional comments on health and 

safety, and in the rare cases that additional 

comments were provided, they had to do 

Page 104



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
37 

 

 

Consultation Theme Number of 

Responses 

Question Asked Main Issues 

with public toilets being clean and with 

rubbish collection and control.  

Shops and Markets  266 How do you feel about our 

plans to make the market 

cleaner and more welcoming? 

Most respondents answered ‘positive’ to 

the question asked, with few commenting 

neutral or somewhat positive.  

New Homes 265 Following feedback, we have 

provided more detail about 

how the new buildings fit 

within the area. Looking at the 

booklet, how you do you feel 

about proposals for the new 

buildings? 

Most respondents answered ‘positive’, 

showing a change from the issues with tall 

buildings that were raised in the previous 

consultation. Further comments left by 

respondents included questions about how 

rough sleepers will be included in the new 

development homes and about how 

despite the new plans, the planned 

buildings may still be too tall for a narrow 

street.  

 

 

  

Page 105



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
38 

 

 

6. Equalities Baseline 

6.1 Introduction 

A baseline profile of the population living and working within the study area is necessary for the identification of 

potential equality impacts in order that an assessment can be made as to the potential level of impact the 

regeneration may have on groups with protected characteristics.  

The section outlines the equalities baseline relevant to the proposed regeneration. This includes analysis of Census 

2021 data and other datasets from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) for the Church Street Ward (see Figure 

6-1), for Westminster borough and for London. Wherever possible the most recently available data is presented at 

all geographical levels relevant to the study area. 

    Figure 6-1 Church Street Ward 

 

6.2 Protected characteristics 

6.2.1 Population 

According to 2021 Census data, Church Street Ward is home to 11,670 people.  As shown in Table 6-1, the 

population of Church Street almost doubled between 2001 and 2021, increasing at a significantly higher rate in 

comparison to Westminster and London growth rates.   

Table 6-1 Population growth 2001 - 202119 

Year/Population Church Street Westminster London 

2001 6,490 181,286 7,172,036 

2011 11,760 219,396 8,173,941 

2021 11,670 204,236 8,799,728 

% Change +79.8% +12.7% +20.2% 

 
19 ONS: Census 2001: Usual resident population (KS001); Census 2011: Population Density 2011 (QS102UK); Census 2021: 
Number of usual residents in households and communal establishments (TS001). All available at: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp 

Page 106

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
39 

 

 

Source: ONS Census 2001, 2011 and 2021  

6.2.2 Age 

Table 6-2 outlines age breakdown across the different geographical areas encompassed within the baseline area. 

This shows that Church Street has the highest proportion older people (12.5% aged 65 and over) compared to 

Westminster (12.1%) and London (11.9%). The proportion of residents aged 0 – 15 years old across the Church 

Street ward (16.9%) is higher than for Westminster (13.2%) but not London (19.2%). 

Table 6-2 Age breakdown (%) by different geographical areas20 

Age (years) Church Street  Westminster London 

0-15 16.9 13.2 19.2 

16-64 70.6 74.8 68.8 

65 and over 12.5 12.1 11.9 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

Greater London Authority (GLA) Population Projections estimate that by 2040, the proportion of 0-15-year-olds 

living in Westminster will decrease by approximately 5% on 2017 levels, while it will increase by 38% in Church 

Street. The working age population of 16-64-year-olds is projected to increase over the same period by 13% and 

61% in Church Street. The greatest population increase is expected in the 65 and over age group, which will 

increase considerably. Westminster’s population aged 65+ is projected to increase by 43% over 20 years and the 

population aged 85+ is projected to double in the same timeframe. The population of Church Street is also 

projected to increase considerably on 2017 levels, by 70% and 94% respectively.21 

6.2.3 Disability 

The proportion of residents at ward level in the 2021 Census who reported that their day-to-day activities were 

limited a lot (11.6%) was higher than the Westminster average of 6.5% and the London average of 5.7%. The 

proportion of residents with day-to-day activities limited a little is also higher (9.6%) than across the borough (7.3%) 

and London (7.5%). Correspondingly, the proportion of residents who reported they had no long term physical or 

mental health condition was lower in Church Street (75.3%) compared to Westminster (81.5%) and London 

(81.5%).  

Table 6-3 Limiting long-term illness or disability (%) by different geographical areas22 

Level of disability Church Street  Westminster London 

Day-to-day activities limited a lot 11.6  6.5 5.7 

Day-to-day activities limited a little 9.6 7.3 7.5 

No long term physical or mental health condition 75.3  81. 81.5 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

According to the Department for Work and Pensions (2018) Church Street has approximately twice the 

percentage of Disability Living Allowance Claimants (4.3%) than Westminster (2.1%) and London (2.2%). 

 

Church Street ward also has the fourth highest prevalence of people with learning disabilities (0.41) amongst its 

population of all wards within Westminster. 

 
20 ONS (2021) Census 2021: TS007 Age by single year. Available at: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries 
21 GLA Population Projections - Custom Age Tables, (2017); available at: https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/gla-population-
projections-custom-age-tables/resource/4c7f998b-ae3a-4558-8ae1-b976a2b16382/download and 
https://files.datapress.com/london/dataset/gla-population-projections-custom-age-tables/2018-04-
06T13:55:51.53/Ward_Housing_led_projection_age_range_creator_2016.xls, accessed April 2019. 
22 ONS (2021). Census 2021: TS038: Disability. Available at: Dataset Selection - Query - Nomis - Official Census and Labour 
Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 

Page 107

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/gla-population-projections-custom-age-tables/resource/4c7f998b-ae3a-4558-8ae1-b976a2b16382/download
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/gla-population-projections-custom-age-tables/resource/4c7f998b-ae3a-4558-8ae1-b976a2b16382/download
https://files.datapress.com/london/dataset/gla-population-projections-custom-age-tables/2018-04-06T13:55:51.53/Ward_Housing_led_projection_age_range_creator_2016.xls
https://files.datapress.com/london/dataset/gla-population-projections-custom-age-tables/2018-04-06T13:55:51.53/Ward_Housing_led_projection_age_range_creator_2016.xls
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
40 

 

 

Additionally, disability with regards to this assessment also include people who have progressive conditions such 

as HIV, Cancer, MS. In these cases, people with these conditions may still be able to carry out day to day 

activities but face certain requirements with regards to accessing services such as health-care and support 

networks. There is currently insufficient data to know the prevalence of these progressive conditions amongst 

Church Street residents. 

6.2.4 Gender reassignment 

The 2021 Census included the optional question “Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered 

at birth?”, for which findings are presented at the Borough and London geographies in Table 6-4. 

Of those who responded, the majority (90%) of Westminster’s population identify with the same gender as their 

sex registered at birth, while 0.7% identify with a different gender. Similarly, in London 91.2% of the population 

identify with their gender assigned at birth, and 10% identify with an alternative gender. 

Table 6-4 Gender identity (%) in Westminster and London, 202123 

Gender identity Westminster London 

Gender identity the same as sex registered at birth 90.0 91.2 

Gender identity different from sex registered at 

 birth but no specific identity given 
0.4 0.5 

Trans woman 0.1 0.2 

Trans man 0.1 0.2 

Non-binary 0.1 0.1 

All other gender identities 0.0 0.0 

Not answered 9.2 7.9 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

Trans people are at greater risk of being victims of hate crime. Increased footfall and natural surveillance as a 

result of Site A redevelopment will potentially reduce incidences of hate crime and boost the confidence of 

LGBTQ+ people. 

6.2.5 Marriage and civil partnership 

Table 6-5 outlines the legal partnership status of residents across the three geographies. Church Street ward has 

the highest proportion of residents who have never married, at 54.7%, a marginally higher level than for the 

whole of Westminster 54.4%, and significantly higher than for London, 46.2%. Correspondingly, Church Street 

ward has the lowest proportion of residents who are married, at 28.7%, followed by Westminster 31.7%, and 

London 39.7%. Church Street ward has the highest proportion of widowed residents (5.1%), compared to London 

(4.2%) and Westminster (3.4%). 

Table 6-5 Legal partnership status (%) by geographical area, 202124 

Legal partnership status Church Street Ward Westminster London 

Never married 54.7 54.4 46.2 

Married: opposite sex 28.4 31.1 39.3 

Married: same-sex 0.3 0.6 0.4 

In a registered civil partnership:  

opposite sex 
0.1 0.1 0.1 

In a registered civil partnership:  

same-sex 
0.1 0.4 0.2 

 
23 ONS (2021). Gender identity (detailed) (TS070). Available at: Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics - Nomis - 
Official Census and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
24 ONS (2021) Census 2021: TS002 – Legal partnership status. Available at: Dataset Selection - Query - Nomis - Official 
Census and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 

Page 108

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2087
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2087
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
41 

 

 

Legal partnership status Church Street Ward Westminster London 

Separated 3.5 2.4 2.3 

Divorced 7.8 7.6 7.3 

Widowed 5.1 3.4 4.2 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

6.2.6 Pregnancy and maternity 

Table 6-6 provides a breakdown of the different household compositions and the proportions of different 

household types with dependent children. Church Street (10.2%) has the highest proportion of lone parent family 

households with dependent children, compared to married or civil partnership households with dependent 

children. This proportion of households is significantly higher than the level across Westminster (5.3%). 

Church Street also has high proportions of other household types with dependent children at 6.1%. 

Table 6-6 Household composition and lone-parent households (%) by geographical area, 202125 

Household composition 
Church Street 

Ward 
Westminster London 

Single family household 47.7 45.6 58.0 

Single family household: Married or civil partnership couple: 

Dependent children 
9.4 9.9 15.8 

Single family household: Cohabiting couple family:  

With dependent children 
2.2 1.3 3.0 

Single family household: Lone parent family:  

With dependent children 
10.2 5.3 7.8 

Other household types 15.4 11.7 12.7 

Other household types: With dependent children 6.1 2.5 4.7 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

Pregnant women can be more susceptible to experience negative effects associated with development and the 

built environment. For example, pregnant women can be more susceptible to poor air quality, which can have a 

negative impact on birth weight. Pregnant women will also need good access to health care facilities, particularly 

towards the latter stages of pregnancy.  Accessibility is therefore an important issue for this group. With regards 

to income, housing and wellbeing, young mothers (and fathers) may be more likely to suffer from deprivation and 

struggle to find affordable housing.  

6.2.7 Race 

Table 6-7 shows that although the largest ethnic group in the area, the proportion of White British residents at the 

ward level (17.2%) is considerably lower than both Westminster borough (28.0%) and London (36.9%) rates. The 

proportion of ‘Other’ white residents (14.2%) is also lower than in the borough (24.6%) and London (14.7%). 

The proportion of Black African residents (8.8%) in the ward is higher than in Westminster (8.1%) but only slightly 

higher than the London average (7.9%).  

Church Street also has a significantly large proportion of Bangladeshi residents (16.4%) compared with 

Westminster and London (both 3.7%). There is also a large presence of Arab residents (15.6%) compared with the 

averages for Westminster (7.6%) and London (1.6%). These figures indicate a concentration of the Arab minority 

in Westminster, particularly represented in the Church Street area, together with a concentration of the Bangladeshi 

minorities in this particular area. 

 
25 ONS (2021). TS003 – Household composition. Available at: Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics - Nomis - 
Official Census and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 

Page 109

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2023
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2023


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
42 

 

 

Table 6-7 Ethnic groups (%) by different geographical areas26 

Ethnic group Church Street Westminster London 

White 

British 17.2 28.0 36.8 

Irish 1.1 1.8 1.8 

Gypsy or Traveller 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Roma 0.5 0.7 0.4 

Other 14.2 24.6 14.7 

Mixed/ Multiple  

Ethnic Groups 

White and Black 

Caribbean 
1.0 1.0 1.5 

White and Black 

African 
1.2 1.0 0.9 

White and Asian 0.9 1.8 1.4 

Other 2.2 2.7 1.9 

Asian/ Asian British 

Indian 1.8 3.9 7.5 

Pakistani 1.3 1.2 3.3 

Bangladeshi 16.4 3.7 3.7 

Chinese 2.1 3.2 1.7 

Other 4.3 4.7 4.6 

Black/ African/  

Caribbean/ Black British 

African 8.8 8.1 7.9 

Caribbean 2.3 2.1 3.9 

Other Black 0.8 0.8 1.7 

Other Ethnic Group 
Arab 15.6 7.6 1.6 

Other 8.4 5.9 4.7 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

In terms of nationality, less than half (47%) of Church Street residents were born in the UK, 1.5% were born in 

Ireland, 8.8% were born in the EU and 42.5% were born outside of the EU (Census 2011). EU nationals have 

arrived mainly from 2001 member countries (6.8%) and from accession countries (2%).27 

The GLA produces ethnic group population projections which are updated annually at both local authority and 

ward level. The Ethnic Group population projections disaggregate the GLA’s borough-level population projections 

into ethnic groups. The outputs have been produced for 17 ethnic groups. Table 6-8 summarises the 2016-based 

housing-led projected ethnic population for Westminster. The Bangladeshi and Black African population, which 

form a significant proportion of Church Street’s population, are expected to decrease. The White British and Arab 

population, another large group in Church Street are projected to increase, with the largest increase in 

Westminster experienced by the Arab population. 

  

 
26 ONS (2021). Census 2021: TS021 – Ethnic group. Available at: Dataset Selection - Query - Nomis - Official Census and 
Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
27 City of Westminster (2018) Church Street Ward Profile 2018. Available to download online. 

Page 110

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
43 

 

 

Table 6-8 Ethnic group projections - Westminster 

 
Ethnic Group 

 
2011 

 
2016 

 
2021 

 
2031 

2041 
2016-41 

# Change 
2016-41 

% Change 

All persons 219,582  247,614  262,317  275,466  285,280  37,666  15% 

White British 77,474   73,967  77,267  81,550  83,931  9,964  13% 

White Irish 4,977  4,860  4,555  4,144  4,041  -819  -17% 

Other White 53,066  71,564  77,738  82,529  86,671  15,107  21% 

White & Black Caribbean 1,868  1,682  1,546  1,392  1,355  -327  -19% 

White & Black African 1,931  2,174  2,202  2,128  2,121  -53  -2% 

White & Asian 3,585  4,424  4,776  4,826  4,889  465  11% 

Other Mixed 4,013  5,093  5,616  5,881  6,000  907  18% 

Indian 7,214 8,419  9,055  9,619  10,063  1,644  20% 

Pakistani 2,328   2,607  2,731  2,816  2,867  260  10% 

Bangladeshi 6,293  6,296  5,716 4,604 3,972  -2,324  -37% 

Chinese 5,893  5,803  5,881  5,898  6,016  213  4% 

Other Asian 10,109  12,623  13,663  14,675  15,407  2,784  22% 

Black African 9,138  9,994  10,491  11,001  11,350  1,356  14% 

Black Caribbean 4,458  3,974  3,509  2,954  2,712  -1,262  -32% 

Other Black 2,884  2,955  2,909  2,829  2,803  -152  -5% 

Arab 15,728  20,518  22,892  25,518  27,158  6,640  32% 

Other Ethnic Group 8,623  10,660  11,769  13,104  13,924  3,264  31% 

BAME 84,065  97,222  102,756  107,243  110,637  13,415  14% 

White 135,517  150,391  159,560  168,223  174,643  24,252  16% 

Source: GLA 2016-based housing-led ethnic group projections 

6.2.8 Religion or belief 

The proportion of Muslim residents in Church Street (48.6%) is significantly higher than across all geographies 

(20.0% in Westminster and 15.0% in London), while all other religions are less represented. The proportion of 

respondents reporting No Religion is lower in Church Street (14.9%) compared to Westminster (25.9%) and London 

(27.1%). 

Table 6-9: Religion or belief (%) by geographical area28 

Religion Church Street Westminster London 

Christian 26.6 37.3 40.7 

Buddhist 0.8 1.3 0.9 

Hindu 0.8 2.2 5.1 

Jewish 0.5 2.8 1.7 

Muslim 48.6 20.0 15.0 

Sikh 0.1 0.3 1.6 

Other religion 0.5 0.9 1.0 

No religion 14.9 25.9 27.1 

Religion not stated 7.1 9.4 7.0 

 
28 ONS (2021). Census 2021: TS030 – Religion. Available at: Dataset Selection - Query - Nomis - Official Census and Labour 
Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
 

Page 111

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
44 

 

 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

6.2.9 Sex 

Church Street has a slightly higher proportion of female residents (52.2%) compared to males (47.8%).  A similar 

trend is observed nationally.29  

6.2.10 Sexual orientation 

Table 6-11 shows the proportion of adults by their identified sexual orientation for London and Westminster 

Borough. Westminster Borough has a higher proportion of adults identifying as Gay or Lesbian (3.5%) compared 

to London (2.2%). London has marginally higher proportion of adults identifying as Pansexual (0.4%) and Queer 

(0.1%), than Westminster Borough (0.3% and 0.0% respectively). 

Table 6-10: Sexual orientation (%) in Westminster and London30 

Sexual orientation Westminster London 

Straight or Heterosexual 83.3 86.2 

Gay or Lesbian 3.5 2.2 

Bisexual 1.5 1.5 

Pansexual 0.3 0.4 

Asexual 0.1 0.0 

Queer 0.0 0.1 

All other sexual orientations 0.0 0.0 

Not answered 11.2 9.5 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

People who identify as LGBTQ+ are at greater risk of being victims of hate crime31. Increased footfall and natural 

surveillance as a result of Site A redevelopment will potentially reduce incidences of hate crime and boost the 

confidence of LGBTQ+ people. 

6.3 Socio-economic profile 

The socio-economic profile of the area considers several factors including levels of deprivation, employment, 

education, health, housing, transport and connectivity; access to services and facilities; public realm and open 

space; safety, security and well-being; and community cohesion. 

These factors are pertinent to those with protected characteristics and inequality and as such provide additional 

baseline information relevant to the assessment of equality effects.  

6.3.1 Deprivation 

According to the English Indices of Deprivation 2019 (IoD2019), Church Street32 is primarily located in one of the 

20% most deprived Lower Super Output Areas in England and Wales. It is also within: 

• The top 10% most deprived areas nationally for the ‘wider barriers’ sub-domain which includes issues 

relating to access to housing such as affordability and homelessness; 

• The top 5% most deprived areas nationally for the ‘outdoors’ living environment sub-domain which contains 

measures of air quality and road traffic accidents; 

• The top 10% in terms of employment deprivation which measures the proportion of the working age 

population in an area involuntarily excluded from the labour market; and 

 
29 ONS (2021). Census 2021: TS008 – Sex. Available at: Dataset Selection - Query - Nomis - Official Census and Labour 
Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
30 ONS (2021). Sexual orientation (detailed) (TS079). Available at: Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics - 
Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
31 True Vision (2022). Sexual Orientation Hate Crime. Available at: Sexual Orientation & Transgender Hate Crime - True Vision 
(report-it.org.uk) 
32 For the purpose of this report deprivation in Church Street will refer to the Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) named 
Westminster 009K 

Page 112

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2086
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2086
https://www.report-it.org.uk/homophobic_and_transphobic_hate_crime
https://www.report-it.org.uk/homophobic_and_transphobic_hate_crime


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
45 

 

 

• The top 20% most deprived areas for crime deprivation which measures the risk of personal and material 

victimisation at the local level. 

Furthermore, in terms of income deprivation Church Street is amongst the top 10% most deprived nationally. 

Supplementary indices for deprivation also rank Church Street: 

• In the top 10% most deprived areas nationally for Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) 

which measures the proportion of all children aged 0 to 15 living in income deprived families; and  

• In the top 5% most deprived areas nationally for Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index 

(IDAOPI) which measures the proportion of those aged 60+ who experience income deprivation. 

6.3.2 Employment 

According to 2021 census data, 40.9% of Church Street residents are economically active and in employment, 

5.2% are economically active and unemployed, and 50.3% are economically inactive. Levels of unemployment in 

Church Street are slightly greater than in Westminster (4.0%) and London (4.1%).33 

Table 6-11 presents a detailed breakdown of employment sectors by geographical area. This highlights that there 

is a higher proportion of employee jobs in elementary and caring, leisure and service occupations and a lower 

proportion in highly skilled jobs within Church Street compared to Westminster and London.  

Table 6-11 Employee jobs by broad sector group (%) across different geographical areas34 

Occupation Church Street Westminster London 

Managers, directors, senior officials 12.1 22.5 14.6 

Professional occupations 20.1 30.6 25.8 

Associate professional &  

technical occupations 
13.6 17.3 15.3 

Administrative & secretarial  

occupations 
8.8 6.6 8.5 

Skilled trades occupations 6.9 3.4 7.5 

Caring, leisure & other  

service occupations 
10.2 6.1 7.7 

Sales & customer service  

occupations 
11.2 5.1 6.3 

Process plant / machine operatives 5.7 2.7 5.0 

Elementary occupations 11.5 5.7 9.2 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

Figure 6-2 shows the percentage of people aged 16-64 years in employment within each ethnic group for London 

in 201735. This shows a lower rate of employment for BAME groups (except Indian). Furthermore, employment 

rates for people aged 16-25 are lower than the overall population and the disparity between ethnic groups is even 

greater. 

 

 
33 ONS (2021). TS066 – Economic activity status. Available at: Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics - Nomis - 
Official Census and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
34 ONS (2021). TS063 – Occupation. Available at: Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics - Nomis - Official 
Census and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
35 Racial Disparity Unit (2018) https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk 

Page 113

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2083
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2083
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2083
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2083


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
46 

 

 

Figure 6-2 Percentage of people aged 16 to 64 years in employment within each ethnic group 

 

Source: Racial Disparity Unit (2019) https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk 

6.3.3 Education  

Education attainment (Table 6-12) at ward level for Church Street shows a significantly higher percentage of 

residents with no qualifications (25.2%) relative to London as an average (16.2%) and Westminster (12.9%).  

Correspondingly, the proportion of residents with level 4 qualifications and above in Church Street (37.0%) is 

lower than the London average of 46.7% and Westminster of 57.7%. 

Table 6-12 Educational attainment (%) by different geographical areas36 

Educational attainment Church Street Westminster London 

No qualifications 25.2 12.9 16.2 

Level 1 qualifications 8.1 4.9 7.7 

Level 2 qualifications 9.4 6.9 10.0 

Apprenticeship 2.7 2.1 3.2 

Level 3 qualifications 14.3 12.4 13.2 

Level 4 qualifications and above 37.0 57.7 46.7 

Other qualifications 3.3 3.2 3.1 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

There are no schools within the immediate regeneration site, however there are several schools located within 

Church Street ward. These include the following primary schools: Gateway Primary School, St Edward's Catholic 

Primary School, Christ Church Bentinck CofE Primary School, Paddington Green and Portman Early Childhood 

Centre. Secondary schools include Ark King Solomon Academy, Paddington Academy, St. Marylebone and North 

Westminster Community School. 

  

 
36 ONS (2021). TS067 – Highest level of qualification. Available at: Dataset Selection - Query - Nomis - Official Census and 
Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 

Page 114

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=93&subgrp=Topic+Summaries


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
47 

 

 

Table 6-13: Estimated Walking Distance 

School Name Walking Distance from Church Street 

Gateway Primary School 6 min (0.3 mile) 

St Edward’s Catholic Primary School 6 min (0.3 mile) 

Christ Church Bentinck CofE Primary School 7 min (0.3 mile) 

Paddington Green 4 min (0.2 mile) 

Portman Early Childhood Centre 5 min (0.2 mile) 

Ark King Solomon Academy 2 min (0.1 mile) 

Paddington Academy 24 min (1.2 mile) 

St. Marylebone 21 min (1.1 mile) 

North Westminster Community School 22 min (1.1 mile) 

Source: Google Maps, 2020 

6.3.4 Health 

There is a tendency for people belonging to protected characteristic groups, particularly young people, older 

people, disabled people, and BAME people, to experience poorer health.37  

The health of people in Westminster is varied compared with the England average. Westminster is one of the 

20% most deprived local authorities in England and about 27% (6,900) of children live in low-income families. 

Between 2014 and 2016 life expectancy for both men and women was better than the national average.38   

Life expectancy of the Westminster population can vary dramatically depending on where people live. Men living 

in least deprived areas live nearly 17 years longer than men living in the most deprived areas. For women, this 

gap is nearly 10 years.39 

In terms of health issues within the borough, rates of childhood obesity, incidence of tuberculosis, and sexually 

transmitted infections, are all significantly worse than the England average.40  

As the population continues to age, the number of people with many chronic conditions is expected to 

increase.  For example, the number of people with diabetes in England is expected to increase in the next two 

decades from 3.9 million people in 2017 to 4.9 million in 2035. Obesity is a major risk factor for diabetes and a 

range of other diseases, including heart disease and some forms of cancer, and this number will increase further 

if the prevalence of obesity also increases. 

According to the 2015 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on Dementia41, diagnoses of long-term conditions 

associated with ageing, such as dementia and Alzheimer’s, will see an increase of 56% between 2013 and 2033. 

Furthermore, over 2,600 people in the city will have dementia by 2030. This trend will continue beyond 2030 with 

over 760 new expected cases of dementia in the city each year42. This will have significant implications for health 

and social care services. 

In terms of health facilities in the area there is only one GP and Health Centre in the Church Street area, the 

Lisson Grove Health Centre. There are four dentists: the Central London Community Healthcare, Church Street 

Dental Surgery, mydentist, and Inspire Dental Health and one optician: Braham Optician.  

 
37 Equality and Human Rights Commission, (2010); How Fair is Britain? Report. Available at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/how_fair_is_britain_-_complete_report.pdf [accessed January 2018] 
38 Public Health England, (2018); Westminster Health Profile 2018. Available at: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-
profiles/area-search-results/E12000007?search_type=list-child-areas&place_name=London [accessed April 2019]. 
39 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Westminster & Kensington and Chelsea (2018); Highlight Reports. Available at: 
https://arcg.is/0f4jDu [accessed April 2019] 
40 Ibid 32 
41 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2015) Dementia 
42 Ibid. 

Page 115

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/area-search-results/E12000007?search_type=list-child-areas&place_name=London
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/area-search-results/E12000007?search_type=list-child-areas&place_name=London
https://arcg.is/0f4jDu


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
48 

 

 

6.3.5 Housing  

Westminster’s private rented sector is the largest in England, comprising 43% (45,000) 43 of properties. 

Intermediate housing comprises an estimated 1.5% of the stock in Westminster (1,600 homes) while social 

housing makes up 25% (27,000 homes).  

There is an on-going need to increase the provision of affordable housing available to residents in Westminster. 

In November 201944 there were 7,500 households waiting for affordable housing. This includes: 

• 4,500 households waiting for social housing (of which 2,700 are homeless households in temporary 

accommodation); and 

• 3,000 households waiting for intermediate housing. 

Due to the shortage of social housing in the borough, households face waiting times (over ten years) in 

temporary housing before a permanent property is available and up to 25 years for a larger home.  

There are approximately 4,950 properties located in Church Street45. As highlighted in Table 6-14, according to 

the 2021 Census, the majority of households in Church Street are social rented households (58.3%). This 

proportion is significantly higher than observed across both London (23.1%) and Westminster (28.3%). 

 Table 6-14 Tenure (%) by geographical area, 202146 

Tenure 
Church Street 

Ward 
Westminster London 

Owned  13.7 27.4 45.2 

Shared ownership 0.7 0.7 1.5 

Social rented 58.3 28.3 23.1 

Private rented 26.0 43.3 30.0 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

Table 6-15 below shows occupancy rates (based on the ONS definition - number of bedrooms occupied) derived 

from 2021 Census data. Church Street Ward has a lower rate of overcrowded households in comparison to 

Westminster and London levels.  

Overcrowding is more likely to occur among some protected characteristic groups and is also likely to be more 

detrimental to people belonging to certain protected groups, for example, young people and disabled people.47 

Table 6-15 Household overcrowding and under-occupation48 

  

Overcrowded 
 

All households 

 

% Overcrowded 
1 below 

standard 

2 below 

standard 
Total 

Church Street 774 338 1,112 4,545 21.6 

Westminster 25,088 11,541 36,629 94,814 10.3 

London 927,909 746,047 1,673,956 3,423,890 11.1 

Source: ONS Census 2021 

 
43 Westminster Council (2015) Westminster Housing Strategy: Direction of Travel Statement (2015) 
44 Westminster Council (November 2019) 
45 Valuation Office Agency (2017) 
46 ONS (2021). TS054 – Tenure. Available at: Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics - Nomis - Official Census 
and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
47 Equality and Human Rights Commission, (2010); How Fair is Britain? Report. Available at: How fair is Britain? | Equality and 
Human Rights Commission (equalityhumanrights.com) 
48 ONS (2021) TS052 – Occupancy rating for bedrooms. Available at: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2070 
This analysis uses the 'bedroom standard' measure of overcrowding, which determines how many bedrooms households need 
based on the ages, genders and relationships of members. Households are overcrowded if they have fewer bedrooms than 
they need. They are under-occupying if they have more bedrooms than they need. 

Page 116

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2072
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2072
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/how-fair-britain
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/how-fair-britain
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&dataset=2070


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
49 

 

 

6.3.6 Transport and connectivity  

Church Street benefits from excellent public transport accessibility. Edgware Road Underground Station is in the 

southwest corner of the area. The station provides access to the Bakerloo Line. A separate Edgware Road 

Underground Station which accesses the Circle, District and Hammersmith and City Lines, is located three 

minutes’ walk to its southeast. Marylebone Station provides access to the Bakerloo Line and National Rail 

services.  

Most of the site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating of 6b; the highest level, emphasising the 

area’s importance as a diverse residential, business and leisure destination for local residents.49 However, the 

rating is fragmented in the north of the site, ranging from 1b (second worst) to 6a (second best).  

Despite good transport accessibility and connectivity, Church Street area is bound by large infrastructure which 

creates clearly defined edges but also act as barriers to accessibility and movement from the neighbourhood.50 

6.3.7 Public realm and open space  

The ability to access and use the public realm is important to ensuring that all members of society are able to 

participate in their community. However, certain PCGs such as people with a disability and BAME groups are less 

likely to take part in public life than other sections of the population. For disabled people, public spaces can often 

be inaccessible due to mobility limitations. Access to the public realm is also important to the provision (and 

management) of play space for children. 

The Partnership Approach to Open Spaces and Biodiversity in Westminster51 identified that there were over 200 

open spaces in the borough, and that public open spaces amount to approximately 822 hectares.  Almost one 

quarter of Westminster’s 8.9 square mile area is open and green space, ranging from large, multi-functional 

areas such as Paddington Recreation Ground to small ornamental gardens, squares and ‘pocket parks’. 

Westminster’s ‘blue ribbon’ waterways are also included – canals and of course the Thames. These assets are 

supplemented by the five Royal Parks that fall within Westminster – Royal Parks’ land accounts for around 80% 

of the borough’s total green space. Finally, there are 21 registered parks and gardens and 85 London Squares in 

Westminster. 

The closest open spaces are Regent’s Park (east of the site) and Broadley Street Gardens (within the site). 

There is also a private open space located within the site. Regent’s Canal, to the north-west, provides a linear 

green route with opportunity for walking, cycling and interaction with nature, providing vital green infrastructure. 

Currently the Canal is mostly inaccessible directly from the Church Street area due to built development and level 

changes associated with the Canal. Regent’s Park and Hyde Park are two major London parks within a 15–20-

minute walk to Church Street, however there is not a clear or direct route to the parks and there is a lack of way-

finding and signage. 

The open and green spaces are listed in the Appendix 1 of the Partnership Approach to Open Spaces and 

Biodiversity, reproduced below in Figure 6-3.  

 
49 Transport for London, (2019); Public Transport Accessibility. Available at: https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-
construction/planning-with-webcat/webcat?Type=PTAL&lat=51.52465&lon=-
0.17053&locationId=ChIJCyq5s7AadkgR9jqLBFfdtbQ&scenario=Base%20Year&input=NW8%208LN&zoomLevel=15&places=
Stations%20stops%20and%20piers , accessed April 2019  
50 City of Westminster (2017) Church Street Masterplan [online] available at: 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/church_street_masterplan_dec_2017.pdf accessed April 2019 
 
51 City of Westminster (2019) Open Space and Biodiversity Strategy [online] available at: 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/a_partnership_approach_to_open_spaces_and_biodiversity_in_westminster_
-_march_2019.pdf 
  

Page 117

https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/planning-with-webcat/webcat?Type=PTAL&lat=51.52465&lon=-0.17053&locationId=ChIJCyq5s7AadkgR9jqLBFfdtbQ&scenario=Base%20Year&input=NW8%208LN&zoomLevel=15&places=Stations%20stops%20and%20piers
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/planning-with-webcat/webcat?Type=PTAL&lat=51.52465&lon=-0.17053&locationId=ChIJCyq5s7AadkgR9jqLBFfdtbQ&scenario=Base%20Year&input=NW8%208LN&zoomLevel=15&places=Stations%20stops%20and%20piers
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/planning-with-webcat/webcat?Type=PTAL&lat=51.52465&lon=-0.17053&locationId=ChIJCyq5s7AadkgR9jqLBFfdtbQ&scenario=Base%20Year&input=NW8%208LN&zoomLevel=15&places=Stations%20stops%20and%20piers
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/planning-with-webcat/webcat?Type=PTAL&lat=51.52465&lon=-0.17053&locationId=ChIJCyq5s7AadkgR9jqLBFfdtbQ&scenario=Base%20Year&input=NW8%208LN&zoomLevel=15&places=Stations%20stops%20and%20piers
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/church_street_masterplan_dec_2017.pdf
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/a_partnership_approach_to_open_spaces_and_biodiversity_in_westminster_-_march_2019.pdf
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/a_partnership_approach_to_open_spaces_and_biodiversity_in_westminster_-_march_2019.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
50 

 

 

Figure 6-3 Map of open and green spaces 

 

 

Despite its proximity to Regent’s Park, a large swathe of the area is also classed as being deficient in access to 

open space, as noted in the Partnership Approach to Open Spaces and Biodiversity in Westminster and as can 

be seen below in Figure 6-4.  

Figure 6-4 Map of open space deficiency areas 

 

Page 118



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
51 

 

 

 

People sharing protected characteristics may be disadvantaged if they are unable to access public open space, 

and for certain protected groups there are considerable advantages associated with access to open space; for 

example, young and older people are likely to benefit from opportunities for active and passive recreation, and 

socialising with others.52 

6.3.8 Safety and security  

The feeling of safety and security within a person’s local area is key to ensuring their personal wellbeing. 

Everyone is vulnerable to feelings of being unsafe, however these may be particularly acute for people belonging 

to certain protected characteristic groups, including young people, older people, disabled people, women, and 

people belonging to a particular ethnicity, or sexual orientation.53 

 
The top three reported crimes within Church Street in April 2023 were classed as anti-social behaviour (45) 
followed by violence and sexual offences (36) and theft from the person (14).54  
 
Crime rates in Westminster’s wards are influenced by the influx of visitors to the borough. According to the 2017 
City Survey, 33% of residents in Church Street perceived anti-social behaviour to be a problem in their area.55 

6.3.9 Community cohesion  

To ensure healthy communities which are functional, safe, and enjoyable places to live and work, it is important to 

promote community cohesion and good relations between different groups. Encouraging civic engagement and 

ensuring dialogue with all people in the community; particularly those belonging to protected characteristic 

groups, is an important step in working towards community cohesion. For people belonging to protected 

characteristic groups, their feelings of a lack of cohesion (or exclusion) may be more acute than those of other 

people. 

According to the City Survey 2017, 87% of the community within Church Street say that people from different 

backgrounds get on well. 20% of the residents spend time helping to improve the community and 26% are 

interested in helping more to improve community. 56 

6.3.10 Covid-19 Impacts 

Considering the Covid-19 pandemic, it is important to consider the disparate ways in the way in which Covid-19 

affects various protected characteristic groups. According to a report by Public Health England (2020), Covid-19 

is more likely to affect certain protected characteristic groups, based on factors such as race, ethnicity, age, and 

deprivation. These characteristics are discussed below in the context of Church Street.57 

 

Race and Ethnicity 

Health impacts will be experienced differently by different people and communities, and there are strong links 

between social equity, race, and health. There is evidence that BAME communities are at greater risk of dying 

from Covid-19.58 This is also true for people living in deprived areas, demonstrating the close link between social 

inequity and health inequalities.  

 

Deprivation 

People who live in deprived areas have higher diagnosis rates and death rates than those living in less deprived 

areas. As per Public Health England, COVID-19 death rates were more than twice as high in the most deprived 

 
52 Equality and Human Rights Commission, (2010); How Fair is Britain? report. Available at:  
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/how_fair_is_britain_-_complete_report.pdf, accessed January 2018. 
53 Equality and Human Rights Commission, (2010); How Fair is Britain? report. Available at:  
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/ publication/ how-fair-britain, accessed September 2016. 
54 Metropolitan Police (2023). Church Street. Available at: Church Street | Your area | Metropolitan Police | Metropolitan Police 
55City of Westminster (2018), Church Street Ward Profile. Available at: 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/church-street-ward-profile.pdf, accessed April 2019. 
56 Ibid 
57 Available at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908434/Disparities_in_the_ri
sk_and_outcomes_of_COVID_August_2020_update.pdf  
58 See 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908434/Disparities_in_the_ri
sk_and_outcomes_of_COVID_August_2020_update.pdf  

Page 119

https://www.met.police.uk/area/your-area/met/westminster/church-street/about-us/top-reported-crimes-in-this-area
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/church-street-ward-profile.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908434/Disparities_in_the_risk_and_outcomes_of_COVID_August_2020_update.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908434/Disparities_in_the_risk_and_outcomes_of_COVID_August_2020_update.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908434/Disparities_in_the_risk_and_outcomes_of_COVID_August_2020_update.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908434/Disparities_in_the_risk_and_outcomes_of_COVID_August_2020_update.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
52 

 

 

areas as they were in the least poor areas, for both males and females. This is higher than the disparity in 

mortality rates reported previously, implying that COVID-19 death rates are more unequal. It is possible that high 

diagnostic rates are attributable to close contact to illnesses or a significant proportion of workers in high-risk 

occupations. Furthermore, people who are socially excluded, such as those who are homeless or vulnerable 

migrants, have generally worse health outcomes than other groups, which puts them at the extreme end of the 

health inequalities spectrum. 

 

This is the result of being exposed to several overlapping risk factors, such as difficulty accessing resources, 

stigma, and prejudice. People who are socially excluded, for example, are not regularly recorded in computerised 

records, thereby making them invisible for policy and service planning purposes. Furthermore, recent research 

shows that socially excluded groups have high levels of morbidity and mortality compounded with multiple and 

complex needs including overlapping mental and physical ill-health, and substance dependency. These factors 

put these populations at a greater level of risk from the consequences of emergencies, such as the pandemic. 

Additionally, a recent study found that in a “do nothing” scenario, 34% of rough sleepers and people presently 

living in hostels would be infected with COVID-19, leading to over 4,000 hospital admissions.59  

 

Community Facilities and Open Space 

The Covid-19 pandemic has demonstrated the need for access to greenspace and community facilities (such as 

common spaces to meet and sustain social relationships) to ensure mental and physical well-being, especially for 

those living in homes without gardens or private greenspaces. Additionally, there is a growing body of evidence 

on the health benefits of access to such spaces, as it brings with it several benefits, including greater community 

cohesion and reduced social isolation.  

Redevelopment of existing community facilities should be approached with care. It is crucial that important 

community facilities and services are not lost during redevelopment process since the resulting impact on the 

health and wellbeing local communities could be serious, especially following the end of Covid-19. Additionally, it 

may also be prudent to consider the importance of ease of access to open and green space during any future 

pandemic akin to Covid 19.  

 

Housing 

It is as important to consider the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on house prices and affordability. In terms of 

renting, especially in the Private Rented Sector (PRS), rental prices are likely to increase as a larger number of 

households will be unable to access home ownership, including affordable home ownership products, in the short 

term. The overall demand for rented housing could increase in the short term and increasing rents may impact 

several households over the course of the pandemic, and long after it ends. This might also have 

disproportionate impact on BAME groups that are more likely to rent in the social rented sector and could face 

increasing costs.  

Additionally, it may be the case that older people are more likely to want to remain in their own homes instead of 

living in care homes given both the recent funding crisis in the care sector and the rise in virus related deaths in 

care homes.60 Furthermore, for those that might still want to access specialist housing, the experiences of 

pandemic isolation could lead to a greater demand of certain attributes in the types of housing: people are likely 

to need spacious homes, homes located near green space, homes equipped with smart technology (for those 

who cannot access carers), and homes located close to community support networks in order to ensure their 

physical and mental well-being. These factors isolation might affect site allocation for specialist housing, and 

commercial housing developments in general. 

 

Impacts on Businesses and Employment 

The pandemic has affected all business and economic activity, however, it is SMEs and local businesses, 

including businesses owned by protected characteristic groups, such as BAME owned or female-owned 

businesses, that have been impacted the most.61 A 2020 study on the economic Impact of COVID-19 on 

London’s Small and Medium-sized enterprises shows the impact of the pandemic on local employment, and sets 

 
59 See: COVID-19 and homelessness in England: a modelling study of the COVID-19 pandemic among people experiencing 
homelessness, and the impact of a residential intervention to isolate vulnerable people and care for people with symptoms. 
Lewer D, Braithwaite I, Bullock M, Eyre MT, Aldridge RW. s.l. : medRxiv. 2020.  
60 Available at: Public Health England (PHE). COVID-19: number of outbreaks in care homes – management information 
[Online]. 21 May 2020. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/covid-19-number-of-outbreaks-
incare-homes-management-information  
61 Available at Bank Underground (2020) available from: https://bankunderground.co.uk/2021/07/16/what-do-two-million-
accounts-tell-us-about-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-small-businesses/  

Page 120

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/covid-19-number-of-outbreaks-incare-homes-management-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/covid-19-number-of-outbreaks-incare-homes-management-information
https://bankunderground.co.uk/2021/07/16/what-do-two-million-accounts-tell-us-about-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-small-businesses/
https://bankunderground.co.uk/2021/07/16/what-do-two-million-accounts-tell-us-about-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-small-businesses/


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
53 

 

 

forth a plan for recovery.62 One key observation from the report is that individuals from BAME communities 

experienced covid-19 related fatalities higher than other demographic groups, and that individuals from this 

equality group have also seen disproportionate job losses. Furthermore, the report notes that more jobs in 

deprived areas were lost than other areas, and that lower wage and lower skilled jobs experienced the greatest 

percentage declines. In the context of Church Street, being a neighbourhood with high levels of deprivation and 

high percentages of BAME groups, it is likely the economic impacts of covid-19 were experienced strongly by 

several community members, including local businesses.  

 

 

  

 
62 See: https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/economic-impact-of-covid-19-sme  

Page 121

https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/economic-impact-of-covid-19-sme


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
54 

 

 

7. Primary research - Church Street residents 

7.1 Introduction 

This section provides an overview of Church Street Residents using the Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) 

conducted by Westminster Council for 541 households located in sites A, B and C and Lillestone Street and 

Lisson Grove in Autumn 2018.  

The HNA assessed data from the Council’s Orchard system which stores data on housing and tenancy types as 

well as limited demographic data relating to tenants and leaseholders where available. In addition, an HNA 

survey was undertaken directly with households in sites A, B and C and Lisson Grove. The survey was 

undertaken with: 

• Council tenants; 

• Registered provider tenants; 

• Homeless households living in temporary accommodation provided by the Council;  

• Private tenants i.e. of non-resident leaseholders; 

• Resident leaseholders; and 

• Non-resident leaseholders. 

The survey received a response from 299 households; an overall response rate of 55% (please note that this 

also includes 16 households located in the Lisson Grove area). 

Overall, 287 responding to the HNA provided their ethnicity and the responses, showing a range of wide range of 

ethnic origin groups living the area, are shown in Table 7-1. The highest concentrations of ethnic groups amongst 

were white British (21.6%), Arab (9.1%) and African (7%). 

Table 7-1 Ethnicity of residents 

Ethnicity Number of respondents 

Afghanistan 2 (0.7%) 

African 20 (7.0%) 

Algerian 1 (0.3%) 

Arab 26 (9.1%) 

Armenian 1 (0.3%) 

Asian 1 (0.3%) 

Asian British 3 (1.0%) 

Any Other Asian Background 3 (1.0%) 

Any Other White Background 1 (0.3%) 

Assyria 1 (0.3%) 

Bangladeshi 18 (6.3%) 

Bangladeshi, British Bangladeshi 1 (0.3%) 

Bengali 2 (0.7%) 

Black Africa 1 (0.3%) 

Black and White Caribbean 1 (0.3%) 

Black British 3 (1.0%) 

Black English 1 (0.3%) 

Brazilian 1 (0.3%) 

British Asian 4 (1.0%) 

British Bangladeshi 1 (0.3%) 

British Egyptian 1 (0.3%) 

British Indian 5 (1.7%) 

British Moroccan 2 (0.7%) 

Page 122



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
55 

 

 

Ethnicity Number of respondents 

British Syrian 1 (0.3%) 

Caribbean 7 (2.4%) 

Chinese 3 (1.0%) 

Chinese British 1 (0.3%) 

Colombian  1 (0.3%) 

East African 1 (0.3%) 

Eritrean 1(0.3%) 

Ethiopian 1 (0.3%) 

Filipino  5 (1.7%) 

French 1 (0.3%) 

German 1 (0.3%) 

Indian 10 (3.5%) 

Indian British 2 (0.7%) 

Iranian 2 (0.7%) 

Iranian/Kurdish 1 (0.3%) 

Iraqi 7 (2.4%) 

Irish 1 (0.3%) 

Italian 3 (1.0%) 

Korean 1 (0.3%) 

Kosovan/Albanian 1 (0.3%) 

Kurdish 3 (1.0%) 

Kurdish White Other 1 (0.3%) 

Korean 1 (0.3%) 

Lebanese 1 (0.3%) 

Malaysian 2 (0.7%) 

Middle Eastern 1 (0.3%) 

Mixed African/European 1 (0.3%) 

Middle Eastern 1 (0.3%) 

Moroccan 1 (0.3%) 

North African 10 (3.5%) 

Northern Irish 1 (0.3%) 

Other Asian 1 (0.3%) 

Other Middle Eastern 7 (2.4%) 

Other Mixed Background 2 (0.7%) 

Other White Background 1 (0.3%) 

Pakistani 1 (0.3%) 

Portuguese 1 (0.3%) 

Russian 1 (0.3%) 

Somali 2 (0.7%) 

South American 1 (0.3%) 

South East Asian 1 (0.3%) 

Spanish 3 (1.0%) 

Sri Lankan 2 (0.7%) 

Turkish 1 (0.3%) 

Ukrainian 1 (0.3%) 

White and Asian 1 (0.3%) 

White and Black African 3 (1.0%) 

White and Black Caribbean 1 (0.3%) 

White British 62 (21.6%) 

Page 123



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
56 

 

 

Ethnicity Number of respondents 

White Greek 1 (0.3%) 

White European 7 (2.4%) 

White European (Kosovan) 1 (0.3%) 

White Irish 5 (1.7%) 

White Italian 1 (0.3%) 

White Welsh 2 (0.7%) 

White Middle East 1 (0.3%) 

White Other 1 (0.3%) 

White Yugoslavian 1 (0.3%) 

Yugoslavian 1 (0.3%) 

Total responses 287 (100%) 

 

In total, 266 individuals provided their religious beliefs. These responses are shown in Table 7-2 and show that 

amongst residents 41.7% identify as Muslim, 24.1% as Christian and 14.3% identified as having no religion or 

belief. 

Table 7-2 Religious beliefs of residents 

Ethnicity Number of respondents 

Agnostic 1 (0.4%) 

Any Other Belief 1 (0.4%) 

Atheism 6 (2.3%) 

Buddhism 3 (1.1%) 

Catholic 14 (5.3%) 

Christianity 64 (24.1%) 

Church of England 4 (1.5%) 

Greek Orthodox 1 (0.4%) 

Hinduism 9 (3.2%) 

Islam 111 (41.7%) 

Jehovah’s Witness 2 (0.8%) 

Judaism 1 (0.4%) 

No Religion or Belief 38 (14.3%) 

Orthodox Christian 1 (0.4%) 

Roman Catholic 7 (2.6%) 

Sikhism 2 (0.8%) 

Vaishnav 1 (0.4%) 

Total responses 266 (100%) 

 

Of these, 86 households identified how long they had lived in their property. Table 7-3 shows that the majority of 

households (68.6%) have lived in their property for over 5 years and 47.7% have lived there over 10 years. This 

indicates that many households are well established in the area. 

Table 7-3 Number of years lived in property 

Occupancy Respondents 

Less than five years 27 (31.4%) 

Between five and ten years 18 (20.9%) 

Over ten years 41 (47.7%) 

Total responses 86 (100%) 

Page 124



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
57 

 

 

7.2 Residents by tenure 

The 541 properties within the HNA include a mixture of tenure types. For this report, the HNA data has been 

analysed to summarise the current and future housing needs of householders in the area by each of the following 

groups: 

• Resident leaseholders (109). 

• Private renters (56); and 

• Social housing (Council) tenants (323). 

7.3 Resident leaseholders 

The HNA identified that as of October 2018 there were 210 private leasehold properties (around 39%) ranging 

from studios to 4-bedroom flats. Of these leasehold properties 51% are resident leaseholders or family occupied. 

Of those leasehold properties 46 (42% of resident leaseholders and 8% of all residents that completed the HNA 

survey the following information was gained): 

• When asked if the leaseholders would consider a move off the estate over 25% said that they would 

although the majority of these said they would also consider moving back to the estate and buying on the 

new development. 

• No children were recorded as living in the properties from the survey responses received. 

• 32% of leaseholders are aged 65 or over – all these leaseholders have owned the lease for 15 years or 

longer. 

7.4 Private renters 

Of all leasehold properties 49% are rented out to private tenants. No HNA surveys were undertaken with those 

renting privately although it is likely that the demographics reflect those living in the area overall. 

7.5 Social housing tenants 

The HNA identified 323 households as tenants either through secure tenancy agreement with the Council or 

through a temporary accommodation arrangement (3 households in total). Out of the 323 households, 210 

completed the HNA survey. Findings of this survey with social housing tenants are summarised below. 

7.5.1 Children  

• Of all the tenanted households that responded to the HNA survey, 59 (28% of all respondents) stated that 

children lived in the property. 

• 21% properties are classed as overcrowded. The majority of these properties are home to children. 

• 6% of households responding to the survey were single parent households. All these households had other 

protected characteristics including disabilities or health issues, language barriers. 

• 10 households would consider splitting households.  

• Five households stated that they receive childcare and 35 (21.3%) households (out of 210 that responded) 

have children who attend schools nearby. These schools include: 

─ Edward Wilson Primary School, Senior St, London W2 5TL; 

─ Gateway Academy, 4 Capland Street, Westminster NW8 8LN; 

─ Hampden Gurney, Marylebone, London W1H 5HA; 

─ Harris Academy, 401 Battersea Park Rd, Battersea, London SW11 5AP; 

─ King Soloman Academy, Marylebone, London NW1 6RU; 

─ Kings Way College, Grays Inn Rd, London WC1X 8RA; 

─ Marelybone Boys’ School, Paddington, London W2 1QZ; 

Page 125



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
58 

 

 

─ St Augustine School, Oxford Road, London, NW6 5SN; 

─ St Edwards, Lisson Grove, London NW1 6UH; 

─ St Mary’s, E Row, London W10 5AW; 

─ St Georges, Lanark Rd, Maida Vale, London W9 1RB; and 

─ Westminster Academy, Sir Naim Dangoor Centre, 255 Harrow Rd, London W2 5EZ.  

7.5.2 Older people  

• 48% of households were home to a resident aged 65 or over and 10% of households were home to a 

resident aged 85 or over. 

• Of all respondents aged over 65, 40 stated that English was not their first language with 27 stating that they 

need some formal or informal translation services. 

• Of all respondents aged over 65, 65% had medical issues and 21% needed to use wheelchair or walking 

aid at least some of the time. 31% receive informal care nearby. 

• 62% of respondents aged 65 or over said that they would not consider a move off the estate. 

7.5.3 Disability and medical issues 

• When asked if anyone in the household had any medical issues, 112 (53%) responded ‘yes’. Issues 

described were wide ranging and including mobility issues, back pain, heart problems, diabetes, depression 

and autism and many more. 

• 76 households (36%) stated that at least one of the occupants of the household was disabled.  

• 37 (21.8%) out of 210 that responded stated that their current homes were adapted. These adaptions 

included: 

• Adaptations to bathroom; 

• Walk in shower; 

• Bars for ease; 

• Hand rails; 

• Bath seat; 

• Disabled toilet; 

• Wet room; and 

• Chair in bathroom. 

7.5.4 Preferences and needs regarding the Church Street Regeneration Programme 

When social housing residents were asked if they would consider a move off the estate if the regeneration goes 

ahead, responses were received as follows: 

• 43% of respondents answered said they would consider a move; 

• 4% of respondents said that they were undecided; 

• 30% of respondents said that they would move more than once with the support of a dedicated relocation 

officer; and 

• 19% of respondents said that they would consider a permanent move off the estate. 

Preferred areas to move to included Maida Vale, Little Venice, Marylebone, St Johns Wood, Church Street and 

Paddington. Two residents said they were interested in rehousing out of the borough or London. 

Page 126



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
59 

 

 

8. Primary research - Church Street Market 

and Local Businesses 

8.1 Introduction 

Interviews took place with businesses and market stall holders located within sites A, B and C as part of a survey 

to find out more information about the nature of businesses, business owners and employees affected by the 

planned regeneration. In total 128 businesses including 83 Church Street market stalls were interviewed between 

the 14th and 21st May 2019.  

In addition, a further 100 on-street interviews were undertaken with customers on Church Street.  

This section provides an overview of the findings from both the business and customer surveys. 

8.2 Nature of the businesses 

The leaseholder status of the businesses surveyed is summarised in Table 8-1. This shows that the majority of 

respondents to the businesses survey were license holders for a market stall (65.9%). This is followed by those 

who were the main leaseholder for the property they were occupying. 

Table 7-4 Leasehold status of business 

Question Options Respondents 

What is the leasehold status of your premises? Freeholder 2.4% 

Main leaseholder 21.4% 

Sub-leaseholder 2.4% 

Licence-holder for a market stall 65.9% 

Do not know 7.9% 

Response Rate Answered Question 126 

Skipped Question 2 

 

Table 8-2 summarises the length of time that businesses have operated at the current location. Over 64% of 

businesses have been at the location for over 6 years and 37% over 10 years which shows that most of the 

businesses surveyed are well established at the location. 

Table 7-5 Length of time in operation  

Question Options Respondents 

How long has the business/organisation operated in its 

current premises? 

Less than 12 months 3.9% 

Between one and two years 7.1% 

Between three and five years 24.4% 

Between six and ten years 27.6% 

More than ten years 37.0% 

Response Rate Answered Question 127 

Skipped Question 1 

 

The majority of businesses interviewed classed themselves as a market stall (67.7%), whereas 19.7% were 

independent shops or businesses. A further 3.9% classified themselves as a local outlet of a national chain and 

2.4% classified themselves as a community organisation. The remaining 6.3% classified themselves as ‘other.’ 

Figure 8-1 provides a breakdown of the types of businesses interviewed. Clothes shops, Fresh food shops and 

Page 127



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
60 

 

 

stalls, jewellery, bags and accessories and fast-food shops were the most popular categories. However, the 

businesses in the area provide a wide range of goods and services. 

Figure 7-1 Type of existing businesses on-site  

 

8.3 Diversity of business owners/managers 

The majority of businesses interviewed were owned by males (89.8%). Figure 8-2 shows the age breakdown of 

owners and managers in the area indicating that only a small minority of businesses are run by those in the 

youngest or oldest age categories.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Clothing/shoes

Fresh food

Jewellery/bags/accessories

Fast food

Trades and other services

Other

Beauty/hair/cosmetics

Soft Furnishings

Fabrics/Bedding

Restaurant/cafe

Jewellery/accessories

Beauty/hair salon

Supermarket/general food

Health care

Specialist food shop

Police

Newsagent

Pub/Bar

Fabrics

Chemist

Betting shop

Café

Mobile phone shop / electrical goods

White goods

Estate Agents

Community organisation / charity / advice…

Page 128



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
61 

 

 

Figure 7-2 Age of business owners/managers 

 

 

The ethnicity of business owners is shown in Table 8-3. The largest ethnic group amongst business owners and 

managers was Arab (22.4%). This was followed by Asian/Asian British: Pakistani (12.8%). Overall, BAME groups 

make up over 80% of business owners on the exiting site. 

Table 7-6 Ethnic group of business owner/managers 

Question Options Respondents 

Which of the following ethnic 

groups do you feel you 

belong to? 

Arab 22.4% 
Asian/Asian British: Pakistani 12.8% 
White: English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 12% 
Other Ethnic Group  11.2% 
Asian/Asian British: Other Asian 8.8% 
Asian/Asian British: Indian 8% 
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African 8% 
Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi 5.6% 
White: Other White 4% 
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Other Black 2.4% 
Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Black Caribbean 1.6% 
Mixed/multiple ethnic group: Other Mixed 0.8% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Caribbean 0.8% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Asian 0.8% 

Refused/prefer not to say 0.8% 
Response Rate Answered Question 125 

Skipped Question 3 

 
The largest religious group amongst business owners and managers was Islam (69.2%), followed by Christianity 
(12.6%), Hinduism (5.5%) and Judaism (5.5%). 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74

%
 o

f 
b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s

Page 129



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
62 

 

 

8.3.1 Employees 

On average the businesses interviewed had two full time employees and two part-time employee which indicating 

the high presence of small business in the area. Approximately 276, employees worked across the businesses 

interviewed. When asked about the ethnic groupings of employees, respondents listed: 

• Asian/Asian British - 31%; 

• Black/African/Caribbean/Black British – 17%; 

• Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups – 17%; 

• Latin American – 13%; 

• Arab – 9%; and 

• White British/White Other – 13%. 

8.3.2 Customers 

Businesses were asked to confirm the extent to which they agreed with a set of statements relating to their 

business and its customers. Figure 8-3 demonstrates that over 70% of businesses agreed or strongly agreed with 

all statements. The highest level of agreement was with statements relating to customers coming from the local 

community and serving people from a shared ethnic background. 

Figure 7-3 Shared protected characteristics of customers 

 
 

8.3.3 Businesses and the Church Street regeneration programme  

Businesses were asked if they had been aware of the proposals for the Church Street Regeneration Programme 

prior to the interview and 88% of the businesses who responded agreed that they were aware of the proposals. 

However, only 46.1% of businesses stated they had taken part in any consultation activities associated with the 

regeneration programme with the majority of these being meetings in the council office. 

Businesses were also asked how supportive they were of the plans for the regeneration of Church Street: 

• 58.3% of businesses were either supportive or very supportive for the regeneration.  

• 23.6% of businesses were neither supportive nor unsupportive,  

• 13.4% were unsupportive and 

• 4.7% were very unsupportive.  

Page 130



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
63 

 

 

Reasons for support included: 

• ‘It will bring more business into the area;’  

• ‘We need some changes as properties are not in a good state/need new housing;’ 

• ‘maybe the area will get more attention and more footfall;’ and 

• ‘to modernise the market.’  

Reasons against the regeneration of the area included: 

• ‘Because if we moved from here it might be possible, I lose my customer;’ and 

• ‘Uncertainty where we will work during regeneration time period.’ 

When asked to rate the existing site on a number of factors, transport links, culturally specific shops and services 

and availability of commercial units were rated highest. General attractiveness as a destination and competitive 

rental rates of commercial units were rated lowest (Figure 8-4).  

Figure 7-4 Views on the existing site 

 
 

Businesses were informed that if regeneration of the area goes ahead there will likely be a period of temporary 

relocation for the market. They were asked what additional measures they might feel were needed so that their 

business can continue to operate during both the development stage, as well as the longer-term. During the 

development stage, the majority of responses related to ‘parking,’ ‘electricity’ and ‘public toilets’. During the long-

term, responses also included ‘parking,’ ‘electricity’ and ‘public toilets’ as well as ‘affordable rent and better 

facilities. 

When asked if they have any other comments regarding the proposed development and any potential impact on 

your business, there were some mixed responses including: 

 

• ‘I don’t have any idea what’s going to happen’  

• ‘I hope the proposal will benefit local business and residents and no other changes we know 
nothing about’ 

• ‘I would like help with advertising and promotion of my business’ 

• ‘I’m worried I might to have to go and I need more information – I’ve already been moved out of 3 
areas of London already’ 

• ‘I think it will be fine and good for the area’ 

• ‘I would like the development to be cancelled’ 

• ‘If they redevelop the site another location for us might be busier but don’t really know’ 

• ‘This regeneration effect my business and I don't know what will be in the future’ 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Transport links

Availability of commercial units

Competitive rental rates of commercial units

Existing level of footfall

Centre for culturally specific shops and services

General attractiveness as destination

Very poor Poor Average Good Very good

Page 131



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
64 

 

 

• ‘We just hope something is made clear before too long as it affects our business all this 
uncertainty’ 

• ‘I feel like as all the flats are going to go and a lot of businesses will suffer as a result as it won’t 
be so busy and it will take time to build up again’ 

• ‘Some people say it could be good others bad / i can only hope it will benefit my business’ 

• ‘The regeneration must be started quickly so that the uncertainty goes away’ 

• ‘If they knock down the flats it would devastate our business as that’s where all our clients come 
from’ 

• ‘It’s going to mean we will have to relocate and it might be hard to find reasonable rent as a 
business we need to keep our overheads low’ 

• ‘The business will grow with new facilities and regeneration’ 

• ‘More outside toilets needed more open space with seating’  

• ‘Allocate stalls for variety purposes to make the market more attractive’ 

8.4 On-street surveys 

Interviews were undertaken in the Church Street area with customers visiting local business as well as those 

passing through the area. The aim of the survey was to establish use of local businesses by customers and their 

views on the regeneration. In total, 100 responses were collected between the 14th and 21st May 2019.  

8.4.1 Frequency of visits to the Church Street area 

Table 8-4 shows that the majority of respondents (43%) surveyed lived in the Church Street area, 28% visited 

every day and 19% visited every week.  

Table 7-7 Frequency of visits to the Church Street area 

Question Options Respondents 

How often do you visit the area shown on the map? I live here 43% 

Every day 28% 

Every week 19% 

Less than once a week 10% 

Response Rate Answered Question 100 

Skipped Question 0 

 

Table 8-5 shows that the most popular mode of travel to the area was by walking (46.5%). A further 25.3% 

travelled by bus and 11.1% by the underground. This shows that travelling by non-motorised transport is popular 

and public transport is being used over travelling by car. 

 Table 7-8 Main mode of travel to the Church Street area 

Question Options Respondents 

How do you usually travel to the area shown on the map? Walk 46.5% 

Cycle 3.0% 

Car 5.1% 

Underground 11.1% 

Bus 25.3% 

Taxi 9.1% 

Response Rate Answered Question 99 

Skipped Question 1 

 

Respondents were asked to rate the area on a scale of 1 to 5 (with 1 being very poor and 5 being very good) on 

the factors shown in Figure 8-5.  Transport was rated the highest score showing the high level of connectivity in 

Page 132



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
65 

 

 

the area. Over 70% of respondents also rated proximity to their home as ‘good’ or ‘very good’ showing the 

importance of the Church Street businesses and market to local residents. 

The lowest rated factor associated with the Church Street area was safety with almost 20% of respondents rating 

this as ‘very poor’ or ‘poor’. 

Figure 7-5 Rating of factors relating to Church Street area   

 

Table 7-9 Reason for visiting Church Street 

Question Options Respondents 
 

Yes, this is the main purpose of my 

visit to Church Street today 
51% 

No, I am mainly visiting for a different 

purpose 
49% 

 Response Rate Answered Question 100 

Skipped Question 0 

 

Of all respondents interviewed on-street, 51% said that they had specifically travelled to Church Street to visit a 

business within the Church Street area. Respondents were asked if there were any businesses or services that 

they used where there was no viable alternative nearby. Table 8-7 summarises the responses and shows that 

32% of those interviewed thought there were no nearby alternatives to services they were using. Feedback on 

this included: 

• ‘The fruit and veg stalls are reasonably priced’, and 

• There was no nearby market like this and that it is unique to the area. 

Table 7-10 Alternatives to businesses in the Church Street area 

Question Options Respondents 
 

Yes  32% 

No 47% 

Do not know 21% 

 Response Rate Answered Question 99 

Skipped Question 0 

 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Transport links

Proximity to your home

Community

Centre for culturally specific shops and services

Safety

Accessibility

% of respondents

1 - Very poor 2 3 4 5 - Very good

Did you travel to Church Street today to visit one 

or more specific business, shops or market stalls? 

Are there are any businesses or services that you use in 

the area shown on the map for which there is no nearby 

alternative? 

 

Page 133



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
66 

 

 

Figure 8-6 shows that the majority of respondents would not be able to use services if they were relocated 

elsewhere in Church Street. Reasons for this include; 

• ‘the next library is too far away’, 

• ‘it depends where the relocation is’,  

• ‘it would be a shame and it will be an inconvenience’.  

 

Figure 7-6 Would you still be able to use the businesses or facilities you mentioned if they were relocated 

elsewhere? 

 

8.4.2 Views on the Church Street regeneration programme 

Of those interviewed, 51% of respondents were aware of the regeneration proposals before being interviewed. 

When asked for any other comments regarding the proposed regeneration and any potential impact on day-to-

day activities in the area, there was a mixture of responses with more positive comments than negative 

comments. Positive comments included that they like the idea of modernisation, it will hopefully improve safety, it 

will be good for the community and if it brings in more money then it is good for the area. Some negative 

comments included it will disrupt the community and moving would make things harder. 21% of respondents had 

no comments.  

There was limited variation in views on the regeneration across different genders, ethnic groups, or religious 

groups but overall, there were more negative views towards the proposals from women between 25 and 44. 

8.4.3 Diversity of on-street survey respondents 

Table 8-8 provides a breakdown of the protected characteristic data of respondents who were surveyed as part of 

the on-street survey. 

Table 7-8 Diversity breakdown of on-street respondents 

Protected Characteristic Options Respondents 

Sex 

 

Male 47% 

Female 52% 

Other 1% 

Total 100% 

Non-responses 0% 

Age 18 - 24 19% 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Yes No Don't know

%
 o

f 
re

s
d

ie
n

ts
 

Page 134



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
67 

 

 

Protected Characteristic Options Respondents 

25 - 34 16% 

35 - 44 19% 

45 - 54 13% 

55 - 64 10% 

65 - 74 4% 

75+ 5% 

Total 86% 

Non-responses 14% 

Ethnicity White: English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 33% 

White: Irish 6% 

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller 1% 

White: Other White 13% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Black Caribbean 5% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Black African 4% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Asian 1% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: Other Mixed 1% 

Asian/Asian British: Indian 3% 

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi 10% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African 5% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Caribbean 3% 

Arab 7% 

Other Ethnic Group  4% 

Total 96% 

Non-responses 4% 

Religion/Belief Christianity 30% 

Hinduism 2% 

Islam 23% 

Judaism 2% 

Buddhism 1% 

No religion 28% 

Other 6% 

Total 92% 

Non-responses 8% 

Sexual Orientation Heterosexual 94% 

Lesbian/Gay/Bisexual 3% 

Other 1% 

Total 98% 

Non-responses 2% 

 

8.4.4 Asylum Seeker status 

Of all on-street respondents, 2% identified themselves as a refugee or asylum seeker.  

Page 135



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
68 

 

 

8.4.5 Disability  

Of all respondents, 14% stated that they were disabled. Disabilities included learning difficulties, mobility issues, 

mental health issues, diabetes, and asthma.  

  

Page 136



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
69 

 

 

9. Assessment of potential equality effects 

9.1 Introduction  

The assessment of equality effects considers the potential impacts on affected people sharing protected 

characteristics arising from the Church Street Estate Regeneration – Sites A, B and C. It considers: 

• Direct and indirect impacts of the proposed development; 

• Impacts during the construction and operational phases of the proposed development; and 

• The adverse and beneficial impacts for local residents and businesses and the wider Church Street 

community. 

The assessment is based on the proposed development set out in the hybrid planning application for the site. 

This is a high-level impact assessment based on the policies information and data sources reviewed in this report 

and addresses impacts relevant to the key themes identified for the Church Street Masterplan. A framework for 

the assessment of equality impacts is outlined in Table 9-1. 

Table 9-1 EqIA assessment framework 

Church Street 
Masterplan 
Theme 

EqIA objectives 

  

Homes • Provide a mix of good quality, affordable and specialist housing that meets the needs of Church 
Street residents, including older people, people with disabilities (particularly those with 
accessibility issues) and families with children. 

• Provide a range of rehousing options to enable tenants and leaseholders to stay in the local 
area and in their communities. 

• Provide other rehousing options and support for those that do not want to remain in the housing 
renewal area. 

• Enable leaseholders to remain as home owners where possible. 

• Identify residents who may need support through an unsettling and difficult process – 
particularly those with vulnerabilities and medical issues. 

Market and Economy • Provide support to market stall-holders to thrive on the new development and during temporary 
relocation 

• Support a diverse and resilient economy that provides opportunities for all and promote 
regeneration. This could include social enterprise, voluntary and community sectors. 

• Provide employment opportunities, for disadvantaged and underrepresented groups. 

• Ensure that education and skills provision meets the needs of Church Street’s existing and 
future labour market and improves life chances for all. 

Making Connections 

 

• Ensure that the provision of infrastructure is managed and delivered to meet local population 
and demographic change. This includes providing infrastructure that maximises accessibility for 
all and connects new housing developments to the open spaces and community facilities 
services. 

• promote alternatives to car use and prioritise active travel. 

Population and 

Communities 

• Support good access to existing and planned community infrastructure and facilities for new 
and existing residents and visitors, mindful of the potential for community needs to change over 
time. 

• Improve perceptions of safety and fear of crime to help remove barriers to activities and reduce 
social isolation.  

Health and wellbeing  

 

• Improve the physical and mental health and wellbeing of Church Street residents and reduce 
health inequalities across the Borough and between local communities. 

• Minimise loneliness, maximise independence and improve mental and physical wellbeing of 
older people 

Page 137



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
70 

 

 

9.2 Homes 

9.2.1 Construction phase – potential beneficial impacts 

9.2.2 Permanent rehousing opportunity for tenants 

The Housing Needs Assessment identified 19% of households who would welcome a permanent move from 

Church Street to other areas within or outside of the borough and 21.6% these households suffer from 

overcrowding. These households have the opportunity to move to new larger accommodation or split households 

if preferred. New local developments such as Lyons Place are able to provide temporary accommodation and 

permanent accommodation options for Church Street residents on a priority basis for residents. A permanent 

move to a new property is likely to benefit large households including families with children and those where 

more than one household are currently living within the same property. 

The Council’s Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas63 sets out options for social housing tenants including 

permanent moves to new social homes in the local area, moves to another social home in Westminster or 

elsewhere. As of September 2023, the first, and only, refusal offer to new build housing stock has been made to 

tenants with approximately 85-90% of tenants having moved into new housing. Of the 47 Site A leaseholders, 

currently 4 have chosen the option to move back to site when it is redeveloped. 

9.2.3 Construction phase - potential adverse impacts 

9.2.4 Potential for compulsory acquisition of leasehold properties 

Sites A, B and C include properties that are not owned by Westminster Council, with 109 leasehold properties 

identified through the HNA. In many cases these properties have been bought by their current leaseholders 

through a right to buy scheme.  

The Council’s Policy for Leaseholders in Renewal Areas 64 sets out a number of options for resident leaseholders 

to remain in, or return to, their Housing Renewal Area with different options available to suit different 

circumstances. Where leaseholders opt to remain in, or return to the Housing Renewal Area, reasonable efforts 

will be made to help them to remain homeowners. As of September 2023, four leaseholders have chosen the 

option to move back to the site once it is redeveloped, and the Council has made shared equity offers to these 

people. 

Additionally, for those leaseholders who wish to move away from the area, the Council will provide help and 

support with the move. Residents leaseholders will be entitled to financial compensation equal to the open 

market value of the property as well as further compensation in the form of disturbance and homes loss 

payments.  

Non-resident leaseholders will only have the option to sell their property at market value to the Council and 

receive the statutory financial compensation. They will also receive a basic loss payment, which is 7.5% of the 

market value of the property and disturbance payment in relation to costs incurred in acquiring a replacement 

property. In the case of resident leaseholders, the Council have considered the option of offering available new 

build stock to them on a shared equity basis, which gives them a financially achievable option to remain in the 

local area and remain close to their local connections.  

Westminster Community Homes (WCH) act on the Council’s behalf to organise and maintain engagement and 

communication with all renewal leaseholders. They do this by writing, calling and physically visiting the 

leaseholder at a time and place which meets the leaseholder’s needs. During these personal sessions WCH run 

through all the available options leaseholders have, explain the home loss and disturbance compensation 

packages the leaseholders is eligible to and outline the additional support the Council can offer them.  

Furthermore, the CS regeneration office has also held leaseholder engagement sessions during the evenings 

and on a Saturdays, to offer more support and advice to all leaseholders, in case they work or have care need 

 
63 Westminster Council (2019) Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/policy_for_tenants_in_housing_renewal_areas_2019_final.pdf 
64 Westminster Council (2018) Policy for Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Areas 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/leaseholder_policy_for_housing_renewal_areasfinal21.9.2018.pdf 

Page 138

https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/policy_for_tenants_in_housing_renewal_areas_2019_final.pdf
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/leaseholder_policy_for_housing_renewal_areasfinal21.9.2018.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
71 

 

 

responsibilities during the day and week. The following steps have been undertaken to improve communication 

and engagement with different leaseholders including: 

• Older leaseholders: 

─ Larger font on correspondence can be provided on request with all correspondence.  

─ Engagement and communication with the leaseholder’s family members can be arranged with their 

consent.  

─ Setting aside additional time for visits/interviews/viewings etc if they are elderly.  

─ Transport can be arranged to viewings/events etc. 

─ Encouragement to have an advocate, for instance a family member attend meeting. 

• Leaseholders who do not speak English as a first language:  

─ Translation services have been used and can be organised if English is not easily understood by the 

leaseholder.  

• Disabled leaseholders: 

─ Within the Leaseholder policy WCC will cover the cost of the new adaptations if already fitted in the 

existing property 

WCH has sent introductory letters to residents living in sites B and C to inform leaseholders that they are able to 

make contact to discuss the planning application. PPCR, an independent residential advisory service, have also 

been appointed by the Council as a residential impartial support service to offer free advice to all leaseholders, 

secure tenants, TA tenants and private tenants. Between February 2019 and August 2023, PPCR completed 

1,884 engagement interactions with local residents, through a variety of formats including door-knocking (325 

interactions), drop-ins (182 interactions), phone/e-mail (1,178 interactions), workshops (30 interactions), and at 

WCC events (101 interactions). The positive impact of these interactions is that residents will most likely feel 

better informed about the potential compulsory acquisition process, and what their options are in terms of moving 

property. 

Where possible, the Council will aim to negotiate an agreement with leaseholders to purchase leaseholder 

interests using the options set out in the Policy for leaseholders. However, as a last resort the Council could be 

required to apply for Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) powers to acquire properties.  

This could result in adverse effects for leaseholders who live in the affected interests and may be forced to move 

out of the area or lose full ownership of a leasehold property. This could particularly affect people with BAME 

status, older people, disabled people and families who may lose important social and community ties. The 

Council will provide additional assistance to vulnerable leaseholders and will engage with third parties including 

family members, social services and health practitioners to identify and address any special needs. 

Should CPO powers be required then the EqIA should be updated to identify specific impacts associated that 

may arise with the CPO process. 

9.2.5 Temporary relocation of social housing tenants 

The regeneration will require 229 households in Sites A, B & C to decant to achieve vacant possession of the 

blocks. This will result in the temporary relocation of social housing residents during the construction phase.  

The Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas sets out the process and rights for tenants required to 

temporary relocate. Supply of housing in the local area might be limited and therefore those with the highest 

needs will be prioritised for the supply that is available by the award of additional points or priority. These will be 

awarded where:  

• An application has been made to a primary or secondary school for a qualifying member of the household, 

and a move away from the local area could result in them not being chosen for it. (This only applies where 

the current address is in the catchment area);  

• A qualifying member of the household is receiving a specialist medical service and would be unable to 

continue to travel there due to their age, vulnerability and/or a disability;  

• The tenant is in Community Supportive Housing and is particularly vulnerable due to their age or health; or  

Page 139



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
72 

 

 

• There are other exceptional reasons.  

Returning tenants, who have had to move away, will also have the first priority for new homes within the Church 

Street area.  

According to the HNA 68.6% of households have lived in the area for 5 years or more. This could mean that 

some residents have established important community and social ties. Temporary relocation of residents could 

potentially have the following effects for groups with protected characteristics for which these ties are more 

important including older people, people with disabilities, BAME residents and families with children who may be 

more reliant on informal and formal, social and support networks in the local area. 

Households that include school-aged children will be prioritised for temporary homes in the local area to enable 

them to continue attending their current school or to a school they have applied. This only applies to where the 

child’s current address is within the catchment area of the school and therefore those children attending other 

schools may potentially have to change schools. However, the area has good transport links, which improves the 

chances that children will be able to continue at their current school and use existing childcare arrangements 

should they need to relocate outside of the immediate area. The Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas 

does set out timescales for relocation or identify ways in which the communities can be kept together or provided 

with appropriate support through the move if this is not possible.  

The Relocations team has carried out housing needs assessment for every secure tenant and have identified any 

language issues. Every address in Site A has been visited and as of September 2023 and 140 of the 145 

residents have successfully been rehoused. Additionally, the Relocations team has also arranged actual services 

for tenants when moving to minimise resident disruption- including support with rents, utilities, mail redirection, 

and disposals.  They have also been working to identify specific support needs for residents including: 

• For older tenants:  

─ Larger font on correspondence can be provided on request. 

─ Setting aside additional time for visits/interviews/viewings etc if I know they are elderly.  

─ Transport can be arranged to viewings/events etc. 

─ Encouragement to have an advocate, for instance a family member attend meeting. 

• For those with language barriers  

─ Translation services  

─ Encouragement to have an advocate, for instance a family member attend meeting. 

─ Work with Scheme Manager to accommodate needs of tenants who do not speak English. 

• Larger households  

─ Organise meetings around the tenant's schedule. 

─ Consider housing options near to the children’s school.  

─ Offer reimbursement of new uniform if children change school.  

─ Award high priority to renewal tenants, so they have first options to view larger properties.   

─ In certain scenarios with large households, the option to split the household will be made available to 

the tenant.  

Once the tenant has moved into their temporary new home, they will have the option to return to the new 

development once it is built. Temporary social tenants will be invited to view the new property, and should they 

not like it, they will have the option to remain where they are. If they do decide to move all disturbance costs 

(such as removals and redistribution of mail) involved in moving a second time will be covered by the council.  

In order to keep track of impacts experienced by tenants as they move, a monitoring programme has been set up 

to record where tenants are being relocated to, however, it does not capture diversity data of household 

members. Furthermore, a communications officer could be appointed and be in touch with households moved to 

understand their experience and ensure their quality of life has not decreased, and where possible, make note of 

improved standard of living. In cases where tenants choose to move a second time, there should be efforts to 

understand why they might want to move, and whether any support can be offered to make the process more 

Page 140



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
73 

 

 

comfortable. For many social housing tenants, moving can be expensive and at times, emotionally charged as 

the process can create anxiety and uncertainty, especially for those from lower income households. Furthermore, 

tenants might experience high costs and issues of affordability which are beyond the disturbance costs paid by 

the council. In such cases, the impacts of having to move could affect certain PCGs more than others, and the 

council should pay attend to how these households can be further supported.  

9.2.6 Relocation of private tenants 

The EqIA undertaken for the Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas 2019 found that the impact on private 

tenants is largely negative as there is no rehousing offer, although help and support will be available to those that 

may be homeless as a result of housing renewal. In addition, private rental accommodation in the Church Street 

area are lower are than much of Westminster so it could be particularly hard for this group to find alternative 

housing in the local area or borough. However, as of September 2023, WCC have purchased 110 properties from 

a nearby private developer to accommodate rehousing needs, and a further 208 homes ranging from 1-4 beds 

have been built and made available to rehouse residents. 

  

At least 10% of properties on the site are privately rented. Households that include people with BAME status, 

older people, disabled people and families may lose important social and community ties if they need to move 

away from the area. It is also recognised that this is a risk that already exists with shorthold private rental tenure. 

The Council has already appointed an Independent Resident Advisor to provide advice and support to tenants 

and leaseholders. This continued support (or signposting towards existing organisations providing advocacy and 

advice) to help find alternative affordable accommodation would help to minimise against negative equality 

impacts. Furthermore, in January 2021, the Council published a five-year private rented sector strategy detailing 

its plans to improve housing market conditions for tenants and to ensure the sector is well managed. The strategy 

identifies the need to ensure properties are good quality, and that all stakeholders including tenants, landlords 

and lettings agents are informed of their rights and responsibilities and that support can be provided where 

needed, including taking action when the law is broken. 

PPCR, an independent residential advisory service, have also been appointed by the Council as a residential 

impartial support service to offer free advice to all leaseholders, secure tenants, TA tenants and private tenants. 

Between February 2019 and August 2023, PPCR completed 1,884 engagement interactions with local residents, 

through a variety of formats including door-knocking (325 interactions), drop-ins (182 interactions), phone/e-mail 

(1,178 interactions), workshops (30 interactions), and at WCC events (101 interactions). The positive impact of 

these interactions is that residents will most likely feel better informed about the relocation process and what 

options they have available to them in terms of moving property. 

9.2.7 Operational phase - potential beneficial impacts 

9.2.8 Net increase in housing provision  

The regeneration includes provision for around 1,121 new homes, including replacement homes provided at 

social rent for existing council tenants and new homes, of which 50% will be affordable. The net increase in 

affordable housing will benefit people with priority for affordable housing, both social and intermediate, that are 

more likely to have protected characteristics (particularly for social housing).  

While those likely to benefit from the increase in affordable homes are not necessarily local residents the council 

has committed to developing a Local Lettings Plan (LLP) for the new additional affordable housing supply. 

Proposed principles for regeneration areas within the LLP are set out in the Supply and Allocation of Social 

Housing 2018/19 Cabinet Report65 and focus on prioritising local people. LLP will be subject to consultation.  

Baseline data and information from the HNA shows that Church Street has high levels of overcrowding; it is 

considered that an increase in the provision of housing suitable for families would also have a positive impact for 

children.  

Specific groups with high needs for access to housing and high representation amongst the local population 

include BAME groups and older people. These groups particularly stand to benefit from new housing associated 

 
65Westminster Council (2018) Cabinet Report: Supply and Allocation of Social Housing 2018/19 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/social_housing_supply_and_allocations_2018-19.pdf 

Page 141

https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/social_housing_supply_and_allocations_2018-19.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
74 

 

 

with the regeneration, except where affordability barriers could limit these opportunities. In particular, new private 

housing in the area may be beyond the means of many local residents. 

There is also an on-going need to procure more settled accommodation for homeless households and this was 

cited as a priority during consultation with young people with regards to housing regeneration. There may be an 

opportunity for the regeneration to help address the needs of vulnerable people in the area through suitable 

housing and other forms of support, which may benefit people belonging to certain protected groups including 

young people. 

The population aged 65+ is projected to increase significantly over 20 years in Church Street and in the borough. 

An increase in the number of elderly people will require appropriate housing that meets their needs. Housing 

implications include increased demand for both specialist accommodation for older people and for services and 

home adaptations to enable older people to remain ‘at home’ living independently. This will also have implications 

for the types of development and services that will be required to meet the needs of society, including disabled 

people. The Housing Needs Assessment found that 125 out of 299 interviewed households confirmed that 

someone living in the household had medical issues and 26 households had members using wheelchairs or 

walking aids at least some of the time.  

The proposals include 10% (a net increase of 120) new homes to be fully wheelchair accessible. This will be of 

particular benefit for people with mobility issues including older people and people with disabilities. 

9.2.9 Improved quality housing on the sites 

Many of the responses to initial public consultation for the options for Sites A, B & C acknowledged that 

properties on the site were no longer ‘fit for purpose’ and cited specific issues around access, heating and 

ventilation and anti-social behaviour. Older people also specifically commented on the lack of lift access, being 

unable to bathe, difficulties in using their toilets and the heating systems. 

The properties on site currently do not have lifts and initial consultation feedback found that residents would like 

new homes to be accessible to older people and people with disabilities including lift access. 

In line with the feedback received from more recent consultation rounds, the Council have stated that new homes 

will be designed in accordance with the Nationally Prescribed Space Standards which promote dual aspect flats, 

good natural surveillance, adaptable for changing needs and provision of private amenity space. It is estimated 

that the new homes will require less energy to heat and thereby expected to reduce heating bills. This is a benefit 

that can be shared by groups with protected characteristics including those in lower income or single households 

and more vulnerable to heating charges such as older people.  

As of September 2023, it has been confirmed that all of the new build properties on site will be accessible in 

terms of lifetime homes standards, and of the 208 homes that have been built for rehousing tenants, 24 are 

wheelchair adaptable and 130 of them are to lifetime home standards. 

9.2.10 Operational phase - potential adverse impacts 

9.2.11 Potential increase in rent for social housing tenants 

In some cases, tenants may move to smaller properties as returners are offered homes based on the size 

needed and therefore would not receive an increase in rent. However, some tenants will potentially be subject to 

an increase in rent costs when located in temporary and/or permanent accommodation as well as moved to 

larger or newer accommodation with higher rents in the new development.  

 

There is no information on the likely rent levels expected within the new development, although rents will also be 

set in line with national formula so any increases should not be significant. However, even a small increase can 

be significant for those on a low income and the Council need to consider current rents paid by tenants and the 

likely impact of an increase across different households. The impacts of increased rent may also be exacerbated 

by higher service charges and this is noted as a potential negative impact in the EqIA for the Council’s Policy for 

Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas. 

 

Groups that may be most adversely impact are those who are unemployed, low-income households, families 

(especially single parents) and those with additional carer roles, disabled people and older people. However, it is 

acknowledged that many tenants will receive some form of housing benefit that contributes to their rent and 

Page 142



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
75 

 

 

service charge payment and as such the effects of a rent increase on these groups could be limited to those who 

do not receive benefits. 

9.2.12 Affordable housing options for resident leaseholders 

As mentioned above under the Council aim to negotiate the purchase of leaseholds from existing resident 

leaseholders within the current site. Leaseholds have been bought from the Council under the Right to Buy 

scheme and as such at discounted rates from the market value of the property. The leaseholds will be brought at 

market value but leaseholders may have difficult in securing similar property in the area, in other preferred areas 

or in the new development at an equivalent cost. The Council’s Policy for Leaseholders in Renewal Areas 66 sets 

out a number of options for resident leaseholders to remain in, or return to, their Housing Renewal Area with 

different options available to suit different circumstances. Where leaseholders opt to remain in, or return to the 

Housing Renewal Area, reasonable efforts will be made to help them to remain homeowners. Options include: 

• Buying one of the new homes outright or through an equity loan or on a shared equity basis or shared 

ownership basis; 

• Buying another leasehold property in the housing renewal area; or 

• Becoming a social or an intermediate tenant in the housing renewal area. 

Additionally, for those leaseholders who wish to move away from the area, the Council will provide help and 

support with the move. Residents leaseholders are also entitled to financial compensation equal to the open 

market value of the property as well as further compensation in the form of disturbance and homes loss 

payments.  

This could potentially provide more adverse impacts on older people, those with low incomes as well as some 

non-UK born residents who may find it difficult to transfer mortgages or apply for a new mortgage for a new 

property. Some leaseholders may have no option but to join the private rental sector if they are unable to find an 

affordable equivalent home. 

The EqIA for the policy also identified a potential negative impact where a leaseholder is eligible to become an 

intermediate tenant, rather than a social one. In this case the tenancy offered is likely to be a shorthold assured 

one, which offers less security than a social tenancy (and some providers only renew them in certain 

circumstances or offer them for a fixed term). They offer less security than a leaseholder will have now as a home 

owner. Having to pay an intermediate rent may lead to some leaseholders having higher housing costs than 

before. This might particularly impact households with children, older people and those with disabilities. However, 

a tenancy is only likely to be offered in limited circumstances and where the home ownership options are not 

appropriate for the leaseholder and intermediate tenancies are offered subject to the being affordable on the 

leaseholder’s income.      

The Council’s current mitigation plan involves offering all renewal tenants moving on a permanent basis first 

refusal to all available new build local stock, with the option to move permanently if that is the preferred option. 

While this option minimises both the inconvenience of tenants having to move more than once and also means 

tenants will not have to wait until the new development is built (which can take years to complete) before moving 

into their new permanent home, it does not presently mitigate the possible impacts experienced by those that 

may not accept these conditions and may have to find alternative accommodation outside the Church Street 

area. Tenants may refuse the options offered for a number of reasons, ranging from loss of sentimental value of 

their home to problems with the design and anxiety around moving, in which case the Council should engage 

directly with these residents and find ways to mitigate the negative impacts they will experience.  

PPCR, an independent residential advisory service, have also been appointed by the Council as a residential 

impartial support service to offer free advice to all leaseholders, secure tenants, TA tenants and private tenants. 

Between February 2019 and August 2023, PPCR completed 1,884 engagement interactions with local residents, 

through a variety of formats including door-knocking (325 interactions), drop-ins (182 interactions), phone/e-mail 

(1,178 interactions), workshops (30 interactions), and at WCC events (101 interactions). The positive impact of 

these interactions is that residents will most likely feel better informed about what affordable housing options are 

available to them. 

 
66 Westminster Council (2018) Policy for Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Areas 
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/leaseholder_policy_for_housing_renewal_areasfinal21.9.2018.pdf 

Page 143

https://www.westminster.gov.uk/sites/default/files/leaseholder_policy_for_housing_renewal_areasfinal21.9.2018.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
76 

 

 

9.2.13 Potential adverse effects with respect to loss of light 

It is possible that a number of properties in the development area could be affected by minor light loss. More 

information is required as to the protected characteristics of those living within the affected properties. 

It is worth noting that respondents during both rounds of consultation conducted in 2021 specifically mentioned 

the “depressing”, “dark”, and “gloomy” environment that tall buildings obscuring light could create. Furthermore, 

some respondents in the June-July consultation round also noted that despite the Council’s adjusted plans, a 

large number of buildings could create a very high-density neighbourhood which could have health and wellbeing 

impacts for those residents that are affected by anxiety or depression, and that it would be preferable to have 

open and well-lit spaces.   

In June 2023, the Right of Light Impact on Neighbouring Properties Report was completed. The report highlighted 

unavoidable right of light impacts on neighbouring properties due to the scale of the scheme. Of the 100 

properties assessed for potential rights of light (RtL) impacts, 10 properties experience minimal losses and 33 

properties experience actionable losses of light as a result of implementing the regeneration scheme proposals.  

For properties, particularly residential properties, which do experience a loss of light, equality effects may arise 

for residents who share protected characteristics. This may arise where a resident is more sensitive than other 

people, due to a protected characteristic, for example a disability.  

All parties who suffer an expected RtL injury will be notified and engaged with. Property owners will be entitled to 

compensation for any reduction in the value of their property caused by the development. It is acknowledged 

where occupiers are tenants, they may not be the beneficiary of the compensation. All affected parties included in 

the CPO, including RtL parties, will be notified that the CPO has been submitted and notified of the process for 

making an objection / representation. If a council tenant experiences an interference with their natural light which 

has a significant impact on their use and enjoyment of their accommodation due to a disability/condition or their 

specific use of a property, they will be able to approach the Council’s housing team for a review of their housing 

needs. 

9.3  Market and economy 

9.3.1 Construction phase – potential beneficial impacts 

9.3.2 Creation of new construction-related employment opportunities 

The regeneration brings with it the opportunity for new employment, including 3,322 gross temporary construction 

jobs (equivalent to 332 permanent construction jobs).67  

The area has high levels of unemployment and low levels of educational attainment and as such there is potential 

for those seeking work to benefit from this employment opportunity. The groups who benefit from this new 

employment may vary considerably depending on the type of business and associated training. Equality effects 

may arise where employment or training is not available to groups with protected characteristics, for example 

where procurement policies make it harder for some groups to access the opportunities. 

The localised Westminster Employment Service (WES) continues to provide an employment coaching service for 

the local community.  The service works with local partners (Job Centre/developers etc.) to ensure existing 

employees and local people can benefit from job opportunities arising through the regeneration programme. The 

Church Street Responsible Procurement Plan has been drawn up and will be the conduit to ensuring that the 

contractors adhere to the council’s employment policies and that local residents are given priority over 

construction jobs and training. 

During the period from 2018/19 to date there have been a total of 55 local (Westminster) job starts for the Church 

Street sites, but no local apprenticeship starts. However, it is likely that these figures will increase significantly 

once construction starts on Sites A, B, and C. The breakdown of local employment generated to date, by scheme 

and year, is as follows: 

Scheme: 

 
67 Socioeconomic analysis of Church St for all Masterplan (2017) 

Page 144



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
77 

 

 

• West End Gate / Berkeley Homes: 3 

• Luton Street / Bouygues/: 38 

• Parson’s North/ Osborne Construction: 3 

• Dudley House / Willmott Dixon: 13 

Year: 

• 2018/19 (13) 

• 2019/20 (3) 

• 2020/21 (11) 

• 2021/22 (21) 

• 2022/23 (7) 

 

9.3.3 Construction phase – potential adverse impacts 

9.3.4 Temporary relocation of Church Street Market infrastructure 

The regeneration provides the opportunity to improve both the market offer and the facilities offered to existing 

and future traders. This includes around 220 stalls, 150 van parking spaces and 3,600m2 of storage and facilities. 

However, market stall-holders will experience temporary relocation to a new site or in the wider immediate area 

during the construction phase. Equality effects may be experienced where the pattern of affected business 

owners or employees affects a single race or share other protected characteristics. 

While the Council will retain market stalls where possible, it is anticipated that temporary relocations may occur in 

situations where either: 

• The trader requests a move 

• Large machinery must be brought to site via CS 

• Noise and dust from especially heavy works might prove difficult for traders to endure 

As of September 2023, following completion of negotiations with market traders regarding relocation options, the 

decision has been made for the basement car park at Site B to be used as interim storage space whilst Site A is 

being redeveloped. An architect has been commissioned to review proposed plans in relation to this move. 

Since the Council employs a Section 61 policy which does not allow for noisy works on a Saturday, disruption to 

Saturday traders in this area will be reduced. Additionally, public realm works will be phased in small increments 

to minimise impact on individual traders and make for faster completion. Due to lack of alternative pitches it may 

be necessary to suspend trading from affected pitches. 

Overall, disruption to market traders is being minimised by continuing market trading as a whole in a new 

temporary location. The Council is currently consulting with market traders on the new public realm plans and 

how the impacts of both the Public Realm and Site A works might affect them. The Council notes that to date, 

engagement feedback from traders has been very positive with only a couple of concerns about the suspension 

of trading. 

Furthermore, it is anticipated that the impacts of the works will only effect small groups of traders at any one time. 

The council will also minimise suspensions by delivering public realm improvements in shorter, faster increments. 

Going forward, the council must ensure the relevant needs of traders and customers continue to be considered in 

order to continue operating successfully. Any additional financial burdens should also be considered, for example 

where potential costs of moving location could adversely impact market traders and where existing customers 

might need to pay extra travel costs in order to keep on using the market. The development of a market 

relocation strategy could help to resolve some of the above issues and minimise adverse effects. 

Furthermore, in cases where relocation may not occur, the Council should consider potential health and wellbeing 

impacts from construction works on both stall-holders and customers.  

Page 145



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
78 

 

 

The EIA undertaken for this scheme found that areas most likely to be impacted by noise and vibration levels are 

Boscobel Street, Penfold Street, Church Street, Salisbury Street, Broadley Street and Edgware Road. This 

means stall-holders and customers will be impacted by high noise and vibration, as well as air pollution during the 

construction phase of the scheme. 

9.3.5 Permanent or temporary relocation of businesses 

The regeneration could result in the closure or temporary relocation of around 27 commercial leasehold interests 

in business properties. The proposed regeneration scheme includes provision for shop units. However, there will 

be a requirement for a temporary relocation during development of the site.  

There will be a shortfall of units overall, meaning that not all businesses will be able to relocate within the new 

development. Primary research found that over 84% of affected businesses were managed by a BAME 

freeholder or leaseholder. This may result in the closure of a number of BAME-owned businesses, where they 

are unwilling or unable to relocate the business successfully, with some associated loss of employment, including 

amongst BAME employees. This is likely to be particularly important for any family-run businesses, where more 

than one member of the family works for the business.  

Equality effects can be experienced where the pattern of affected business owners or employees affects a single 

ethnic group, or other patterns in terms of protected characteristics, including effects of changes to clustering of 

businesses offering services to a common customer set. Currently on-site, 22.4% of business owners identify 

themselves as Arab. However, these businesses are also likely to benefit from increased customers to the area 

should they relocate back on site in the new retail space. 

The Church Street regeneration team aim to assist current businesses to remain in the area or within 

Westminster if relocation is not possible. The localised WES service continues to provide an employment 

coaching service for the local community and works with local partners (Job Centre/developers etc.) to ensure 

existing employees and local people can benefit from job opportunities arising through the regeneration 

programme. Additionally, a curation strategy for Church Street is being developed as part of the regeneration 

programme which will set out the strategy to be used when letting the new commercial units within the 

development. The Council also made a commitment to reprovide some tenancies on site to existing businesses, 

where possible. A local fabric makers shop, for instance, will be reprovided their tenancy on site as per WCC. 

 

The Church Street Responsible Procurement Plan is being compiled and will be the conduit to ensuring that the 

contractors adhere to the council’s employment policies and that residents and businesses are given priority over 

jobs and training opportunities. This will allow WCC to invite or accept business applications for commercial units. 

It is recommended that the strategy should include measures to prioritise those businesses on the existing site 

and mitigation measures such as marketing and financial support for businesses who will not be able to return to 

the site. 

 

The purchase of leaseholds or freeholds, appropriate compensation for costs associated with relocation and 

disruption in line with guidance, and support with identification of suitable alternative accommodation (including 

for those businesses who would no longer be able to relocate as a result of the Site A design update) are 

considered appropriate measures to assist with mitigation against negative impacts for affected BAME business 

owners (particularly Arab) on the site. However, it is important to ensure continued effective collaboration 

between all interested parties, taking consideration of the differing levels of support needed by individual 

business owners. 

As of September 2023, the borough wide property search for affected businesses is ongoing – those being 

actively engaged are those who have surrendered their lease. Some businesses have already been relocated, for 

example the Church Street Pharmacy, which has been moved across the road and therefore remains usable by 

local residents, including those with particular needs such as disabled, older and elderly people, and those with 

medical conditions. WCC are also currently holding back commercial assets for consideration by businesses on 

Site A, the businesses will be offered one month to express an interest before the properties are taken off the 

market. 

9.3.6 Permanent or temporary loss of employment 

Employees and self-employed workers at affected businesses may experience temporary or permanent loss of 

income and/or employment until relocated and/or where the employer closes/downsizes/relocates elsewhere. 

Page 146



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
79 

 

 

Equality effects may be experienced where the pattern of effected employees affects a protected characteristic 

(e.g. race) disproportionally or have other protected characteristics which make them more sensitive than others 

to the effects of the regeneration. The potential negative impacts for affected employees can be mitigated against 

by providing support and advice through initiatives such as an Employment, Skills and Education Strategy for the 

scheme.  

In addition, any employment opportunities created through the regeneration should be accessible to all and 

promoted through a variety of channels to attract a diverse workforce. The localised Westminster Employment 

Service continues to provide an employment coaching service for the local community and works with local 

partners (Job Centre/developers etc.) to ensure existing employees and local people can benefit from job 

opportunities arising through the regeneration programme. 

The Church Street Responsible Procurement Plan is also being compiled and will be the conduit to ensuring that 

the contractors adhere to the council’s employment policies and that residents and businesses are given priority 

over jobs and training opportunities. 

9.3.7 Operational phase – potential beneficial impacts 

9.3.8 Provision of new retail space and shopping facilities 

The regeneration proposes new shopping facilities including a new supermarket on Church Street and the 

redeveloped Church Street Market infrastructure. Since Sites A, B and C could provide up to 3,187m² retail 

space, this space will likely benefit existing business, new businesses and the local and wider community as a 

result of enhanced access to new shopping and other facilities. The extent to which these benefits are shared 

between those with protected characteristics and others will depend on the type of goods and services offered. 

For instance, the new shopping and other facilities may be of a different mix than currently provided meaning that 

access to culturally specific or affordable goods and services, associated sense of belonging and cultural and 

community connections may be more difficult or easier for groups with protected characteristics.  

The Council is currently running monthly property searches for Site A businesses requesting assistance with 

relocating locally and across the wider borough. The idea of subdividing the proposed commercial space on Site 

A into smaller units is currently being considered, such that it could be offered to smaller businesses and local 

start-ups for socially minded projects and enterprises, while Sites B and C could provide appropriately sized retail 

space to ensure a viable mix of commercial tenants. 

As part of the Curation Report, a Social Value Framework was developed which was intended to be used to 

inform decision making as to which tenants may be invited back to the new development. However, given the 

significant reduction in commercial floorspace the decision has been made not to offer commercial occupiers a 

right to return. However, they can apply for a unit in the new development once completed. 

9.3.9 Provision of new enterprise space in the area 

Approximately 1,270sqm of space allocated for enterprise including start-ups and pop-up businesses that have 

been removed from Site A original plans due to financial viability. However, the Council has also identified that 

additional space for enterprise is being allocated across the ward. This includes 10,000sqm of enterprise space 

at Lisson Grove within the Lisson Arches Development which will be available as part of the wider regeneration 

plans for the area.68 As of September 2023, one business from Site A and one from Site B have expressed 

interest in business support offered in relation to the Church Street Triangle Project. 

Furthermore, the business support programme has helped many individuals in the local area access support to 

help develop their business ideas. Venture 382 (a coworking/office space occupying first floor space on the 

corner of Edgware Rd and Church St), that has been vacant since May 2020 is now occupied by a meanwhile 

operator who has created 8 new creative studios and introduced a locally owned women’s project teaching 

accredited courses in fashion and textiles.  

 
68 Note that this refers to the wider regeneration plans, and not to space allocated for Sites A, B and C specifically. Sites A, B 
and C could provide up to 3,187 sqm of Class E floorspace that could deliver office, commercial or retail space. 

Page 147



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
80 

 

 

This is likely to have benefits to business owners including female and BAME business owners and as well young 

people. 

9.3.10 Creation of new retail-related employment opportunities 

According to the socioeconomic analysis of the Church Street masterplan, approximately 841 full time employees 

(FTEs) would be employed in retail units delivered under the Masterplan proposals. 

The groups who benefit from this new employment may vary considerably depending on the type of business and 

associated training. Equality effects may arise where employment or training is not available to groups with 

protected characteristics, for example if jobs require high skill/education levels which make it harder for some 

groups to access the opportunities. 

The area has high levels of unemployment and low levels of educational attainment. This includes those from 

BAME groups (Asian/ Black African/Arab and Latin American) who are currently overrepresented on the site in 

terms of employees. 

Presently, the localised Westminster Employment Service (WES) provides an employment coaching service for 

the local community. The service works with local partners (Job Centre/developers and employers) to provide job 

opportunities and training for local young people. Similarly, the CS Neighbourhood Keeper Programme also plays 

an active role and supports local people into local employment, entrepreneurship and training through local 

projects and capacity building training.  

An Employment, Education and Skills strategy should be developed to help local people into employment. This 

service should be used to ensure that opportunities for retail employment associated with new business to the 

area are prioritised for those currently working and living in the area. 

During the period from 2018/19 to date there have been a total of 55 local (Westminster) job starts for the Church 

Street sites, but no local apprenticeship starts. However, it is likely that these figures will increase significantly 

once construction starts on Sites A, B, and C, and also once the project has been completed and new retail 

outlets have opened which will provide further employment opportunities to the local area. The breakdown of 

local employment generated to date, by scheme and year, is as follows: 

Scheme: 

• West End Gate / Berkeley Homes: 3 

• Luton Street / Bouygues/: 38 

• Parson’s North/ Osborne Construction: 3 

• Dudley House / Willmott Dixon: 13 

Year: 

• 2018/19 (13) 

• 2019/20 (3) 

• 2020/21 (11) 

• 2021/22 (21) 

• 2022/23 (7) 

9.3.11 Regeneration of Church Street Market Infrastructure 

Feedback from the business survey and public consultation found that there was strong support for improving the 

market facilities. The regeneration provides the opportunity to make comprehensive improvements to the market 

for existing and future traders. This includes changes to design, layout, appearance, storage, parking, provision 

of water, electricity and trader welfare facilities including toilets. This includes around 220 stalls, 150 van parking 

spaces, up to 4900m2 storage and facilities. The regeneration of the market provides an opportunity to create an 

inclusive environment to meet the need of market stall holders and their customers including those with protected 

characteristics.  

Page 148



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
81 

 

 

The revised detailed design for Site A includes toilet facilities, 4 loading and unloading spaces, and between 24-

32 trader storage spaces. According to the Environmental Statement produced for the proposed scheme, the 

revised detailed design for Site A includes toilet facilities and will offer 5% (of the number of units) disabled 

parking provision for residents as well as 5% standard residential car parking spaces. According to the statement, 

at Site A, this will be 22 residential disabled parking spaces and 21 standard residential car parking spaces. The 

residential car parking spaces are to be provided within the basement of Site A and will be accessible via two car 

lifts situated on Penfold Street.  These facilities will be accessed from Church Street as opposed from Broadley 

Street as originally proposed, making it more accessible to traders. 

Respondents in the 2021 consultation sessions remarked on the need for cleaner toilets and parking spaces as 

important factors for the proposed development.  

 

Although parking has been reduced at this site it is recommended that the Council seek to maintain overall 

parking and storage provision at the target levels of 55 van parking spaces and 55 storage spaces across sites A, 

B and C. Allocation of parking and spaces for traders has yet to be determined and should be included as part of 

a future strategy for the new market. Prioritisation should take it to account a variety of factors and cost of parking 

and storage hire should be assessed to ensure fairness and affordability to all market traders. 

 

On-going engagement with market stall holders has been undertaken by the CS Retail, Markets and Business 

Team. It is recommended that a dedicated ‘Market facilitator is appointed from the team for continued 

engagement to ensure that the appropriate facilities for traders are provided.  

9.3.12 Operational phase – potential adverse impacts 

9.3.13 Loss of shops and businesses providing current mix of culturally specific 
services and goods 

The loss of existing shops, market stalls and business premises providing the current mix of goods, services and 

facilities at the site will also affect customers/users of these services. The on-street survey found that 51% of 

respondents were visiting the area for a specific shop or service. 

Equality effects may be experienced where there are patterns in terms of affected customers and their having 

protected characteristics. The regeneration will bring a different mix of goods, services and facilities at the site, 

with the potential for a mix of positive and negative effects for groups, possibly patterned in relation to protected 

characteristics. The existing site currently provides a cluster of businesses and organisations that provide goods 

and services to the Arabic and Muslim community which include, specialist food shops, restaurants, 

supermarkets and clothing. The effects on these ethnic and religious groups may include changes to access to 

culturally-specific goods and services, associated sense of belonging and cultural connections. The loss of these 

facilities could have an adverse impact on certain groups with protected characteristics in cases where the 

service is not relocated nearby or where there is no nearby alternative.  

However, effective engagement with the local community should assist in identifying the needs and requirements 

of residents. The new retail provision is likely to result in increased number of customers who want to shop in the 

area and therefore benefiting existing businesses and providing better facilities for customers. 

An Independent Business Advisor has been appointed to provide support and advice to local businesses and this 

advice could extend to marketing and advertising advice to businesses to ensure existing and new customers are 

made aware of relocations of businesses or of alternative businesses offering similar services or products. In 

addition, it is recommended that further consultation should be conducted with affected groups and a survey of 

alternative options within the surrounding Church Street area should be undertaken. 

The Cultural Infrastructure Plan work has been commissioned to identify and map existing cultural assets, identify 

any gaps and risks to culture as a result of the development proposals. This Cultural Infrastructure Strategy for 

Sites A, B and C was completed in October 2021 and has been used internally by the Council to inform decision 

making to maximise the use of infrastructure and continue to engage communities throughout the regeneration 

process. 

The Council will conduct combined Regeneration and Place shaping workshops to establish potential impact of 

design proposal and establish a set of strategic design principals that respect the cultural wealth potential of the 

ward. The Council continues to run monthly property searches for Site A businesses requesting assistance with 

Page 149



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
82 

 

 

relocating locally and commercial units on Church St are also being kept from going to market to provide options 

for affected businesses. 

9.3.14 Loss of shops and businesses providing affordable and accessible goods 
and services for existing local community 

The market and surrounding businesses currently provide affordable and accessible goods and services to those 

living in the immediate area. Local shops and markets offer staples such as fresh fruit and vegetables, meat and 

fish as well as affordable clothing and accessories. Other businesses provide affordable and/or local services 

such as hairdressers, cafes and pharmacies. 

The loss of these goods and services may have an adverse effect on those with low incomes, children, young 

people, older people, disabled people, families including single parent families and those from BAME groups.  

The temporary relocation of the market is planned to be within close vicinity to the existing site which should 

minimise the impact on some of the above groups. However, there may still be issues for older people and 

people with disabilities who may have difficulties accessing the temporary market location. The Council should 

develop and implement appropriate support measures for these residents during the market relocation period, for 

example, through dedicated transport services and/or home delivery services. 

An Independent Business Advisor has been appointed to provide support and advice to local businesses and this 

advice could extend to marketing and advertising advice to businesses to ensure existing and new customers are 

made aware of relocations. Furthermore, a monthly newsletter is being sent to approximately 6000 local 

residents informing them of the relocations of Church Street businesses. 

To potentially help counteract the impact of loss of business, digital skills and training offers have been made to 

market traders and businesses. 

9.3.15 Potential for increasing rents or ‘gentrification’ of the area 

The new development will provide brand new fit for purpose commercial units which in combination with the 

enhanced public realm and access improvements will likely result in an increase in commercial rents in the area. 

The mix of type and usage of shops, businesses and facilities on offer, as well as public space will differ from 

what currently exists. This may create a change in the types of businesses moving into the area and result in the 

potential for other businesses to relocate permanently elsewhere.  

Aside from BAME business owners this many also affect BAME people who currently work or shop in businesses 

on the existing site may be forced to leave the area due to high rents or experience a loss of community 

cohesion, cultural connections and social inclusion where the cluster of services they use is dispersed or lost. 

The Church Street Regeneration Programme has contracted business support providers to assist businesses 

adapt to changes brought by the regeneration process. This will assist in mitigating against some of the adverse 

impacts for businesses. BAME jobseekers will be able to share in direct and indirect newly created employment 

opportunities but should be supported to ensure that they aware of job opportunities in the area.  

The Independent Business Advisor appointed by the Council to provide support and advice to local businesses 

could provide marketing and advertising advice to businesses to ensure existing and new customers are made 

aware of relocations of businesses or of alternative businesses offering similar services or products. However, 

businesses that serve the local community should be supported by the Council to continue operating in the area 

during construction and operation phases where possible. 

As of September 2023, a Curation Report has also been completed and will be used to inform WCC decision 

making – the Report includes all three sites and the future aspirations for development in the area – in particular 

the commercial layout, public space and what matters for Church Street moving forward. 

Page 150



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
83 

 

 

9.4 Making connections  

9.4.1 Construction phase – potential adverse impacts 

9.4.2 Safety, security and accessibility during construction  

The proposed development is large scale with the construction phase estimated to last around 7 years. During 

this time some tenants will be living in the area whilst the demolition and construction of other residential 

buildings takes place.  

The area has high levels of crime deprivation and feedback from public consultation and other engagement 

activities has identified fear of crime in the area as an issue. There is a need to balance safety and security with 

accessibility needs during construction. It is important to ensure that the direct and indirect risks of physical 

danger associated with construction are minimised. This includes avoiding the creation of secluded or isolated 

areas through construction hoardings.  

Safety and security risks could result in adverse effects for those who are more vulnerable to safety and security 

issues including children, women (including pregnant women), older people, people with disabilities, young 

people, ethnic minority groups and people from the LGBT community. 

Footpath diversions could have an adverse impact on those with mobility issues, in particular older people, 

disabled people, pregnant women and people with pushchairs. 

A construction management plan should be followed and best practice Code of Construction should be followed 

taking into account the needs of those with protected characteristics. Key walking routes and crossing points in 

the area should be maintained or appropriately diverted where possible and CCTV or staffed security provided 

where natural surveillance has been limited. 

Awareness and education as to the dangers of playing on construction sites should be provided in local schools 

and community centres to discourage children from entering construction areas. 

As of September 2023, it has been confirmed that a demolition management plan is to be developed imminently 

ahead of works starting. The plan will abide to the code of construction and contain necessary chapters relating 

to noise and vibration, and air quality. The decommissioning management plan will be consulted on with the local 

community, so they have the opportunity to raise concerns. There will also be a dedicated Resident Liaison 

Officer from WCC as well as one from the contractor who can be contacted directly during demolition and 

construction phases if there are any resident issues. 

9.4.3 Operational phase – potential beneficial impacts 

9.4.4 Improvements for walking and cycling  

The regeneration will provide improvements to the pedestrian experience by introducing new routes and 

improving existing routes and spaces in terms of better-quality road and pavement surfaces, wider and clearly 

defined footways, less clutter, better lighting and signage, street furniture and clear priority given to pedestrian in 

the design of the new development.  The improved environment, lighting, signage and permeability will 

encourage walking, access to secure bike storage will encourage cycling and access to car clubs will discourage 

car ownership. Cycle storage provision has been established for Site A, with 850 spaces being provided for 

residents – 827 long stay spaces, and 23 short stay. This provision is in line with London Plan 2021 minimum 

cycle parking standards, as well as the London Cycling Design Standards. 

This will have benefits that can be shared by all groups with protected characteristics through an improved 

environment, better air quality, increased safety and more natural surveillance resulting in improved security. 

However, consultation held in June-July 2021 found that several respondents were concerned that increased 

cycling could be dangerous for older and disabled people living in the area within shared pedestrian/cycle paths 

and crossing facilities. The Council should consider enforcing times during which e-scooters and bikes can be 

ridden through the market, for instance during trading hours and also consider sectioning off areas of public open 

space where bicycles (or e-scooters) are not permitted so that older people and those who are more vulnerable 

can enjoy open space safely.  

Page 151



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
84 

 

 

9.4.5 Increased parking/ better management of parking 

The regeneration will result in improved and better managed parking for residents and market traders. This will 

provide benefits for those residents who have mobility impairments and rely on private vehicles for some of their 

journeys. Furthermore, trader parking on Site A has been reallocated as loading/unloading for storage unit users 

to increase storage provision on site, which will benefit stall-holders. 

It is worth noting that the Council has determined that any loss of parking in the surrounding area will not be able 

to be recouped anywhere else. In order to mitigate against these impacts, Public Realm work will consider 

retention of current permit parking bays.  

9.5 Population & Community/Health & Wellbeing 

9.5.1 Construction phase – potential beneficial impacts 

9.5.2 Community engagement during regeneration  

Equality legislation emphasises the importance of supporting positive relations between different groups, whilst 

local community cohesion policy supports group interaction, fair treatment, equal opportunity, and a sense of 

common belonging, including empowering local communities to shape decisions affecting their lives. 

Church Street is an area of entrenched deprivation and comprises LSOAs that are among the top 10-20% most 

deprived areas nationally, creating a complex and nuanced range of community needs. The extent to which 

benefits of the regeneration are shared amongst all members of the community, including protected 

characteristics (e.g. BAME businesses), will depend in part on engagement efforts to include their views in the 

planning process.  

Throughout the regeneration process continuous and effective engagement and consultation will need to be 

undertaken with affected parties. Equality effects may be experienced during engagement activities. For 

example, young people, BAME people and those from the LGBTQ+ community can face barriers to taking part in 

engagement processes effectively and therefore be underrepresented in such activities. Furthermore, there is a 

high percentage of children living in the area and a significant number of impacts affecting this group. The need 

to engage with children with regards to the regeneration plans is important. 

In terms of youth engagement specifically, a strategy is currently being drafted, and will engage youth specifically 

with the regeneration consultation process over a series of workshops and other events. The implementation of 

the Youth Engagement Strategy has begun through youth engagement webinars and focus groups.  The Young 

Westminster Foundation and Marylebone Bangladesh Society engaged to facilitate the CS Youth Voice to ensure 

participation of young people in consultation and engagement opportunities across the programme. Additionally, 

the Youth Voice has undertaken its first youth walk to understand the lived experience of the area for young 

people which will feed into the regeneration plans and help young people understand more about the onsite and 

planned projects.  

A broad community engagement strategy should also be developed incorporating all of the groups mentioned 

above. This should include a baseline study used for undertaking regular diversity monitoring to assess the 

impact of the development on groups with protected characteristics, and so that any key groups are not missed 

during the engagement process. This will also allow the Council to engage with any key groups that might have 

issues in the future. 

9.5.3 Construction phase – potential adverse impacts 

9.5.4 Uncertainty and anxiety for existing residents 

Engagement with local people has highlighted many anxieties and concerns with regards to the regeneration 

including uncertainty over plans and relocation. The HNA highlighted a number of residents with mental health 

and depression issues that could make them more vulnerable to changes in circumstances and the uncertainty 

about their future living arrangements. The HNA data shows a large number of residents born outside of the UK 

many of whom do not have English as their first language. Language barriers can add to difficulty with 

engagement and add to anxieties of residents who are uncertain about plans. 

Page 152



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
85 

 

 

The EqIA for the Policy for Tenants identified potential negative impacts around lack of information on timing and 

detail for tenants (around disturbance payments for example). This might particularly impact on vulnerable 

tenants. 

The Council’s Relocation team currently offer comprehensive support to tenants before, during and following a 

move and provide one-to-one engagement. Translation services are also provided where necessary to help 

people that are not comfortable using English and would prefer another language choice. This provides a 

dedicated officer for each household, which is on hand to continue offering support to all tenants with any 

housing issues, their moving options, their bidding process, their offers, their viewings, their moves. All removals 

and transportation are also organised by the team.  

Furthermore, in order to help Church Street residents with any anxiety about the regeneration works, the Council 

has established the Church Street Regeneration office (99 Church Street) which is open every weekday, and 

staffed with at least one manager, in order to offer support and assistance. 

9.5.5 Environmental impacts of construction works on health and well-being of 
residents 

The construction works associated with the regeneration plan are likely to result in environmental impacts such 

as noise, vibration and dust from demolition and construction activities. According to the EIA for the scheme, 

existing residential properties adjacent to Plots A, B and C, along Boscobel Street, Penfold Street, Church Street, 

Salisbury Street, Broadley Street and Edgware Road are likely to be affected by dust, noise and vibration levels 

during the construction phase of this project. Furthermore, educational/school sites around the site area, 

specifically Portman Nursery School, Imps Pre-School and King Soloman Academy, will also face adverse 

impacts from noise and vibration levels.  

Some residents would be more sensitive to the effects of these construction impacts than others. For example, 

those who spend more time at home would be subjected to longer periods of adverse noise impacts. These 

residents are likely to include older people, some people with disabilities and long-term limiting illnesses and 

pregnant women/ women on maternity or those caring for small children. Furthermore, if works begin towards the 

end of the Covid-19 pandemic, residents quarantining or self-isolating might be affected by noise and dust, which 

may aggravate individuals who are sick or suffering from the impacts of the coronavirus. 

Some groups with protected characteristics also have differential sensitivity to noise. For example, children are 

susceptible to increased noise levels, particularly with regards to cognitive impairment.69 Autistic children can be 

particularly sensitive to their environment and, in some cases, can be extremely distressed by loud noise. 

Children may also be more sensitive to health effects arising from poor air quality and dust concentrations, as 

well adults with limiting illnesses such as chronic lung or heart conditions70 71. People with dementia also have an 

increased sensitivity to both noise and light.72    

Many of the local schools identified as sensitive receptors offer special education services, specifically King 

Solomon Academy, and students at these schools with special education needs (SEN) might be impacted by 

demolition and construction works. The presence of infrastructure and visual barriers in the landscape can also 

create ‘isolation effects’. Construction sites can be visually unappealing or hinder access to green space and this 

could potentially result in differential impacts on children with SEN, including those with autism. 

A Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) will be implemented throughout the construction 

phase of the Scheme. However, in order to understand the specific issues faced by local residents, active 

engagement with local residents with health issues should be carried out. A Health Impact Assessment is 

currently being prepared to understand the major health impacts of the scheme.  

 
69 World Health Organisation Children and Noise https://www.who.int/ceh/capacity/noise.pdf 
70 Defra (2013), Short-term effects of air pollution on health. Available online at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-
pollution/effects?view=short-term. 
71 WHO (2006), What are the effects of air pollution on children's health and development? Available online at: 
http://www.euro.who.int/en/dataand-evidence/evidence-informed-policy-making/publications/hen-summaries-of-network-
members-reports/what-are-the-effects-of-air-pollutionon-childrens-health-and-development. 
72 Social Care Institute for Excellence – Dementia Friendly Environments https://www.scie.org.uk/dementia/supporting-people-
with-dementia/dementia-friendly-environments/noise.asp 

Page 153

https://www.who.int/ceh/capacity/noise.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/effects?view=short-term
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/effects?view=short-term
http://www.euro.who.int/en/dataand-evidence/evidence-informed-policy-making/publications/hen-summaries-of-network-members-reports/what-are-the-effects-of-air-pollutionon-childrens-health-and-development
http://www.euro.who.int/en/dataand-evidence/evidence-informed-policy-making/publications/hen-summaries-of-network-members-reports/what-are-the-effects-of-air-pollutionon-childrens-health-and-development
https://www.scie.org.uk/dementia/supporting-people-with-dementia/dementia-friendly-environments/noise.asp
https://www.scie.org.uk/dementia/supporting-people-with-dementia/dementia-friendly-environments/noise.asp


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
86 

 

 

9.5.6 Loss of informal community hubs 

Many local businesses currently act as informal community hubs providing meeting places and places of social 

connection for older people, people with disabilities or limited mobility. These businesses provide a continuity for 

local people and a familiar link to the area, plus they are affordable for people on low incomes. For example, the 

Church St cafe is used by diverse, older people, people with learning difficulties and other disabilities on a regular 

basis. Many customers with these protected characteristics have provided feedback, as part of the engagement 

process, that they feel comfortable and welcome at the cafe and use it on a regular basis. 

The loss of these businesses could potentially have an adverse impact on these groups with regards to their 

social interaction and wellbeing. 

As part of the Church Street masterplan, a new community hub on Church Street will provide more formal 

community facilities73. In addition, the proposed Triangle development on Church Street will also offer flexible 

enterprise, arts and community space. However, it is noted that these facilities are outside of sites A, B and C. 

Furthermore, recent consultation feedback regarding the importance of community space, particularly in relation 

to the library has been acknowledge (as is discussed further below). Plans have been drawn up to ensure the 

Library retains a Church Street presence and these designs will be included in the second stage of the 

consultation, where community feedback on current proposals will be considered.  The Church Street team are 

also working with library staff to ascertain the best ways forward to limit the disturbance of the space and ensure 

the new space offered enables them to continue offering their popular services. 

Despite the benefits created by these new formal community spaces, it is worth noting that they may not be able 

to accommodate the facilities provided by existing informal community hubs and cannot replace the social and 

cultural value of informal community spaces. Therefore, businesses providing informal community spaces for 

older people and people with limited mobility issues should be supported by the Council to stay in the area where 

possible, especially those with established relationships with local people. The Council should identify ways in 

which to support the continued operation of informal spaces of specific community importance as part of a 

business model for social value. This should include anchoring points that link the past to present in the Church 

Street area. 

9.5.7 Operational phase – potential beneficial impacts 

9.5.8 New Library on Church Street 

As part of the design update for Site A, the Church Street Library is to be relocated from its current location at 

Site B to Site A. Feedback from the public, stakeholders and Councillors were in favour of keeping the library on 

Church Street and as such the new location provides a suitable nearby alternative location to its existing location. 

Although there is a reduction in floorspace when compared to the existing library, the new design will allow for a 

more efficient, accessible and flexible use of space, therefore allowing all existing services within the library to 

operate from the new location. In addition, the new library will also have outdoor space within the ‘library garden’ 

replacing the existing outdoor space at the current location. 

 

The new health and wellbeing hub on Lisson Grove will also include space for a library and as such the 

regeneration plans will increase library services in the area overall. The services to be provided as part of the 

original proposed community hub would be incorporated into the new library or health and wellbeing hub. 

 

Design plans for Site A have ensured that the Library retains a Church Street presence. First stage consultation 

showed that while most responses appeared satisfied with location choice, there were concerns about the size. 

These designs have also been included in the second stage of the consultation, where the feedback on current 

proposals for the community space, location and size will be considered by the staff. Design amendments as of 

November 2022 have resulted in an increase in the size of the library to 605 sqm. It is also worth noting that that 

the new library will be built before Site B is demolished so that there is no interruption in service provision.  

 

The needs of current library users and service providers should be considered through active engagement with 

relevant groups to ensure that access for those with protected characteristics are improved where possible, and 

that the new location and site does not act as a barrier to participating in library activities. 

 
73 Note this hub is part of the wider development and not a direct part of the offerings of Sites A, B and C. 

Page 154



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Final Report 
  
  

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
87 

 

 

9.5.9 New open/public spaces 

Open spaces and public realm offer opportunities for active and passive recreation, places to meet, and can help 

to improve health, wellbeing, and community cohesion. Safe and accessible spaces should cater to the needs of 

all people, and provide places where people of different ages, sexes, ethnicities, and abilities can all enjoy 

together.  

The Covid-19 pandemic has revealed the need for public or shared spaces, such as spaces for social interaction 

and open green spaces, especially in those areas that are densely populated and where households may not 

have their own backyards or gardens.  

Several vulnerable groups, including older people and those from low-income communities, may rely on various 

public and open spaces to be able to have social interactions, exercise or enjoy solitude. The ability to engage in 

such activities can have positive impacts of people’s health and wellbeing, and thus, the lack of access to these 

facilities during the construction and operational phase both will strongly impact local communities.  

The Council aims to increase publicly accessible open space within Church Street ward by 40%. This includes 

the provision of New Street Gardens between Church Street and Broadley Street as part of the Site A design 

update which will have allocated space for local play. The improved open space is likely to bring improvements in 

feelings of safety, actual safety and security, inclusive access and access to open space. Well-designed streets 

can also help to promote walking and healthier active transport modes and improve air quality. Disabled and 

elderly people are likely to particularly benefit from inclusive access improvements, enabling them to share the 

benefits (such as physical and mental health benefits) of the overall regeneration. Other groups may also 

particularly benefit from access, safety and security improvements, in relation to needs /priorities associated with 

their protected characteristics. 

9.6 Summary of potential impacts 

Table 9-2 provides a summary of the potential construction and operational impacts of the Church Street 

regeneration. This provides an assessment of groups with protected characteristics who are likely to be 

disproportionately or differentially affected by each of the impacts. 

The table also provides a brief overview of planned mitigation to minimise adverse impacts as well as activities in 

place to enhance opportunities resulting from beneficial impacts. High level recommendations are provided for 

further consideration.  

It is envisaged that this table can be updated with more detailed mitigation measures when developed and used 

to monitor equality effects as plans for the regeneration progress. It also provides mitigations which can reduce 

adverse impacts, and which in some instances, will provide beneficial impacts.

Page 155



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
88 

 

 

Table 9-2 Summary of potential equality impacts of proposed Church Street regeneration  

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b

ili
ty

 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n

 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

Homes – Construction Impacts   

B
e
n

e
fi

c
ia

l 

Permanent rehousing opportunity for 

tenants (including to new high quality 

and larger homes) 

 

✓           A permanent move to a new property is 

likely to benefit large households including 

families with children and those where 

more than one household are currently 

living within the same property. 

Planned mitigation: The Council’s Policy 

for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas 

sets out options for tenants to remain or 

return to the housing renewal area to move 

to a new home outside of the area or 

become a homeowner. 

Relocation strategy will prioritise those 

groups who are keen to move on a 

permanent basis. 

Renewal tenants moving on a permanent 

basis are offered first refusal to all 

available new build local stock, with the 

option to move permanently if that is the 

preferred option.  

Church Street renewal tenants also 

received the highest number of bidding 

points, so should they view properties on 

CBL which they are interested in, they are 

more likely to be able to successfully bid 

and view these properties.   

If tenants are currently overcrowded, they 

will be rehoused to accommodation which 

meets their assessed housing need. 

First, and only, refusal offer of new build 

stock has been made to tenants. Tenants 

have been able to view different size and 

types of houses. Approximately 85-90% of 

tenants have gone into new buildings, 

those who have moved to old council stock 

have done so out of preference. Just over 

50% of council tenants have the right to 

return, of the 47 leaseholders 4 have 

chosen the option to move back to the site 

when it is redeveloped. 

No guarantee that overcrowding will be 

resolved in the new builds as it is 

dependent on supply and uptake. 

Furthermore, the Council cannot guarantee 

people’s household growth in the interim 

period. 

A
d

v
e
rs

e
 

Potential for compulsory acquisition 

of leasehold properties 

x  x  x  x     Leaseholders with protected characteristics 

that influence their ability or desire to move 

out of the area. This includes those ethnic 

minority groups, people with disabilities, 

older people and families who may have 

formed formal and informal social and 

community ties and support. 

Further recommendation: The Council’s 

Policy for Leaseholders in Housing 

Renewal Areas sets out options for 

resident leaseholders to buy new homes in 

the renewal area. Financial compensation 

for resident and non-resident leaseholders 

is also set out within the Policy. 

Develop engagement strategy for engaging 

with groups affected by the regeneration 

process: 

Early engagement with leaseholders to 

minimise need for CPO 

Appropriate level of support to navigate 

through relocation process for leaseholders 

especially elderly as those with English as 

a second language 

Westminster Community Homes (WCH) 

act on the Council’s behalf to organise and 

maintain engagement and communication 

with all renewal leaseholders. They do this 

by writing, calling and physically visiting the 

leaseholder at a time and place which 

meets the leaseholder’s needs.  

In the case of resident leaseholders, the 

Council have looked into the option of 

offering available new build stock to them 

on a shared equity basis, which gives them 

a financially achievable option to remain in 

the local area and remain close to their 

local connections.  

The CS regeneration office has also held 

Leaseholder engagement sessions during 

the evenings and on a Saturdays, to offer 

more support and advice to all 

leaseholders, in case they work or have 

Since planning permission was awarded in 

March 2023, leaseholders (as well as 

tenants) have been invited to an 

information session about joining the 

Church Street Sites Regeneration 

Community Group and a breakfast 

morning. An information update with 

leaseholders will take place on 14th 

September 2023. All residents including 

leaseholders are kept up to date on the 

CPO approval process via several 

methods including letter mailout (for 

Church Street Site A Demolition Prior 

Approval Application update, and CPO 

progress update letters), drop-in breakfast 

sessions (held in August 2023), door 

knocking and drops ins carried out by the 

independent tenant and leaseholder 

advisor, and monthly Church Street 

newsletters issued to residents. In addition, 

PPCR do letter/leaflet drops to advertise 

P
age 156



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
89 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

care need responsibilities during the day 

and week.  

Communication and engagement 

measures have been adopted for 

leaseholders with various protected 

characteristics. 

PPCR, an independent residential advisory 

service, have been appointed by the 

Council as a residential impartial support to 

off free advice to all leaseholders, secure 

tenants, TA tenants and private tenants.  

their sessions and encourage take up of 

their service. 

The Council have made shared equity 

offers to the four leaseholders who want to 

move back to Church Street. 

Between February 2020 to July 2021 

PPCR carried out over 200 doorknock 

sessions, held over 30 drop-ins and dealt 

with over 170 queries. 

Face-to-Face drop-ins for Site A, B and C 

residents happen on the second and fourth 

Thursdays of each month. 

PPCR ensured the workshop contents 

were accessible to residents for whom 

English was not a first language, by 

arranging for interpreters to attend all 

workshops. 

PPCR have carried out 1,884 engagement 

interactions with local residents between 

February 2019 – August 2023. These have 

been split over the following methods: 

- Door knocking, 325 interactions. 

- Drop-ins, 182 interactions. 

- Pop-ups, 42 interactions. 

- Phone / email, 1,178 

interactions. 

- 1-to-1 meetings, 24 interactions. 

- Workshops, 30 interactions. 

- WCC events, 101 interactions. 

Temporary relocation of social 

housing tenants 

x  x  x  x     Tenants with protected characteristics that 

influence their ability or desire to move out 

of the area. This includes those ethnic 

minority groups, people with disabilities, 

older people and families who may have 

formed formal and informal social and 

community ties and support. 

Planned mitigation: A Policy for Tenants 

in Housing Renewal Areas has been 

prepared setting out processes for 

temporary relocation of social housing 

tenants. 

An Independent Resident Advisor has 

been appointed by the Council to support 

residents. 

The Relocations team has carried out 

housing needs assessment for every 

secure tenant  

The Relocations team arrange actual 

services for tenants when moving to 

minimise resident disruption- including 

rents, housing benefit, utilities, mail 

redirection, and disposals.  

Following the HNA, WCC’s policy was 

amended to prioritise renewal tenants such 

that they can choose where they want to 

move. 

There is a monitoring programme 

recording where tenants have moved to. 

 

P
age 157



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
90 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

Those who would find it more difficult to 

move because of mobility issues or family 

size. 

Further recommendation: 

Early engagement with individual social 

housing tenants.  

Develop engagement strategy for engaging 

with groups affected by the regeneration 

process.  

Set up monitoring programme to record 

where tenants are being relocated. To 

include diversity monitoring. 

Once the tenant has moved into their 

temporary new home, they will have the 

option to return to the new development 

once it is built. With disturbance costs 

(such as removals and redistribution of 

mail) involved in moving a second time will 

be covered by the council.  

 

Loss of private tenancy housing with 

no guarantee of reprovision on site 

within new private housing. 

x    x       A range of different ethnicity households 

living in private rental housing. Children in 

affected households. 

Planned mitigation: An Independent 

Resident Advisor has been appointed by 

the Council to support residents. 

Further recommendation: Develop 

engagement strategy for engaging with 

groups affected by the regeneration 

process. Set up monitoring programme to 

record where tenants are being relocated. 

To include diversity monitoring. 

The Council has published a five-year 

private rented sector strategy detailing its 

plans to improve housing market 

conditions for tenants and to ensure the 

sector is well managed 

WCC’s team on homelessness prevention 

is currently being considered as an option 

to help tenants search for alternative 

housing.  

The Council is also considering support 

from PPCR, an independent residential 

advisory service, to support private tenants 

on Site A.  

In order to facilitate rehousing of Site A, 

WCC purchased 110 properties from a 

private developer to accommodate 

rehousing needs. 

Currently, 208 homes ranging from 1-4 

beds have been built and made available 

to rehouse residents. 

Face-to-Face drop-ins for Site A, B and C 

residents happen on the second and fourth 

Thursdays of each month. 

PPCR have carried out 1,884 engagement 

interactions with local residents between 

February 2019 – August 2023. These have 

been split over the following methods: 

- Door knocking, 325 interactions. 

- Drop-ins, 182 interactions. 

- Pop-ups, 42 interactions. 

- Phone / email, 1,178 

interactions. 

- 1-to-1 meetings, 24 interactions. 

- Workshops, 30 interactions. 

- WCC events, 101 interactions. 

Homes – Operational Impacts   

B
e
n

e
fi

c
ia

l 

 

Net increase in overall housing 

provision including family, social, 

wheelchair accessible, affordable 

and high-quality housing 

✓ ✓ ✓  ✓  ✓     All groups but especially families with 

children, young people, older people, 

people with disabilities and homeless 

people. Those from low-income 

Planned mitigation: Local Letting Plan to 

be developed including principle for 

regeneration areas focusing on prioritising 

new affordable homes for local people. 

 The Local Letting Plan will not be 

developed until approximately 6-months 

before project completion. However, there 

will be no specific detail on affordable 

P
age 158



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
91 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

households from which people from ethnic 

minorities, older people or people with a 

disability are over-represented. 

Outline business case to be drawn up to 

include budget for buy back of Westminster 

Council homes for existing tenants. 

Further recommendation: Meet 35% 

affordable housing provision targets and 

mix of social housing, family housing and 

wheelchair accessible housing. 

Identify opportunities for homeless people 

to be accommodated in the new 

development. 

homes and will not include any targets in 

this regard. However, the Council aim is for 

50% of the homes to be affordable. 

The outline business case for Site A has 

been completed and the budget for buy 

backs was set in May 2020. 

 

Improved quality housing on the 

sites with the development of 

operational net zero, high quality 

new housing  

 

✓ ✓ ✓  ✓  ✓     All groups but especially families with 

children, older people, people with 

disabilities and homeless people. Those 

from low-income households from which 

people from ethnic minorities, older people 

or people with a disability are over-

represented. 

Planned mitigation: Homes will be 

designed in accordance with the Nationally 

Prescribed Space Standards. 

The new housing will be Homes designed 

in accordance with Nationally Prescribed 

Space Standards. The reprovision units 

are all designed to fit the Housing Need 

Assessment requirements. The design 

development has also taken place in close 

consultation with the community and the 

Housing Department. 

All of the new build properties will be 

accessible in terms of lifetime homes 

standards. 

Of the 208 homes that have been built for 

rehousing tenants, 24 are wheelchair 

adaptable. 130 of them are to lifetime 

home standards which allows for 

adaptations to occur where required such 

as the installation of wet rooms. 

A
d

v
e
rs

e
 

Potential increase in rent for social 

housing tenants 

 

x x x x x  x     Those from low-income households from 

which people from ethnic minorities, older 

people, younger people or people with a 

disability are over-represented. Also, those 

with families including single parent 

households from which female single 

parents are also over-represented. 

Planned mitigation: The Council’s Policy 

for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas set 

out options for tenants. Rents will also be 

set in line with national formula. 

The reprovided units will be let at current 

rates, for returning tenants where 

applicable. 

The net new social rent housing will be let 

in line with national formula for social rent.  

No further update. 

 

Affordability issues for leaseholders 

 

  x  x       Older people, those with low incomes as 

well as some non-UK born residents may 

find it difficult to transfer mortgages or 

apply for a new mortgage. Some 

leaseholders may have no option but to 

join the private rental sector where they are 

unable to find an affordable equivalent 

home. 

Planned mitigation: The Council’s Policy 

for Leaseholders in Housing Renewal Area 

sets out options for resident leaseholders 

to buy new homes in the renewal area. 

Financial compensation for resident 

leaseholders is also set out within the 

Policy. 

WCH Officer looking after leaseholds are in 

frequent contact with all remaining 

leaseholders and are available to provide 

advice and run through all available 

options if there are any affordability issues.  

The Council have appointed independent 

residential advisors, PPCR, to offer free 

and impartial advice to all Church Street 

leaseholders, including advice covering 

affordability concerns. 

Council offers equity loan products to 

residential leaseholders, seeking local new 

Between February 2020 to July 2021 

PPCR carried out over 200 doorknock 

sessions, held over 30 drop-ins and dealt 

with over 170 queries. Overall,  PPCR 

have carried out 1,884 engagement 

interactions with local residents between 

February 2019 – August 2023. These have 

been split over the following methods: 

- Door knocking, 325 interactions. 

- Drop-ins, 182 interactions. 

- Pop-ups, 42 interactions. 

- Phone / email, 1,178 

interactions. 

P
age 159



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
92 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

build accommodation within the redline 

boundary. It also offers both a statutory 

10% home loss compensation, for 

residential leaseholders and 7.5 % to non-

resident leaseholders. Council also covers 

a range of disturbance costs including 

stamp duty and removal charges. 

- 1-to-1 meetings, 24 interactions. 

- Workshops, 30 interactions. 

- WCC events, 101 interactions. 

Face-to-Face drop-ins for Site A, B and C 

residents happen on the second and fourth 

Thursdays of each month. 

PPCR help with targeted 1-1 support for 

tenants and leaseholders with regular 

dialogue with communications and 

engagement team, the relocations team 

and Ian Sellens Leasehold Negotiator. 

They provide impartial, independent advice 

for those residents on the process, their 

tenure circumstances and understanding 

their rights during the regeneration. 

Potential adverse effects with 

respect to loss of light  

           Groups with protected characteristics living 

within these properties especially those 

who may have a differential effect 

(currently unknown). 

 

Recommendation: Further check the 

extent and nature of the rights affected and 

attempt to negotiate a private agreement or 

determine whether the scheme can be 

altered to avoid interfering with the affected 

property’s ROL. 

Given the dense urban fabric in central 

London, transgressions from the BRE 

recommendations are inevitable, if the site 

is to be developed in a meaningful way. 

Further work being done to minimise the 

harm and looking at opportunities to 

mitigate the impact. 

The Right of Light Impact on Neighbouring 

Properties Report was completed in June 

2023. The report highlighted the inevitable 

RoL impacts on neighbouring properties 

due to the scale of the scheme, there will 

be engagement between the council and 

those residents/businesses impacted and 

those with any light injury. The timeframe 

for engagement is once the light has been 

impacted which means after construction is 

complete. 

Market and Economy – Construction Impacts   

B
e
n

e
fi

c
ia

l 

Creation of new construction-related 

employment opportunities 

 

 ✓          The socio-economics report indicates there 

would be a creation of 252 net jobs per 

annum, both within and outside of Greater 

London. This would especially benefit 

young people, especially those from low-

income and BAME backgrounds. 

Planned mitigation: Employment, 

Education and Skills strategy programme 

has been set up to provide support and 

advice for jobseekers in the area. 

Further recommendations: A local 

employment and procurement policy 

should be produced to include a 

requirement for contractors to adhere to 

national or local schemes to promote 

employment amongst under-represented 

equality groups, e.g. Disability Confident 

Employer. People currently living and 

working in the area should be given priority 

over construction jobs and training. 

The localised WES service provides an 

employment coaching service for the local 

community.  The service works with local 

partners (Job Centre/developers etc.) to 

ensure existing employees and local 

people can benefit from job opportunities 

arising through the regeneration 

programme.  

The Church Street Responsible 

Procurement Plan has been drawn up and 

will be the conduit to ensuring that the 

contractors adhere to the council’s 

employment policies and that local 

The WES continues to provide a service at 
Church Street under the same remit. 

 

Since 2018/19, local (Westminster) job 
/apprenticeship starts for the Church Street 
sites is as follows: 

 

Local Employment (Westminster): 55 
(total)  

Apprenticeships (Westminster): 0 (total) 

 

Breakdown by scheme: 

 

West End Gate / Berkeley Homes: 3 

Luton Street / Bouygues/: 38 

Parson’s North/ Osborne Construction: 3 

Dudley House / Willmott Dixon: 13 

P
age 160



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
93 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

Targeted recruitment initiative should be 

set up to advance equality of opportunity 

for young BAME people living in the area. 

residents are given priority over 

construction jobs and training. 

 

Breakdown by Year:  

 
2018/19 (13) 

2019/20 (3) 

2020/21 (11) 

2021/22 (21) 

2022/23 (7) 

 

 

A
d

v
e
rs

e
 

Temporary relocation of Church 

Street Market Infrastructure 

  x  x       Market traders; especially those who are 

low earning and those that depend on 

customers from shared cultural identity. 

Customers including local residents and 

others on low incomes including older 

people who rely on the market for 

affordable goods. 

Planned mitigation:  

An Impacts and risk assessment report has 

been developed to assess the options 

available to WCC in dealing with potential 

impacts of the development on the market 

traders. 

Site A - Where possible Saturday traders 

should be retained at current pitch 

locations while weekday traders can be 

relocated to other parts of the existing 

market.  

Public realm works – As these works will 

be more of a disruption to the market and 

businesses than Site A works.  

These works to be phased in small 

increments to minimise impact on 

individual traders and make for faster 

completion. Due to lack of alternative 

pitches it may be necessary to suspend 

trading from affected pitches. 

Church Street Retail, Business and Market 

Team will provide support and advice to 

market-stall holders. 

Further recommendations: Focused 

engagement with market-stall holders.  

Signage for temporary moves to minimise 

of loss of business for traders if relocation 

is required 

Currently consulting with market traders on 

the new public realm plans and the impacts 

that this and Site A works might have on 

them. To date the feedback has been very 

positive with just one or two concerns 

about suspension of trading. 

The proportion of traders selling culturally 

specific products only is very low and not 

something that cannot be found elsewhere 

in the vicinity. 

The impacts of the works should only effect 

small groups of traders at any one time. 

We will reduce suspensions by delivering 

public realm improvements in shorter, 

faster increments. 

WCC have recently completed negotiations 

with market traders for relocation options. 

Following negotiations, the decision has 

been made that the basement car park at 

Site B will be used for interim storage 

space whilst Site A is being redeveloped. 

Architects have now been instructed to 

begin looking at the proposed plans in 

relation to this. 

P
age 161



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
94 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

Temporary or permanent loss of 

employment following closure or 

relocation of affected businesses 

    x       BAME employees of affected businesses; 

particularly Asian/ Black African/Arab and 

Latin American employees who are over 

represented on the site 

Planned mitigation: Employment, Skills 

and Education strategy has been 

developed to provide support and advice 

for jobseekers in the area. 

Further recommendations: Targeted 

employment services or service initiatives 

should provide support to existing 

employees including job opportunities 

arising through the regeneration 

programme. 

The localised WES service continues to 

provide an employment coaching service 

for the local community.  The service works 

with local partners (Job Centre/developers 

etc.) to ensure existing employees and 

local people can benefit from job 

opportunities arising through the 

regeneration programme.  

The Church Street Responsible 

Procurement Plan is being compiled and 

will be the conduit to ensuring that the 

contractors adhere to the council’s 

employment policies and that residents 

and businesses are given priority over jobs 

and training opportunities. 

Complete surveys with all businesses to 

assess level of job losses for local people. 

The WES continues to provide a service at 

Church Street under the same remit. 

 

Business closure/non-viability of 

business following temporary 

relocation and net reduction in 

number of retail units across the 

area as part of the Site A design 

update 

    x       BAME owned businesses; particularly 

those from the Arabic and Asian 

communities who are both over-

represented on the site. 

Planned mitigation: Church Street 

Business Programme has been set up to 

provide support and advice to businesses.  

The Church Street regeneration team aim 

to assist current businesses to remain in 

the area or within Westminster if relocation 

is not possible.  A curation strategy for 

Church Street is being developed as part 

of the regeneration programme which will 

set out the strategy to be used when letting 

the new commercial units within the 

development. A Social Value Framework 

will be developed as part of the curation 

strategy with which potential tenants of the 

new units can be measured against. This 

will allow WCC to invite or accept business 

applications for commercial units.  

Further recommendations: Ensure viable 

mix of retail space to allow some existing 

businesses to return to the site and provide 

businesses with alternative locations for 

relocation. Engagement with local 

businesses should be undertaken to 

The Council will re-provide targeted 

business support to reduce the likelihood 

of this impact. 

The Council is providing a local and 

borough wide property search service for 

affected businesses. This includes both 

WCC owned commercial stock and 

properties on the open market. 

Commercial considerations, as outlined on 

the forthcoming Church St Curation 

Report, will need to be observed for Site B 

& C design reviews. 

The borough wide property search for 

affected businesses is ongoing, those 

currently actively engaged are those who 

have surrendered their lease. Some 

businesses, for example the Pharmacy, 

have been moved to a new unit that is 

within the Church Street redevelopment 

area. 

WCC are holding back commercial assets 

for consideration by businesses on Site A. 

They will be offered one month to express 

an interest before the properties are taken 

to market. 

P
age 162



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
95 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

determine future requirements and needs 

and to understand impacts of relocation.  

Market and Economy – Operational Impacts   

B
e
n

e
fi

c
ia

l 

Provision of new retail space and 

shopping facilities 

 ✓   ✓ ✓      All groups should be able to share the 

benefits of the provision of new retail space 

including those currently own businesses 

and work in the area. 

Planned mitigation: Church Street 

Business Programme has been set up to 

provide support and advice to businesses. 

This includes new start-ups. 

The Church Street regeneration team aim 

to assist current businesses to remain in 

the area or within Westminster if relocation 

is not possible.  A curation strategy for 

Church Street is being developed as part 

of the regeneration programme which will 

set out the strategy to be used when letting 

the new commercial units within the 

development. A Social Value Framework 

will be developed as part of the curation 

strategy with which potential tenants of the 

new units can be measured against. This 

will allow WCC to invite or accept business 

applications for commercial units.  

This will allow the WCC to invite or accept 

businesses applications for commercial 

units. 

Further recommendations: Ensure viable 

mix of retail space to potentially allow 

existing businesses to return to the site. 

The Curation strategy should set out plans 

to ensure a diverse mix of businesses in 

the new development. 

The Council is currently running monthly 

property searches for Site A businesses 

requesting assistance with relocating 

locally and across the wider borough. 

The Council will consider further 

subdividing the proposed commercial 

space on Site A into smaller units to offer 

to smaller businesses and local start-ups, 

and socially minded projects and 

enterprises. Sites B and C will then provide 

appropriately sized retail space to ensure a 

viable mix of commercial tenants. 

 

 

Engagement is ongoing and at various 

stages with Site A business owners. 

Subdividing the commercial spaces is an 

option still being considered although it has 

been acknowledged that there are potential 

access and amenity issues. 

The Social Value Framework was 

developed by consultants as part of the 

Curation Report. It was intended to be 

used to inform decision making as to which 

tenants may be invited back to the new 

development. However, given the 

significant reduction in commercial 

floorspace the decision has been made not 

to offer commercial occupiers a right to 

return. However, they are able to apply for 

a unit in the new development once 

completed. 

 

P
age 163



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
96 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

Provision of new Enterprise space at 

Lisson Arches development and 

upgrade of underused public space 

through the Church Street Triangle 

Project 

 ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓      BAME business owners, young people and 

women should be able to benefit from low 

rent, start-up and pop-up enterprise space 

across being created across the ward 

including 10,000 sqm of space at the 

Lisson Arches development. The Triangle 

Project will refurbish vacant buildings and 

upgrade underutilised public space to 

create a new heart for the neighbourhood 

that will be enjoyed by residents for many 

years to come. 

Planned mitigation: Church Street 

Business Programme has been set up to 

provide support and advice to businesses. 

This includes new start-ups. 

Engagement with local businesses and key 

stakeholders to address local need and 

provision 

 

The business support programme has 

helped many individuals in the local area 

access support to help develop their 

business ideas. 

Venture 382 (a coworking/office space 

occupying first floor space on the corner of 

Edgware Rd and Church St), has been 

vacant since May 2020. This is now 

occupied by a meanwhile operator who 

has created 8 new creative studios and 

introduced a locally owned women’s 

project teaching accredited courses in 

fashion and textiles. Demand has been 

high with 200 applications for these 8 

studios. 

This provision will act as a feeder space for 

Lisson Arches Workspace and the Triangle 

Project. 

 

Business support programme has not yet 

come to fruition following construction 

delays. However, the Church Street 

Triangle Project is soon to be completed 

and business support will be offered in 

relation to this. The Church Street Triangle 

operators have started to consult with key 

stakeholders in the local area, and have 

received interest from one business at Site 

A and one at Site B. 

New employment opportunities at 

new businesses on-site. 

 ✓   ✓       The socio-economics report states that the 

proposed scheme will generate 355 jobs 

per annum (278 within Greater London, 

and 77 outside of Greater London), This 

will benefit all groups. Especially young 

people, and BAME groups. 

Planned mitigation: WCC should provide 

support and advice for jobseekers in the 

area 

Further Recommendations: WCC to work 

with existing and new employers in the 

area to provide training and job 

opportunities for young people affected by 

the regeneration. 

There is also potential for a targeted 

recruitment initiative to be set up to 

advance equality of opportunity for young 

BAME people living in the area. 

The localised WES service continues to 

provide an employment coaching service 

for the local community.  The service works 

with local partners (Job Centre/developers 

and employers) to provide job opportunities 

and training for local young people.   

The CS Neighbourhood Keeper 

Programme supports local people into local 

employment, entrepreneurship and training 

through local projects and capacity building 

training. 

The Church Street Responsible 

Procurement Plan is being compiled and 

will be the conduit to ensuring that the 

contractors adhere to the council’s 

employment policies and that residents 

and businesses are given priority over jobs 

and training opportunities. 

The WES continues to provide a service at 

Church Street under the same remit. 

The Church Street Neighbourhood Keeper 

Programme was ended in March 2023. 

 

Since 2018/19, local (Westminster) job 
/apprenticeship starts for the Church Street 
sites is as follows: 

 

Local Employment (Westminster): 55 
(total)  

Apprenticeships (Westminster): 0 (total) 

 

Breakdown by scheme: 

 

West End Gate / Berkeley Homes: 3 

Luton Street / Bouygues/: 38 

Parson’s North/ Osborne Construction: 3 

Dudley House / Willmott Dixon: 13 

 

Breakdown by Year:  

 
2018/19 (13) 

2019/20 (3) 

P
age 164



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
97 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

2020/21 (11) 

2021/22 (21) 

2022/23 (7) 

 

Improvement of the facilities and 

infrastructure for Church Street 

Market 

  ✓  ✓ ✓      Benefits should be accessible to all groups 

but especially those more likely to be from 

local income households/businesses and 

those who would benefit from accessibility 

improvements and increased facilities. 

Recommendations: Continued effective 

engagement with the local community and 

traders to ensure that appropriate facilities 

are provided on site. Potentially through 

the creation of a dedicated Market 

Facilitator role within the Retail, Markets 

and Business Team. 

Although parking has been reduced at Site 

A it is recommended that the Council seek 

to maintain overall parking and storage 

provision at the target levels across sites 

A, B and C. Prioritisation and allocation of 

parking and spaces for traders should be 

included as part of a future strategy for the 

new market. The cost of parking and 

storage hire should be assessed to ensure 

fairness and affordability to all market 

traders. 

This should allow for an increase in the 

number of storage units which should 

reduce the need for on-street parking. 

 

The initial plans were communicated to the 

market traders. The redevelopment of the 

Site B car park tackles the issue of lack of 

storage and on-street parking directly. 

 

A
d

v
e
rs

e
 

Permanent loss of shops and 

businesses providing current mix of 

culturally specific services and goods 

    x x      BAME community living in close proximity 

to the site especially those from Arabic and 

Asian communities and Muslims. 

Planned mitigation: Independent 

Business Advisor has been appointed to 

provide support and advice. 

Further Recommendations: Further 

consultation should be conducted with 

affected groups and a survey of alternative 

options to enable businesses with shared 

culturally specific goods and services to 

relocate together. 

Marketing and advertising advice to 

business so to ensure existing and new 

customers are made aware of relocations 

of businesses. 

The Council are running monthly property 

searches for Site A businesses requesting 

assistance with relocating locally. Details 

and dates of consultation and engagement 

with the businesses and market traders is 

as follows: 

- Business Forum, Sites ABC 

Consultation, 23rd March 2021 

- Market Traders, Sites ABC 

Consultation, 24th March 2021 

- Markey and Business, Pre-

Planning Stage 2 Consultation, 4 

sessions during July 2021 

- Market Traders, Relocation 

Pamphlet Distribution, 12th 

February 2022 

Commercial units on Church St are also 

being kept from going to market to provide 

options for effected businesses. 

Engagement is ongoing and at various 

stages with Site A business owners. 

 

P
age 165



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
98 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

 

Loss of shops and businesses 

providing affordable and accessible 

goods and services for existing local 

community 

 

x x x  x  x     The loss of these services could have an 

adverse effect on those with low incomes, 

children, young people, older people, 

disabled people, families including single 

parent families and those from BAME 

groups. These groups may have a stronger 

dependency on businesses providing local 

and affordable goods and services. 

 

Planned mitigation: The temporary 

relocation of the market is planned to be 

within close vicinity to the existing site 

which should minimise the impact on these 

groups. An Independent Business Advisor 

has been appointed to provide support and 

advice to local businesses. 

The Church Street regeneration team aim 

to assist current businesses to remain in 

the area or within Westminster if relocation 

is not possible.  A curation strategy for 

Church Street is being developed as part 

of the regeneration programme which will 

set out the strategy to be used when letting 

the new commercial units within the 

development. A Social Value Framework 

will be developed as part of the curation 

strategy with which current and potential 

tenants of the new units can be measured 

against. This will allow WCC to invite or 

accept business applications for 

commercial units.  

Further recommendations: Business 

advice could extend to marketing and 

advertising advice to businesses to ensure 

existing and new customers are made 

aware of relocations. 

The Council should develop and implement 

appropriate support measures for these 

residents during the market relocation 

period, for example, through dedicated 

transport services and/or home delivery 

services. 

The market will remain on Church St 

throughout the development process and 

will not be relocated elsewhere.  

Suspension of pitches will only happen on 

a Saturday as part of the public realm 

works. 

The Council are currently running monthly 

property searches for Site A businesses 

requesting assistance with relocating 

locally.  

Commercial units on Church St are also 

being kept from going to market to provide 

options for the relocation of existing 

businesses. 

In addition to the above mitigation 

measures that have been introduced, the 

council is currently considering promoting 

the relocation of businesses via their 

newsletter and social media channels to 

develop the digital skills of local 

businesses and traders so they too can 

promote to directly to their customer base.  

 

A monthly newsletter is being sent to 

approximately 6000 local residents 

informing them of the relocations of Church 

Street businesses. 

Digital skills and training offers have been 

made to market traders and businesses. 

However, uptake has been limited. 

Potential for an increase in 

commercial rents and ‘gentrification’ 

of the area 

  x  x       BAME business owners and BAME people 

and older people who currently work or 

shop in businesses on the existing. 

Further Recommendations Guarantees 

on commercial rents and market stall rates 

and leases through market trader 

agreement. 

The Curation Report is being developed. The Curation Report has been completed 

and will be used to inform WCC decision 

making (but will not be made public). It 

looks at all three sites and the future 

aspirations for development in the area – in 

particular the commercial layout, public 

P
age 166



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
99 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

space and what matters for Church Street 

moving forward. 

 

Making Connections – Construction Impacts   

A
d

v
e
rs

e
 

Safety and accessibility issues 

during construction 

x x x    x x x x  Groups who are more vulnerable to poor 

security including young people, older 

people, disabled people, ethnic minority 

groups, transgender and non-heterosexual 

people.  

Safety issues are more prevalent amongst 

those for who mobility is an issue including 

older people, disabled people, pregnant 

women and children. 

Recommendations: The construction 

management plan and Code of 

Construction should be prepared and 

followed taking into account the needs of 

those with protected characteristics.  

Key walking routes and crossing points in 

the area should be maintained or 

appropriately diverted where possible with 

appropriate security provided where 

natural surveillance has been limited. 

Awareness and education as to the 

dangers of playing on construction sites 

should be provided in local schools and 

community centres to discourage children 

from entering construction areas. 

 

The project is not yet at a stage where a 

construction management plan has been 

prepared.  A detailed construction 

management plan in will be prepared in 

conjunction with a developer partner. This 

will take in to account the recommended 

mitigations and strive to reduce the impact 

of construction as far as possible.  

The project is still not at the stage where a 

construction management plan is required, 

however, the demolition management plan 

is to be developed imminently ahead of 

works starting.  Both plans will stick to the 

code of construction and contain 

necessary chapters relating to, for 

example, noise and vibration and air 

quality issues. 

The decommissioning management plan 

will be consulted on with the local 

community so they have the opportunity to 

raise concerns. 

There will also be a dedicated Resident 

Liaison Officer from WCC as well as the 

contractor who can be contacted directly if 

residents have issues. 

Making Connections – Operational Impacts   

B
e
n

e
fi

c
ia

l 

Improvements for walking and 

cycling around the site with the 

addition of a new pedestrian 

focused, playable street.  

 

✓ ✓ ✓    ✓     All groups but especially those with 

mobility issues such as older people and 

people with disabilities. Also, for people on 

lower incomes and without access to car 

such as younger people. 

Recommendations: Effective engagement 

with local community and traders to ensure 

that appropriate infrastructure to support 

walking and cycling journeys is available 

on site. 

Inclusive design standards should be 

developed and followed for public realm 

improvements 

The development is being designed to the 

latest, highest standards, all public realm 

areas are accessible with the use of steps 

avoided wherever possible and if it cannot 

be avoided access ramps provided. 

Currently access to the market storage 

areas is provided directly off Church street, 

this will be accessible only to traders. 

Cycling and walking will be encouraged 

with a generous provision of cycle storage 

for residents and a new pedestrianised 

street within Site A. 

No update on design changes as things 

have not progressed since Planning 

Consent.  

 

Cycle storage provision has been 

established for Site A, with 827 long stay 

spaces and 23 short stay spaces. These 

provisions are in line with the London Plan 

2021 and London Cycling Design 

Standards. 

Improved parking management and 

facilities 

  ✓    ✓     All groups but especially those with 

mobility issues who may be more reliant on 

private vehicle use such as older people 

and people with disabilities 

Recommendations: Effective engagement 

with local community, traders and 

businesses to ensure that appropriate 

parking facilities are provided on site.  

Trader parking on Site A has been 

reallocated as loading/unloading for 

storage unit users to increase storage 

provision on site. 

Conversations with Parking suggest that 

any loss of parking in the surrounding area 

At Site A, 22 car parking spaces are to be 

provided. 

 

It remains unlikely that parking losses in 

the surrounding area will be able to get 

recouped elsewhere. 

P
age 167



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
100 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

will not be able to be recouped anywhere 

else. 

Public Realm work to consider retention of 

current PbP bays but this conflicts with 

WCC/Masterplan aspirations for less 

vehicles on the road. 

Population & Communities / Health & Wellbeing – Construction Impacts   

B
e
n

e
fi

c
ia

l 

Effective and detailed consultation 

and community engagement with 

affected groups to contribute to 

sharing benefits of the regeneration 

✓ ✓   ✓   ✓ ✓   All groups including those with protected 

characteristics who are traditionally 

underrepresented in terms of engagement. 

This can include children, young people 

and BAME groups as well those from the 

LGBT community. 

 

Planned mitigation: Consultation to date 

has been comprehensive and well 

documented. 

Further recommendations: Develop 

engagement strategy for engaging with 

groups affected by the regeneration 

process taking into account diversity. 

Diversity monitoring should be taken for all 

engagement activities with businesses, 

employees, residents and visitors. 

The Council will deliver and implement the 

Church St Youth Engagement Strategy 

This strategy is being compiled, aimed at 

engaging youth specifically with the 

regeneration consultation process over a 

series of workshops and other events. 

During pre-planning consultation in 2021, 

in partnership with the Young Westminster 

Foundation and the Marylebone 

Bangladesh Society, WCC established 

Church Street Youth Voice; a forum made 

up of around 20 local young people aged 

12-24. Its long-term vision is to create a 

sounding board for both design 

development and social regeneration 

initiatives across the Church Street 

programme. Church Street Youth Voice 

held a session on 15th March 2021 with 

WCC, and also did activity visits to local 

places such as Lord’s Cricket Ground and 

held a local police engagement session. 

On 15th July 2021, WCC held a 

regeneration walkabout with 16 members 

of the Church Street Youth voice. The 

objective of the walkabout was to continue 

to engage young people with the 

regeneration and to allow them to leave 

feedback during the consultation. 

Implementation of the Youth Engagement 

Strategy has begun through youth 

engagement webinars and focus groups.  

The Young Westminster Foundation and 

Marylebone Bangladesh Society engaged 

to facilitate the CS Youth Voice to ensure 

No further update. 

P
age 168



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
101 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

participation of young people in 

consultation and engagement opportunities 

across the programme. 

The Youth Voice has undertaken its first 

youth walk to understand the lived 

experience of the area for young people 

which will feed into the regeneration plans 

and help young people understand more 

about the onsite and planned projects.  

A
d

v
e
rs

e
 

Uncertainty and anxiety for existing 

residents 

 

  x  x  x     Older people, people with medical issues 

affecting mental health or who might 

require more support and assistance with 

the move, people with language barriers 

who may find it more difficult to understand 

the details of the development. 

Planned Mitigation: Relocation team offer 

comprehensive support to tenants before, 

during and following a move. 

Council will provide additional assistance 

to vulnerable residents and engage with 

third parties including family members, 

social services and health practitioners to 

identify and address any special needs 

(policy for leaseholders and tenants) 

Translation services are provided where 

necessary to help people for whom English 

is not their first language. 

Further recommendations: Potential for 

befriending/support service to provide 

support to older people during and after 

moving, to help establish new relationships 

and help to find their feet in a new 

environment. 

Relocations team, with a dedicated officers 

for households are on hand to continue 

offering support to all tenants with any 

housing issues, their moving options, their 

bidding process, their offers, their viewings, 

their moves. All removals and 

transportation is organised by the team.  

Regeneration office (99 Church Street) is 

now open every weekday, staffed with at 

least one manager, to offer full support and 

assistance to residents. 

Staff can also redirect any housing 

concerns to the Housing Service or put the 

resident in touch with the relocation team/ 

PPCR (independent residential advisory 

service) TA team or WCH to assist them.  

Five WCC officers from the relocations 

team have been available to support all 

tenanted residents during rehousing, as 

well as one WCC officer supporting the 

leaseholders. At Site A, currently 140 of 

145 have been rehoused.  

Loss of informal community hubs 

 

  x    x     The loss of local businesses such as cafes 

could potentially have an adverse impact 

on older people and people with limited 

mobility who use these as places for social 

interaction and connection. 

 

Planned mitigation: A new library on 

Church Street will provide formal 

community facilities and services. The new 

health and wellbeing hub on Lisson Grove 

also will provide additional community 

facilities and library services.  

Further recommendations: The Council 

should identify ways in which to support 

the continued operation of businesses and 

informal spaces of specific community 

importance as part of a model for social 

value. This particularly applies to 

businesses that have established 

Plans have been drawn up to ensure the 

Library retains a Church Street presence.  

The Church Street team are working with 

library staff to ascertain the best ways 

forward to limit the disturbance of the 

space and ensure the new space offered 

enables them to continue offering their 

popular services. 

The Council has also commissioned a 

Cultural Infrastructure Plan work to identify 

and map existing cultural assets, identify 

The Residents Ballot took place between 

28th November – 19th December 2022, in 

which eligible residents received the 

‘Landlord Offer’ document to inform their 

vote and which outlined the rehousing offer 

and the proposed benefits of the scheme. 

Details on Library design improvements 

were included and consulted on with 

Library staff and Friends of the Church 

Street Library – the primary change which 

was supported by stakeholders was to 

change the size of the library and 

associated outdoor space. 

 

P
age 169



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B &  C 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 Final Report 

 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
102 

 

 

 

 

Impact 

Affected Protected Characteristic Groups 

Planned and further recommended 

mitigation (June 2020) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (January 2023) 

Status of Planned and Recommended 

Mitigation (September 2023) 

Age 

S
e
x
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 -

B
A

M
E

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

R
e
lig

io
n
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
re

g
n
a
n
c
y
/ 
M

a
te

rn
it
y
 

M
a

rr
ia

g
e
/ 

C
iv

il 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

 

Overview of potential effects  

C
h
ild

re
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 

   

relationships with local people with 

protected characteristics. 

The new health and wellbeing hub and 

library should be accessible to all. 

any gaps and risks to culture as a result of 

the development proposals. 

The Council will also conduct Combined 

Regeneration and Placeshaping 

workshops to establish potential impact of 

design proposal and establish a set of 

strategic design principals that respect the 

cultural wealth potential of the ward. 

The Council’s Cultural Infrastructure 

Strategy for Sites A, B and C was 

completed in October 2021 and helps to 

inform decision making to maximise use of 

infrastructure and continue to engage 

communities. 

 Environmental impacts of 

construction works on health and 

well-being of residents 

  x    x     All groups, especially older people, 

disabled people, people with long-term 

limiting illnesses and pregnant women or 

those caring for small children would be 

affected. 

 

 

A construction management plan and a 

code of construction will be implemented 

taking into account the needs of those with 

protected characteristics.  

The project is still not at the stage where a 

construction management plan is required, 

however, the demolition management plan 

is to be developed imminently ahead of 

works starting. Both plans will adhere to 

the code of construction and contain 

necessary chapters relating to, for 

example, noise and vibration and air 

quality issues. 

The decommissioning management plan 

will be consulted on with the local 

community so they have the opportunity to 

raise concerns. 

There will also be a dedicated Resident 

Liaison Officer from WCC as well as the 

contractor who can be contacted directly if 

residents have issues. 

Population & Communities / Health & Wellbeing – Operational Impacts   

B
e
n

e
fi

c
ia

l 

Increase in high quality public open 

space  

 

✓ ✓ ✓    ✓     Disabled people, older people, women and 

other groups in terms of accessibility, 

health, wellbeing and safety benefits. 

Recommendations: Ensure that public 

realm plans are accessible to the wider 

community and that effective engagement 

is undertaken to identify needs. 

Inclusive design standards (including 

inclusive play) should be developed and 

followed for public realm improvements 

The development is being designed to the 

latest, highest standards, all public realm 

areas are accessible with the use of steps 

avoided wherever possible and if it cannot 

be avoided access ramps provided. There 

is public space provided in the form of New 

Street Gardens, a pedestrianised street 

through the middle of Site A. This provides 

a variety of play space and amenity space 

adopting inclusive design standards. 

Designs have not progressed further. 

However, the latest public realm standards 

pertaining to factors such as inclusivity will 

be followed. 

The Church Street Triangle development 

included dedicated public realm 

improvements that facilitated local 

residents being able to informally 

congregate in and socialise. 

P
age 170



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 

DRAFT Westminster City 
Council 

   
 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
103 

 

10. Recommendations and conclusions 

10.1 Recommendations 

The key issues identified through this EqIA of the Church Street Estate Regeneration – Sites A, B and C for 

different groups with protected characteristics are summarised alongside provisional high-level recommendations 

in Table 9-2.  

This identifies priority groups for which there are differential or disproportionate impacts as a result of the 

regeneration including older people, younger people, children, BAME people and people with disabilities. 

Furthermore, there are groups affected by the regeneration proposals with multiple protected characteristics for 

which the cumulative impacts of the regeneration proposal could have an exacerbated effect. The following 

paragraphs describe these priority groups and provide suggested recommendations and actions for enhancing 

the benefits of the regeneration and minimising adverse effects. 

10.1.1 Priority groups 

10.1.2 Older residents  

Population figures from the Office for National Statistics show that 12.5% of people living in the Church Street 

ward are aged 65 or over, higher than the borough and London rate. Population projections estimate that this will 

increase by 70% by 2040. Church Street is also in the top 5% most deprived areas nationally for income affecting 

older people. The Housing Needs Assessment shows that almost half of all tenanted households are home to a 

resident aged 65 or over and 10% are home to a resident aged 85 or over. In addition, 32% of leaseholders are 

aged 65 or over all of whom leaseholders have owned the lease for 15 years or longer. The issues affecting older 

people are varied and include: 

• Anxiety and concerns over uncertainty and less willingness to move from the estate; 

• A reliance on informal and formal social, care and health support networks in the area; 

• Low income; 

• Medical issues and disabilities; and 

• Language barriers. 

Older people (including pensioners and elderly) are more likely to require one to one support to help them 

through the process. Those older people who are leaseholders may have concerns about their ability to buy in 

the local area and those who are social housing tenants will need to be supported prior, during and after the 

move.  Both the Policy for Tenants in Housing Renewal Areas and the Policy for Leaseholders in Housing 

Renewal Areas set out options for remaining or returning to the area as well as moving out of the area. They also 

state that the Council will provide additional assistance to vulnerable residents and will engage with third parties 

including family members, social services and health practitioners to identify and address any special needs. 

The relocation team at Westminster Council already provide one to one engagement at all stage of the relocation 

process and has carried out housing needs assessment for every secure tenant and have identified any 

language issues. Furthermore, every address in Site A has been visited and to date, 140 of the 145 tenants have 

successfully moved. Additionally, the Relocations team has also arranged actual services for tenants when 

moving to minimise resident disruption- including support with rents, utilities, mail redirection, and disposals.  

They have also been working to identify specific support needs for residents including 

Data from the HNA survey shows that the majority of older people have lived in the Church Street area for a long 

period of time and manage to get out of their homes because they are familiar with their current environment. A 

new environment could seriously challenge this without adequate support. Vulnerable older people who are 

moved to temporary or permanent new locations will need to be supported to find routes to local services and 

replacement services (e.g. medicine deliveries) in their new location, especially those with limited mobility. 

Furthermore, during the relocation of the market to its new temporary location some older people may need 

support in accessing the goods and services the market provides.  The Council should continue to identify ways 

Page 171



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 

DRAFT Westminster City 
Council 

   
 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
104 

 

in which to support the continued operation of businesses and informal spaces of specific community importance 

for older people as part of a model for social value.  

Older people visiting the area during the construction phase will need supporting through this time in terms of 

diversions, access to goods and facilities and safety and security. Clear information in different languages and 

through one-to-one engagement would help to convey important messages about safety. 

A walking audit could be taken by the Council with local residents to understand travel patterns and important 

routes and destinations so that diversions can be planned accordingly. 

 

Households with children  

The area has a high rate of 0–15-year-olds compared with this is set to increase over the next 20 years whereas 

the rates for Westminster and London are set to decline. The area has high levels of child poverty and is located 

within the top 10% most deprived areas in terms of income affecting children. The impacts of this deprivation 

could increase when combined with other factors such as language barriers, single parent households, lack of 

informal and formal support networks and poor living conditions. 

The relocation of families should focus on keeping children close to their schools or care networks where 

possible. Losing informal, free and reliable care networks can result a particularly adverse impact on low-income 

households especially single parent households who have no alternative option. If this is not possible, then 

families should be provided with assistance and support in their new accommodation to settle in to the area and 

find alternative care assistance whilst also avoiding disruption to education for children. Families are currently 

living in overcrowded accommodation in Church Street and as such priority is being given to ensuring these 

families are provided with more suitable accommodation where possible.  

10.1.3 Young people 

The area currently has high unemployment levels and income deprivation as well as high levels of anti-social 

behaviour and crime deprivation all of which have a high adverse impact on young people living in the area. In 

addition, employment figures show a disparity in employment rates for young people across different ethnic 

groups, with those from BAME groups experiencing lower rates of employment. 

The regeneration of Church Street will provide employment opportunities both during construction and though 

increased retail jobs. These opportunities offer potential for young people to become employed locally and benefit 

from the scheme. 

The localised Westminster Employment Service (WES) provides an employment coaching service for the local 

community. The service works with local partners (Job Centre/developers and employers) to provide job 

opportunities and training for local young people. Similarly, the CS Neighbourhood Keeper Programme also plays 

an active role and supports local people into local employment, entrepreneurship and training through local 

projects and capacity building training. 

There is also an opportunity to work with new businesses coming into the area to establish training schemes and 

employment commitments for local people. Positive action should be taken to advance equality of opportunity by 

targeting young people from BAME groups through specific recruitment drives and initiatives. 

In terms of youth engagement specifically, a strategy is currently being drafted, and will engage youth specifically 

with the regeneration consultation process over a series of workshops and other events. The implementation of 

the Youth Engagement Strategy has begun through youth engagement webinars and focus groups.  The Young 

Westminster Foundation and Marylebone Bangladesh Society engaged to facilitate the CS Youth Voice to ensure 

participation of young people in consultation and engagement opportunities across the programme. Additionally, 

the Youth Voice has undertaken its first youth walk to understand the lived experience of the area for young 

people which will feed into the regeneration plans and help young people understand more about the onsite and 

planned projects.  

An Employment, Skills and Education Strategy could be developed setting out targets and monitoring plans to 

demonstrate how the scheme will realise benefits for employment in the area and how different stakeholders 

(including private organisations commissioned to work on the regeneration) will contribute and be held to 

account. This can be open to all people living within the Church Street area. 

Page 172



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 

DRAFT Westminster City 
Council 

   
 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
105 

 

10.1.4 Church Street Market Stall holders and customers 

The temporary relocation and regeneration of the Church Street can provide a combination of beneficial and 

adverse effects for market stall holders and customers. The adverse impacts are likely to have a greater effect on 

market stall holders with low income and customers who rely on the market for affordable food and other goods. 

A market relocation strategy can help to identify suitable and sufficient mechanisms of support to ensure that the 

transition from the current premises to the new temporary location is successful for the Church Street Market 

stallholders and customers. This should consider accessibility, costs, impact of disruption other barriers on the 

ability to trade and shop at the market. 

10.1.5 BAME business owners and employees  

The Council should also continue to identify what additional or differing forms of support should be offered to 

businesses or employees affected by the regeneration proposals. The business engagement officer should 

continue to signpost market traders as well as all existing and affected business owners and employees to 

relevant business support and/or training providers to increase their capabilities to effectively respond to the 

changes brought upon them by the regeneration of the area.   

The Church Street Business Support and Programme has been set by the Council to engage with businesses 

and assist them through the regeneration process which will assist in mitigating against some of the adverse 

impacts for businesses. The Church Street regeneration team is currently developing a curation strategy for 

Church Street which will set out the strategy to be used by WCC Corporate Property team when letting the new 

commercial units within the development. The Strategy will also include a Social Value Framework with which 

current and potential tenants of the new units can be measured against. This will allow the Council to invite or 

accept business applications for commercial units. However, the strategy should clearly set out its prioritisation 

policy with provision for businesses currently located at the existing site. The strategy should also seek to provide 

information on alternative locations or signpost to relevant information for businesses who cannot relocate on 

Church Street. 

BAME jobseekers will be able to share in direct and indirect newly created employment opportunities but should 

be supported to ensure that they aware of job opportunities in the area. A local employment and procurement 

policy alongside an Employment, Skills and Education Strategy (see above) would help to ensure that 

recruitment involving contractors during the construction stage and businesses at the operation stage is inclusive 

and that opportunities are available to all groups with protected characteristics. 

Marketing support and advice provided by the Council can help businesses to inform customers of any relocation 

of the Church Street market infrastructure and other affected businesses. This should also help to reduce 

negative effects on the community due the loss of shops and businesses providing culturally specific goods and 

services. 

Effective consultation and engagement with affected businesses is important for community cohesion, as well as 

ensuring that important cultural and social links within the area are not lost and that that all groups with protected 

characteristics can benefit from the regeneration. Further consultation should be conducted with affected groups 

and a survey of alternative options for businesses within the surrounding Church Street area should be 

undertaken. 

 A clear and on-going business engagement strategy should be developed to take into account the diversity of 

the area and monitoring of equality effects should be undertaken on a regular basis. 

10.1.6 Procurement of developer 

Church Street regeneration programme will require the procurement of a developer to deliver the regeneration. 

The PSED will apply to the procurement process because it is a non-delegable duty and procurement is a 

"function" of the Council. Therefore, in circumstances where the Council chooses to "contract out" part or all of a 

function (for example the delivery of regeneration) to another entity (for example a developer), the Council cannot 

absolve itself from its responsibility to fulfil the PSED. 

The Council should ensure that compliance with PSED is factored in throughout the procurement process, and is 

considered in future procurements, including procurements of delivery partners.  

Page 173



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 

DRAFT Westminster City 
Council 

   
 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
106 

 

Guidance on embedding the PSED into the procurement process from the Equality and Human Rights 

Commission74 states will be that the Council will be able to factor in a potential development partner's ability to 

fulfil contractual obligations related to the PSED in its evaluation of tenders and has the right not to award the 

Contract to a developer submitting the most economically advantageous tender where the Council has 

established that the tender would not comply with current obligations in environmental, social or employment law. 

10.2 Conclusions and next steps 

The regeneration of Church Street will contribute to the improvements and regeneration of the area through a net 

increase in housing, new employment opportunities associated with the construction and the completed 

development, new leisure, and shopping facilities as well as the additional expenditure in the area. This EqIA 

assessment has identified potential beneficial equality effects of the proposed development as follows:  

• A net increase of 629 residential properties on-site.75 This includes social housing, family housing, 

wheelchair accessible housing and affordable housing. The net increase in housing should benefit people 

with priority for affordable housing, both social and intermediate, who are more likely to have protected 

characteristics (particularly for social housing).  It should be noted that affordability barriers may make it 

harder for certain groups, including low-income BAME households, children living in low income and 

overcrowded households and (mainly female-headed) single parent households, from sharing in this 

benefit. The Council should aim to meet affordable housing, social housing, and shared ownership targets 

of the development; 

• Additional expenditure in the area through an increase in customers attracted by an improved market, retail 

provision, accessibility, and public realm; 

• Employment creation in construction, as well as retail and service jobs on the completed site. Businesses 

workspace in the Lisson Grove Arches development will create further employment and business 

opportunities;  

• A new location for Church Street library within Site A with an improved, flexible, and more efficient use of 

space to deliver services for the local community; and 

• An increase in open public space, play space and community facilities providing benefits in terms of safety, 

accessibility, and connectivity. People sharing equality protected characteristics are likely to be able to share 

in these benefits. 

However, the assessment also shows that there are potential adverse effects including: 

• Temporary or permanent relocation of existing social housing residents; 

• Loss of private rental accommodation on-site affecting BAME tenants in particular; 

• Temporary relocation of the Church Street Market Infrastructure; 

• Loss of informal and formal community facilities and support networks; 

• Loss of BAME owned businesses on-site, affecting a particularly significant proportion of Arabic businesses; 

• A loss of shops and services providing the current mix of culturally specific services and goods as well as 

potential loss of businesses providing affordable and accessible goods and services; 

• Temporary or permanent loss of employment following closure or relocation of affected businesses, 

particularly amongst BAME employees; 

• Anxiety and stress caused by uncertainty around development plans and relocation. 

The planned mitigation set out in Table 9-2 and the further recommendations set out for priority groups aim to 

strengthen, secure or enhance positive beneficial impacts and to mitigate for potential adverse equality impacts 

associated with the regeneration of Church Street. By following these recommendations and continuing to 

develop and implement appropriate mitigation measures, strategies and policies going forward, the Council will 

be paying due regard to the PSED. 

 

 
74 Equality and Human Rights Commission (2013) Buying Better Outcomes: Mainstreaming equality considerations in 
procurement - A guide for public authorities in England 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/buying_better_outcomes_final.pdf 
75 Based on existing properties on site being 492 and the planning application proposals delivering up to 1121 properties, the 
proposed scheme would deliver a net increase of 629 residential homes. 

Page 174

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/buying_better_outcomes_final.pdf


Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 

DRAFT Westminster City 
Council 

   
 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
107 

 

It is important that the Council continues to pay due regard to the PSED when contracting out the delivery of the 

regeneration to a developer. Therefore, the Council should ensure that the importance of the PSED and the need 

to follow and enhance the recommendations set out in the EqIA are embedded within the procurement process. 

The appointed developer should demonstrate how they will incorporate the EqIA into the delivery of the 

regeneration and provide commitments to mitigation and enhancing benefits through the Section 106 agreement 

and other funding mechanisms. 

 

This EqIA should be considered as a live document, and should be updated, refreshed and the actions within it 

monitored on a regular basis at further milestones. This should include a monitoring update on the status of 

identified potential impacts and associated mitigation. Whilst the EqIA identifies short-term and medium-term 

impacts of the regeneration proposals it will also be important to capture any additional impacts including any 

identified long-term impacts as the programme progresses. EqIA updates should be undertaken (but not limited 

to) the following milestones: 

• Following the appointment of a developer - to provide more detail around mitigation measures and assign 

responsibilities. This is to include mitigation measures into Section 106 and other funding mechanisms; 

• Once the planning application has been approved and prior to the application for CPO powers from 

Secretary of State should this be required; 

• Prior to construction - to include mitigation for construction impacts following more detailed design and 

monitoring of impacts of relocation.  

• During construction - to respond to newly identified impacts resulting from construction works; and 

• After completion of the project to monitor long-term impacts. 

 

  

Page 175



Church Street Estate Regeneration -  Sites A, B 
&  C 

DRAFT Westminster City 
Council 

   
 

 
Prepared for:  Westminster City Council   
 

AECOM 
108 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

aecom.com   

  

Page 176



Document is Restricted

Page 177

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Church Street Site A – Appointment of Joint Venture Development Partner
	EXEMPT Appendix 1 - Financial Implications
	EXEMPT Appendix 2 - Key Legal Risks and Mitigations
	EXEMPT Appendix 3 - Legal Summary
	Appendix 4 - EQIA
	EXEMPT Appendix 5 - Key Parameters
	EXEMPT Appendix 6 - CGRB Gate 3 Report Church Street Site A Joint Venture


